

Immunoregulatory properties of *Helicobacter pylori* derived molecules

Ekene N Ogbodo

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

January 2020

Declaration

Unless otherwise acknowledged the work presented in this thesis is my own; no part has been submitted for another degree at the University of Nottingham or any other institute of learning.

Ekene Ogbodo

Dedication

This work is dedicated to Almighty God, whom His mercy had brought this far and to the blessed memory of my dad, John Ogbodo whom until his death had been my support system and to my Mum Florence Edna Ogbodo a woman of grace.

Abstract

Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) is a micro-aerophilic, spiral-shaped Gramnegative bacterium which colonises the human stomach of approximately 50% of the population worldwide (1). The infection is asymptomatic in the vast majority of cases, however, about 10-15% result in peptic ulcer disease and 1-2% result in gastric adenocarcinoma. H. pylori prevalence in developed countries is decreasing as the incidence of asthma and allergy is increasing. *H. pylori* infections are usually established in early childhood when the immune system is developing and at a common age for asthma onset. The infection induces cellular immune responses of types known to inhibit those that drive allergy. Previously, we showed that H. pylori secreted component stimulated CD4⁺CD25^{hi} regulatory T cells (Tregs) expressing the anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-10 (IL-10) more strongly than whole cell lysate. SDS-PAGE was used to resolve the *H. pylori* and a whole-cell lysate to determine which proteins from the supernatant were enriched and Mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF) was used to identify the major proteins by peptide mass fingerprinting (PMF). From the result of the MALDI-TOF, vacuolating cytotoxin A (VacA) catalase (KatA), y- Glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT) and Peptidyl prolyl cistrans isomerases (PPT) were selected based on the few pieces of evidence of their immunoregulatory abilities, their solubility and potential to be cloned and purified in the past.

The main aim of this study is to investigate candidate *H. pylori* protein factors that are involved in the induction of the immunoregulatory response and how these effects could be utilised in the treatment of allergy and autoimmune response. Four *H. pylori* candidate proteins (VacA, KatA, GGT and PPT), previously selected on the basis of their immunoregulatory potential, were used in *in vitro, in vivo* or *ex vivo* investigations.

Three of these candidate proteins factors, KatA, GGT and PPT were first investigated in vivo. To do this the genes for each H. pylori candidate protein were cloned and expressed in ClearColi[®] BL21(DE3) E. coli to minimise effects from LPS. The proteins were purified and characterised. LPS content in the recombinant proteins was assayed, using an E-TOXATE assay, and shown to be <0.1 EU/ml. Jurkat T-cells, THP-1 monocytic cells and AGS epithelial were incubated for 1 hour with 10, 25 and 50 μ g/ml of the recombinant proteins, prior to activation with PMA/Ionomycin, LPS or TNF-. After 24 hours of treatment IL-2 (Jurkat cells), IL-6 (THP-1) and IL-8 concentrations were quantified by ELISA. All three proteins induced a dose-dependent reduction in cytokine production, compared to controls treated only with PMA/Ionomycin, LPS or TNF-. KatA most strongly suppressed IL-2 secretion by Jurkat cells (79.5% reduction with 50 µg/ml, p<0.05), whereas GGT was most effective in suppressing IL-6 from THP-1 cells (68.07% reduction with 50 µg/ml, p<0.05), there were no changes in the IL-8 production in AGS. There was no accompanying decrease in cell viability.

Likewise, VacA was investigated in vivo and ex vivo to compare the Treg response induced in vivo, by H. pylori mutants expressing different forms of VacA. Groups of 18 female C57BL/6 mice were infected orally with isogenic H. pylori SS1 mutants expressing the s1/i1 or s2/i2 form of VacA. A control group received plain Brucella broth as a placebo. Mice were killed at 3-, 6- and 9-weeks post-infection and their infection status confirmed. Spleen cells were isolated, stimulated with mitogens for 6 hours and stained with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies. Treg populations were quantified by flow cytometry. Treg cells were purified and assayed for suppressive functional activity in vitro. Mitogen stimulation resulted in significantly increased frequencies of IL-10⁺ Tregs at all time-points and all groups (p<0.001). No statistically significant differences were found in frequencies of IL-10⁺ Tregs between the groups. There were also no differences in the functional suppressive activity of purified Tregs. Despite previously finding markedly increased Treg populations in peripheral blood from infected patients, we were unable to find increased Treg numbers in the spleen of infected mice. It is recommended that further investigation frequencies of Tregs in the gastric mucosa of the mice should be studied.

H. pylori infection exerts immunomodulation, through the Treg induction notwithstanding some of the protein factors such as GGT and KatA also have a direct immune regulatory effect on the immune and could be harnessed for the development of anti-inflammatory therapy.

Acknowledgement

My supervisors, Dr Karen Robsinson and Professor John Atherton for their proper guidance and support.

All the members of the *Helicobacter* research group.

Presentations

Oral presentations

Ogbodo, E., Kaneko, K., Reddiar. D. and Robinson, K.

Immunoregulatory properties of helicobacter pylori infection in vivo

School of Medicine Sue Watson Oral Presentation Event, November 2017

Ogbodo, E., Kaneko, K., Reddiar. D. and Robinson, K

In vivo investigation of immunoregulatory properties of Helicobacter pylori infection

13th International Workshop on Pathogenesis and Host Response in Helicobacter Infections, Helsingør, Denmark, 2018.

Poster presentations

Ogbodo, E., Kaneko, K., Reddiar. D. and Robinson, K.

Immunoregulatory properties of helicobacter pylori infection in vivo

Microbiology society annual conference, 2018

<u>Ogbodo E</u>, Rhead J, Letley D, Kaneko K, Winter J and Robinson K

Immunoregulatory properties of *Helicobacter pylori* Molecules

Microbiology Society Annual Conference, 2019.

List of Abbreviation Used

APC	Antigen Presenting Cell
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection identification number
B cells	B lymphocytes
BabA	Blood group Antigen-Binding antigen A
BFA	Brefeldin A
Вр	Base pairs
CagA	Cytotoxin-associated Antigen A
CagPAI	Cytotoxin-associated Antigen Pathogenicity Island
CASP1	caspase-1
CCL-	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CO ₂	Carbon Dioxide
DC	Dendritic Cell
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DupA	Duodenal ulcer promoting A
ECD	Ectodomain
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid x

ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immuno-Sorbent Assay
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinases
FACS	Fluorescent and cell sorting
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FCS	Fetal Calf Serum
FOXP3	Forkhead box P3
GERD	Gastroesophageal reflux disease
GGT	Gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase
HRP	Horse Radish Peroxidase
IFN-γ	Interferon gamma
lg	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
IMAC	Immobilised metal affinity chromatography
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
IPTG	Isopropyl β- d-1-thiogalactopyranoside
iTregs	Inducible regulatory T cells
ITP	Idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura

KatA	Catalase
Kb	Kilobase
kDa	Kilo Daltons
Le ^b	Lewis blood group B
LB	Luria Bertani
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MALT	Mucosa-Associated Lymphoid Tissue lymphoma
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MI	Millilitres
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MSK1	Mitogen- and stress-activated kinase 1
NFAT	Nuclear factor of activated T cells
NF- κB	Nuclear factor kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells
NLRP3	NLR Family Pyrin Domain Containing 3
NO	Nitric oxide
NOD1	Nucleotide- bindin oligomerization domain 1

Ns	Not significant
NSAID	Non-steroidal anti- anti-inflammatory drugs
nTreg	Natural Regulatory T cell
OipA	Outer Inflammatory Protein A
OD	Optical density
Р13К	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PAMP	Pathogen Associated Molecular Pattern
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
РВМС	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PMA	Phorbol Myristate Acetate
PMN	Polymorphonuclear leukocytes
PPI	Proton Pump Inhibitor
РРТ	Pathogen recognition receptor
PRR	Pattern Recognition Receptor
PUD	Peptic Ulcer Disease
PZ	Plasticity Zone

ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
SabA	sialic acid-binding adhesion
SE	Size exclusion
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SS1	Sydney strain 1
T4SS	Type 4 secretion system
TCR	T cell receptor
Тс	Cytotoxic T cells (CD8+)
Tfh	T follicular helper
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
Th	T helper cells (CD4+)
TLR	Toll like receptor
TNF-α	Tumour Necrosis Factor alpha
ТРМ	Tyrosine phosphorylation motifs

Tregs	Regulatory T cells
Tresp	Responder T cell
VacA	Vacuolating Cytotoxin A
UreA	Urease subunit alpha
UreB	Urease subunit beta

Table of Contents

Dedicationiii
Abstractiv
Acknowledgement vii
Presentations viii
List of Abbreviation Usedx
Table of Contents xvi
Table of Figure xxi
Chapter 11
1.1 General background2
1.1.1 <i>H. pylori</i> and humans: An interesting relationship
1.1.2 Peptic Ulcer Disease5
1.1.3 Gastric Cancer7
1.1.4 Other diseases associated with <i>H. pylori</i> 8
1.1.5 <i>H. pylori</i> absence: The consequences9
1.1.6 Factors influencing the development of <i>H. pylori</i> diseases13
Chapter 246
2.1 Introduction47
2.1.1 Immunomodulatory properties of <i>H. pylori</i> molecules47
2.1.2 Catalase
2.1.3 γ-glutamyltranspeptidase (GGT)53
2.1.4 Peptidyl prolyl cis-trans isomerase55

2.2 Hypothesis	59
2.3 Materials and Methods	61
2.3.1 Preparation of the Recombinant Proteins	61
2.3.2 Jurkat T Cell Suppression Assays	72
2.3.3 THP-1 Cell Suppression Assays	72
2.3.4 AGS Cell Suppression Assays	73
2.3.5 Cytokine ELISA Assays	74
2.3.6 Statistical analysis	74
2.4 Results	75
2.4.1 Expression and purification of rKatA, rGGT and rPPT	75
2.4.2 Western Blot analysis of Size exclusion chromatography purified re	combinant
proteins	88
2.4.3 Catalase Assay	89
2.4.4 Investigation of the role of KatA, PPT and GGT in Immunomodulation	92
2.5 Discussion	99
2.5.1 Recombinant proteins expression and purification	99
2.5.2 Investigation of the mechanism through which KatA, GGT and PPT co	ntribute to
immune regulation	.102
2.6 Conclusion	108
Chapter 3	110
3.1 Introduction	111
3.2 Hypothesis	113
3.3 Materials and Methods	115
3.3.1 Study team and organisation	.115
3.3.2 Infection of mice with <i>H. pylori</i>	.115

3.3.3 Splenocyte preparation116
3.3.4 Quantifying Tregs amongst splenocytes116
3.3.5 Cell staining and flow cytometry117
3.3.6 T cell isolation120
3.3.7 Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) labelling of Tresp cells121
3.3.8 Treg functional suppression assay121
3.3.9 Gating strategy122
3.3.10 Statistical analysis122
3.4 Results123
3.4.1 Effect of <i>H. pylori</i> VacA mutant SS1 ^{s1i1} and VacA wild-type SS1 ^{s2i2} strains on Gastric
colonisation123
3.4.2 Comparison of the IL-10-secreting T cell and Treg response to H. pylori infection
in mice, and the impact of the vacA type124
3.4.3 Investigation of whether <i>H. pylori</i> infection influences the functional suppressive
activity of regulatory T cells138
3.5 Discussion145
3.5.1 Future work
3.5.2 Conclusion
Chapter 4 151
4.1 Introduction152
4.1.1 Anti-cytotoxin-associated gene A (CagA) antibodies153
4.1.2 Anti-vacuolating cytotoxin A (VacA) antibodies154
4.1.3 Catalase (KatA)155
4.1.4 γ-Glutamyltranspepetidase (GGT) antibodies156
4.1.5 Peptidyl prolyl cis trans isomerase (PPT) antibodies157
4.1.6 <i>H. pylori</i> 60190 and <i>H. pylori</i> Tx30a158
4.2 Hypothesis161 xviii

4.3 Materials and Methods163
4.3.1 Biological samples collection163
4.3.2 Bacterial lysate preparation164
4.3.3 Protein Sample preparation165
4.3.4 Spotting of slide surface- contact printing165
4.3.5 Array processing167
4.3.6 Fluorescence scanning
4.3.7 Data Analysis168
4.4 HBJM Results169
4.4.1 Influence of slide surface on the protein array169
4.4.2 Spotting of the proteins, CagA, VacA, KatA, GGT and PPT and H. pylori 60190 and
Tx30a lysates
4.4.3 Analysis of serum antibodies against <i>H. pylori</i> 60190 and Tx30a lysates in <i>H.</i>
pylori-positive and H. pylori-negative patients
4.4.4 Evolution of common antihodics accient (1, mulari melacular, Cont. Mark, CCT.
4.4.4 Evaluation of serum antibodies against <i>H. pylon</i> molecules, CagA, VaCA, GGT,
KatA and PPT
 4.4.4 Evaluation of serum antibodies against <i>H. pylon</i> molecules, CagA, VaCA, GGT, KatA and PPT
4.4.4 Evaluation of serum antibodies against <i>H. pylon</i> molecules, CagA, VaCA, GGT, KatA and PPT
4.4.4 Evaluation of serum antibodies against <i>H. pylon</i> molecules, CagA, VaCA, GGT, KatA and PPT
 4.4.4 Evaluation of serum antibodies against <i>H. pylon</i> molecules, CagA, VaCA, GGT, KatA and PPT
 4.4.4 Evaluation of serum antibodies against <i>H. pylon</i> molecules, CagA, VaCA, GGT, KatA and PPT
 4.4.4 Evaluation of serum antibodies against <i>H. pylon</i> molecules, CagA, VaCA, GGT, KatA and PPT
4.4.4 Evaluation of serum antibodies against H. pylon molecules, CagA, VaCA, GGT, KatA and PPT 4.4.5 Correlations among Tx30a Hp+, 60190 Hp+, PPT Hp+, VacA Hp+, KatA Hp+, CagA Hp+, GGT Hp 180 4.4.6 Association between disease condition Cag and VacA type 182 4.5 Discussion 184 4.5.1 Influence of amino silane and epoxy silane coated slide glass slide surface on the protein array 184 Chapter 5
4.4.4 Evaluation of serum antibodies against <i>H. pylon</i> molecules, CagA, VaCA, GG1, KatA and PPT 4.4.5 Correlations among Tx30a Hp+, 60190 Hp+, PPT Hp+, VacA Hp+, KatA Hp+, CagA Hp+, GGT Hp 4.4.6 Association between disease condition Cag and VacA type 180 4.5 Discussion 184 4.5.1 Influence of amino silane and epoxy silane coated slide glass slide surface on the protein array 184 Chapter 5 5.1 Introduction 188
4.4.4 Evaluation of serum antibodies against <i>H. pyton</i> molecules, CagA, VaCA, GG1, KatA and PPT. 176 4.4.5 Correlations among Tx30a Hp+, 60190 Hp+, PPT Hp+, VacA Hp+, KatA Hp+, CagA Hp+, GGT Hp 180 4.4.6 Association between disease condition Cag and VacA type 182 4.5 Discussion 184 4.5.1 Influence of amino silane and epoxy silane coated slide glass slide surface on the protein array 184 Chapter 5 187 5.1 Introduction 188 5.2 Hypothesis 191

5.3.1 Conservation of Helicobacter pylori Catalase among other Helicobacter spe	cies
5.4 Result199	
5.5 Discussion216	
5.5.1 Bioinformatic analysis216	
5.5.2 Investigation cross-reactivities of the anti-KatA antibody with catalase fi	rom
different organisms219	
Chapter 6 221	
6.1 Final Discussion221	
6.2 Important and Novel222	
6.3 Future work229	
Reference: 231	
Appendix	

Table of Figure

Figure 1.1 An injury in the stomach is known as a gastric ulcer while the development of an injury
in the intestine is known as a duodenal ulcer6
Figure 1.2 A graphical representation of the biphasic model relationship between H. pylori
infection and human diseases13
Figure 1.3 CagA phosphorylation motifs and cellular morphogenic alterations induced by
intracellular CagA15
Figure 1.4 The proposed model multimeric structure of VacA showing the p33 and p55 subunits
Figure 1.5 Schematic representation of the possible combinations of different varieties of VacA: s -
signal region, i - intermediate region, and m - middle region
Figure 1.6 Toll-like receptors and pathogen recognition
Figure 1.7 Schematic demonstrating how dendritic cells may bridge the innate and adaptive
immune response directed against <i>H. pylori</i> within the gastric mucosa
Figure 1.8. Role of Treg and H. pylori infection. H. pylori-induced gastritis is characterized by a
predominant Th1/Th17 response that is regulated by Treg cells
Figure 1.9 Catalase catalyses the breakdown of harmful H2O2 formed during inflammation to
harmless H ₂ O and O ₂ 40
Figure 2.1 IL10 ⁺ producing CD4 ⁺ CD25 ^{hi} cell frequencies in the PBMCs stimulated with the secreted
component, whole-cell lysate, and culture medium.
Figure 2.2 The SDS-PAGE analysis of the protein constituents of <i>H. pylori</i> SS1 whole cell lysate and
its culture supernatant 51
Figure 2.3 Gel nitrocellulose assembly for electrophoretic transfer cells
Figure 2.4 Confirmation of the transformation of Clearcoli competent cells with the recombinant
plasmids
Figure 2.5 A typical SDS-PAGE showing the expression of the recombinant proteins rKatA, rPPT and
rGGT
Figure 2.6 A typical SDS-PAGE analysis from the purification of rKatA, rPPT and rGGT
Figure 2.7 Standard calibration for size exclusion columns with peaks

Figure 2.8 A typical size exclusion (SE)/gel filtration chromatogram/ trace for rPPT purification
Figure 2.9 A typical size exclusion (SE)/gel filtration chromatogram/ trace for rKatA purification
Figure 2.10. A typical size exclusion (SE)/gel filtration chromatogram/ trace for rGGT purification
Figure 2.11 His tag Immunoblot confirmation of purified of rKatA, rPPT and rGGT
Figure 2.12 Qualitative Catalase biochemical test. The rKatA purified was placed on a glass slide (5
μ L) with 5 μ L of rGGT on another slide as control, 5 μ L of 3 % H ₂ O ₂ was added to each of the
slides and prompt effervescence indicates presence and activity of the catalase. A. Contain
the purified rGGT and produce no effervescence. B. Contain the rKatA and shows the
presence of effervescence
Figure 2.13 Effects of purified KatA, GGT and PPT on IL-2 secretion by Jurkat T cells
Figure 2.14 Effects of purified KatA, GGT and PPT on IL-6 secretion by THP-1 cells
Figure 2.15 Effects of purified KatA, GGT and PPT on IL-6 secretion by AGS cells
Figure 3.1 Colonisation density in the stomach of mice infected with two strains of <i>H. pylori</i>
expressing different VacA type124
Figure 3.2 Representative flow cytometry plots depicting the gating strategy for quantification of
regulatory T cells amongst stimulated (A) and unstimulated (B) spleen cells
Figure 3.3. CD4+ CD25hi cell frequency in the spleen of groups of 3 mice treated with H. pylori or
plain Brucella broth as placebo129
Figure 3.4. CD4+ Foxp3+ cell frequency in the spleen of groups of 3 mice treated with H. pylori or
plain Brucella broth as a placebo131
Figure 3.5. CD4+ IL-10+ cell frequency in the spleen of groups of 3 mice treated with <i>H. pylori</i> or
plain Brucella broth as placebo133
Figure 3.6. CD4+ CD25hi Foxp3+ cell frequency in the spleen of groups of 3 mice treated with H.
pylori and plain Brucella broth as placebo135
Figure 3.7. CD4+ CD25hi IL-10+ cell frequency in the spleen of groups of 3 mice treated with H.
pylori and plain Brucella broth as placebo137

Figure 3.8. The Representative flow cytometry plot gating strategies for Treg suppression assay.140
Figure 3.9. Group of six mice were infected with the SS1 strain of <i>H. pylori</i> in Brucella broth or
administered plain broth as a placebo142
Figure 3.10. Group of six mice were infected with the SS1 strain of <i>H. pylori</i> in Brucella broth or
administered plain broth as a placebo144
Figure 4.1. The design of the protein array
Figure 4.2. Evaluation of suitability of aminosilane and epoxysilane surface coatingsfor the slide for
the protein microarrays 170
Figure 4.3 Representative fluorescence image obtained from the protein array spotted with 100
μ g/ml antigens, incubated with serum from patients, probed with anti-human IgG-IR680
detection antibody and then visualised using the LI-COR Odyssey SA (LI-COR) fluorescence
imaging system
Figure 4.4. Seroprevalence of serum antibodies against <i>H. pylori</i> strains 60190 and Tx30a antigens
H. pylori-infected and uninfected patients
Figure 4.5. Positive Pearson's rank correlation between relative seropositivity of two strains of H.
pylori 60190 and Tx30a antigens in <i>H. pylori</i> -infected persons
Figure 4.6. Serological responses to H. pylori CagA, VacA, KatA, GGT and PPT in H. pylori infected
(Hp+) and uninfected (Hp-) patients 178
Figure 5.1 A double pocket comb used in creating a single well
Figure 5.2. Phyre2 3D structural analysis of catalases (A)H. pylori KatA, (B)human catalase, (C)
Corynebacterium glutamicum and (D)Aspergillus niger on the Phyre2. Image were coloured
rainbow N C. Percentage of each of residues have been modelled at >90% confidence.
Figure 5.3. A typical SDS-PAGE showing the resolved catalases from H. pylori, Human,
Corynebacterium glutamicum and Aspergillus niger
Figure 5.4. A typical SDS-PAGE showing the resolved catalases from <i>H. pylori</i> , Human,
Corynebacterium glutamicum and Aspergillus niger

Figure 5.5. A typical western blot chemiluminescence film showing the catalases from <i>H. pylori</i> ,
Human, Corynebacterium glutamicum and Aspergillus niger probed with anti-human catalase
IgG to evaluate cross-reactivity among the catalases
Figure 5.6. A typical western blot chemiluminescence film showing the catalases from H. pylori,
Human, Corynebacterium glutamicum and Aspergillus niger probed with <i>H. pylori</i> -positive (+)
and <i>H. pylori</i> -negative (-) patients' serum to evaluate cross-reactivity among the catalases

Chapter 1

General Introduction

Introduction

1.1 General background

Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) is a Gram-negative, spiral-shaped, flagellated, microaerophilic bacillus that inhabits the human gastric mucosa (Frydman et al., 2015, 2016a, Crowe, 2016, Wroblewski et al., 2010). Infection usually occurs during childhood but persists into adulthood when it frequently causes diseases (Blaser and Atherton, 2004). H. pylori have been implicated as the main causative agent in several gastro-duodenal diseases, including atrophic gastritis, peptic ulceration, and gastric cancer development (Cover, 2016b, Algood and Cover, 2006, Fox and Wang, 2007). This bacterium is also implicated for contributing to other disorders such as iron and vitamin B12 deficiency as well as growth retardation and idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP)(Banatvala et al., 1993). The most remarkable feature of H. pylori infection is its ability to evade or skew the host immune response using several strategies, allowing the bacteria to successfully establish persistent colonization leading to chronic inflammation. Several virulence factors such as cytotoxin-associated gene A (CagA), Vacuolating cytotoxin A (VacA), HP0986, JHP0940, peptidyl propyl cis-trans isomerase (PPT), outer inflammatory protein (OipA), gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT), and duodenal ulcer promoting (dupA) play key roles in pathogenesis and also in the persistence of the bacteria. These proteins assist in the colonization of the host on a longterm basis including via subversion of the activation of innate and adaptive

immunity and achieving a balance between the pro-and anti-inflammatory response (Devi et al., 2015).

1.1.1 H. pylori and humans: An interesting relationship

The genus Helicobacter contains a number of species known to inhabit the gastrointestinal tract of mammals and birds. They are mostly host-specific showing possible coevolution of hosts with each infecting species (Falush et al., 2001).

Isolation of *H. pylori*, originally named *Campylobacter pyloridis*, from human stomach tissue sample was reported more than 30 years ago by Barry Marshall and Robin Warren as a certain spiral-shaped bacterium(Oleastro and Menard, 2013). It was shown to be a spiral-shaped bacillus of 2 to 4 μ m long with a diameter of 0.5 to 1 μ m with 3 to 5 polar flagella that made it efficiently motile (Weeks et al., 2000). Since the discovery of this curved, microaerophilic, urease, catalase, and oxidase-positive, Gram-negative bacterium; several studies have shown a worldwide spread of the infection, with more than 50% of the world population affected (Eusebi et al., 2014). Statistics report a higher prevalence rate of about 90% in developing countries and a lower rate of about 40% in most developed countries except for Japan (Garza-González et al., 2014). Despite this high incidence of the infection all over the world, only a minor fraction of infections results in the two most prominent diseases-peptic ulcer and gastric cancer. The reason for this phenomenon is yet to be answered fully (Atherton and Blaser, 2009). H. pylori are mostly acquired during childhood through the faecal-oral route, contamination coming mostly from

family members, and can persist for life if left untreated (Salama et al., 2013, Chen and Blaser, 2008). *H.pylori* association with humans has been dated have been occurring for tens of thousands of years, providing some evidence of coevolution (Blaser and Atherton, 2004). Nonetheless, there has been a significant disappearance of the bacteria in recent years which has coincided with increase in other diseases notably, gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD), allergic diseases such as asthma and type 2 diabetes (Atherton and Blaser, 2009). These evidence from epidemiological and experimental data suggests the relationship between *H. pylori* and immune-physiological imbalance and how it affects several disease outcomes.

In most cases, the immediate consequences of *H. pylori* infection include acute inflammation and gastritis which if the bacteria are not cleared can progress to chronic low-grade inflammation of the gastric mucosa(Buzás, 2014). The inflammation may be restricted to the antrum, angulus, or extended to the corporeal mucosa(Algood and Cover, 2006). This type of inflammation lacks the characteristics of classical inflammation since consequences such as pus production, abscess, granuloma, or sepsis are not seen(Buzás, 2014). At this stage, it is generally asymptomatic and persists for a lifetime in more than 85% of infected individuals despite the stimulation of a continuous immune response (Garza-González et al., 2014, Oleastro and Menard, 2013). Notwithstanding, about 10% of infected persons experience more severe consequences such as peptic ulcer disease, gastric adenocarcinoma, and gastric mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma.

1.1.2 Peptic Ulcer Disease

Ulcers are deep lesions penetrating through the entire thickness of the gastrointestinal tract (g.i.t) mucosa and muscularis mucosa. A peptic ulcer is actually a broad term used in defining ulcers of the stomach or the duodenum(Kaur Amandeep, 2012). Peptic ulcer disease (PUD) is known to develop as a result of damage by gastric acid and pepsin of the protective cover offered by the mucus and bicarbonate secretion of the gastrointestinal mucosa. It is usually divided into a gastric ulcer, occurring in the stomach and a duodenal ulcer found mainly in the proximal duodenum (Sung et al., 2009) (Figure 1.1). Both are usually not easily differentiated by mere observation as they are generally characterized by epigastric pain, which is a feeling of abdominal discomfort and a burning sensation occurring shortly after a meal (Anand, 2016).



Figure 1.1 An injury in the stomach is known as a gastric ulcer while the development of an injury in the intestine is known as a duodenal ulcer. Together gastric ulcer and duodenal ulcers are called peptic ulcers (Mayo clinic).

H. pylori is present in more than 90% of duodenal ulcer patients and about 84% of those with gastric ulcers (Berstad and Berstad, 1993, Kuipers et al., 1995). Over the years, it has been shown that therapeutic eradication of *H. pylori* enhances healing of ulcers and also prevents their relapse, which supports a direct involvement of the bacterium in the disease condition (Laine et al., 1998, Rauws and Tytgat, 1990). It is still intriguing that among those with the infection only 10-15% develop PUD and the reasons for its occurrence in these individuals are not completely understood. Olbe *et al* (Olbe et al., 2000) and Dore and Graham(Dore and Graham, 2000) observed the important role of host factors, differences between strains, and bacterial load in the different outcomes of infection. Host immune products such as reactive oxygen species

and several other products released as a result of *H. pylori* contributes a great deal to the observed tissue damage (Nielsen and Andersen, 1992). Research has shown that bacterial characteristics such as cytotoxin-associated gene A (cagA)-positive and toxic type of vacuolating cytotoxin (*vacA*), i.e. strains signal sequences (s1), are associated with a higher tendency of leading to the development of PUD in an infected individual (Tham et al., 2001).

However, apart from the impact of *H. pylori* several other factors such as the use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) low-dose aspirin, smoking, excessive alcohol use, emotional stress, and psychosocial factors have been observed to be important factors leading to the development of PUD (Peura et al., 1997) (Cryer and Kimmey, 1998).

1.1.3 Gastric Cancer

Russel (Russell, 1890) in the 1890s was the first to propose the possibility of bacteria being a carcinogen. Since then, Thomas Glover and others have shown this association between bacteria and some cancers by consistent isolation of the bacteria from the cancer tissue (Nath et al., 2010). Among these bacteria associated with cancer, the best studied is *Helicobacter pylori* which have been linked with MALT lymphoma and gastric adenocarcinoma (Marshall and Windsor, 2005). It was recognized as a type I carcinogen in 1994 and is seen as the commonest cancer-related etiologic agent(Wroblewski et al., 2010). Only 1-3% of *H. pylori* infections lead to gastric adenocarcinoma and 0.1% leads to MALT lymphoma(Peek and Crabtree, 2006), but together, both make up an alarming 5.5% of the total burden of

cancer worldwide and are the second most common cause of cancer-related death(Bozzetti et al., 1999, Parkin et al., 2005).

Eradication of *H. pylori* can completely cure MALT lymphoma at an early stage (Stolte et al., 2002). Eradication of *H. pylori* in laboratory animals can also significantly slow gastric cancer progression (Romero-Gallo et al., 2008, Wroblewski et al., 2010). Several independent case-control studies including Forman et *al* (Forman et al., 1991) and Parsonnet *et al* (Parsonnet et al., 1991) showed an increase in the risk of developing gastric cancer by 3 -5 times when infected with *H. pylori*. All these studies and more, substantiate the significance of *H. pylori* infection in gastric cancer and MALT lymphoma development.

1.1.4 Other diseases associated with H. pylori

Apart from the peptic ulcer disease and gastric cancer, there are a number of other serious illnesses that are frequently associated with *H. pylori* infection. Kaptan et al reported in their prospective cohort study that eradication of *H. pylori* infection effectively improved anaemia and vitamin B12 levels the infected patients (Kaptan et al., 2000). Similarly, studies were also able to link some cases of iron deficiency to *H. pylori* (Annibale et al., 2001). Interestingly, vitamin B12 and iron deficiencies are known to be common in gastric atrophy conditions which are a well-known condition linked-to *H. pylori* infection. Gastric atrophy usually results in the reduction of secretion of hydrochloric acid and a vitamin B12 binding protein termed intrinsic factor, which is essential for digestive efficiency (Cavalcoli et al., 2017).

1.1.5 *H. pylori* absence: The consequences.

As discussed earlier, *H. pylori* has coevolved with humans and this is believed to be since the human population started leaving Africa about 60,000 years ago (Atherton and Blaser, 2009). This "long-term relationship" may have resulted in human genetic modification to the presence of *H. pylori* which consequently created a permanent change in the physiology and immunology of the human host to enhance bacterial colonisation.

In recent years, the infection rate of *H. pylori* is on the decline as a result of improved hygiene and quality of life worldwide especially in industrialised countries (Yamaoka, 2009). This is believed to also have a ripple effect resulting in the drop in the prevalence of sequelae linked to *H. pylori* infection. One report showed a steady decline in the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in Japan, from 59.1% in 1950 to 15.6 % in 1990 among individuals born within this period. It also went further to suggest a prevalence of less than 10 among individuals born after 1998 (Wang et al., 2017). Northern American average prevalence of *H. pylori* is down to 37.1% while in Oceania countries have an average prevalence of 24.4% (Hooi et al., 2017). However, as the overall in *H. pylori* prevalence is decreasing there is a concomitant increase in other diseases(Atherton and Blaser, 2009). The question arises, do *H. pylori* infection

The most interesting association suggested that the absence of *H. pylori* is a significant contributor to the development of allergic diseases such as asthma. This association is supported by the hygiene hypothesis, which states

that exposure to childhood infection promotes the immune maturation necessary for protection against atopic, allergic, and autoimmune diseases (Gold and Wright, 2005). On the other hand, the hypothesis could also be explained in terms of disappearance of endogenous microbiota which have had a long term association with humans. In this case, *H. pylori* sufficiently fits the description of such an organism, having lived with humans for a long time, a childhood infection and currently, the prevalence is dropping (Blaser, 2008). Currently, a number of studies have reported a strong link between *H. pylori* and several atopic and allergic diseases (Matricardi et al., 2000, Chen and Blaser, 2007, Wang et al., 2013b, Correa and Piazuelo, 2012). To support this hypothesis, it has been shown that *H. pylori* strains with the *cagA* gene are more linked with asthma than strains without the *cagA* gene (Chen and Blaser, 2007).

Further support came in the light of the finding of differences in the gastric regulatory T- cell (Treg) levels in *H. pylori*-infected and *H. pylori* uninfected individuals. A higher level of Treg is associated with *H. pylori* colonisation which may be linked to allergic disease prevention as opposed to the uninfected individual (Robinson et al., 2008). Although these Tregs are induced in the gastric mucosa, there is evidence that the effect could be systemic, which explains the suppressive activities in the lungs (Arnold et al., 2011a). The Treg activity also has been linked to the tendency to develop peptic ulcer disease (PUD), as *H. pylori* infection tends to produce PUD individuals with low Treg as compared to the ones with higher Treg (Robinson et al., 2008). Again the presence of the *cagA* gene is known to influence

colonisation and therefore it is suggested to increase the level of Treg compare to the strains without *cagA* (Harris *et al.*, 2008). Another potential explanation for this phenomenon is the difference in the type of T-cells associated with *H. pylori* infection and allergic diseases; which are largely the Th1 and Th2 subtypes, respectively.

Similarly, there is a strong link between *H. pylori* eradication and obesity and/or obesity-related illnesses, especially in more industrialised countries. The mechanism is explained by the effect of bacterial colonisation on the two opposing hormones leptin and ghrelin. Leptin is a hormone that decreases appetite and hunger, thereby controlling the fat storage, on the contrary, ghrelin induces appetite and hunger, which could have a long-term effect on fat storage (Friedman and Halaas, 1998). H. pylori infection induces chronic inflammation in the stomach which impedes both leptin and ghrelin production. But overall leptin level remains the same in the body, this is because most of the leptin is produced else in the body other than the stomach. Contrastingly, the ghrelin level is affected since two-thirds of the hormone is produced in the gastric corpus on the stomach. Hence, the influence of *H. pylori* colonisation of the gastric corpus is observed on the ghrelin production rather than leptin which has been also confirmed by observed increases in serum ghrelin level as a result of *H. pylori* eradication (Nwokolo et al., 2003). Also, infection by cagA-positive strains decreases ghrelin levels compared to *caqA*-negative infections (Isomoto et al., 2005).

Another condition that could be negatively associated with *H. pylori* absence, is gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) including its complication at the lower oesophageal sphincter. Case studies have shown a difference in acid production in patients eradicated of *H. pylori* depends on the site of gastritis. Patients with corpus gastritis, when treated for the eradication of *H. pylori* experience a rise in acid production while the reverse is the case with patients with antral gastritis (Haruma et al., 1999, Atherton and Blaser, 2009). This finding supports the hypothesis that *H. pylori* presence in the stomach decreases the acid level at the corpus, thereby preventing acid reflux.

Finally, Atherton and Blaser.,2009 schematically summarise our relationship with *H. pylori* in a graph (Figure 1.2) in which they described the association as biphasic. They explained that the resultant of our coevolution entails that a *H. pylori*-free stomach, could be seen as an abnormality as it would dispose of an individual to one of the "modern diseases". Hence, early childhood infection offers protection against a number of disease conditions such as allergy but not without a cost later in life such as ulcers.


Figure 1.2 A graphical representation of the biphasic model relationship between H. pylori infection and human diseases. In which H. pylori is seen to protect from certain diseases while inducing others in a time-dependent manner.

1.1.6 Factors influencing the development of *H. pylori* diseases

There are variations in the outcome of an *H. pylori* infection, several factors which include the bacterial virulence factors, host genetic diversity, and environmental influences have been reported to play important roles in determining the extent of tissue damage due to *H. pylori* infection and also disease risk (Kodaman et al., 2014, Wroblewski et al., 2010).

1.1.6.1 Bacterial virulence factor

A number of virulence factors are known to play a role in determining the outcome of *H. pylori* infection. These include the cag pathogenicity island (*cag* PAI), vacuolating cytotoxin (vacA), adhesins, and outer membrane proteins (Wroblewski et al., 2010).

The *cag* PAI is a 40-kb DNA insertion element which is made up of 27 to 31 genes edged by 31-bp direct repeats. It encodes Cytotoxin-associated gene A (CagA) protein and its associated type IV secretion system (T4SS), encoded by about 18 caq genes and it is responsible for the transportation of CagA protein across the plasma membrane into the host cells (Cover, 2016a, Kodaman et al., 2014). H. pylori induces gastritis but strains with the cag PAI tend to cause severe gastritis and distal gastric cancer more common in contrast to those infected with strains without the pathogenicity island(Jung et al., 2012). CagA, a 120-to 140-kDA effector protein, primarily was strongly linked with peptic ulceration and serves as a marker for the presence of the whole cag PAI. Strains can be regarded as either caqA-positive or caqAnegative(Shimoda et al., 2016). Furthermore, polymorphisms in the CagA protein can also influence the risk of gastric pathology. One polymorphism is found in glutamate-proline-isoleucine-tyrosine-alanine (EPIYA) amino acid sequence motif within the carboxy-terminal of CagA which is also a site for CagA tyrosine phosphorylation. Four of these tyrosine phosphorylation motifs (TPMs) have been identified so far including EPIYA-A,-B,-C and D (Beltran-Anaya et al., 2014). The EPIYA-A and -B motifs are found in strains throughout the whole world whilst the –C and –D motifs are present in strains from geographically distinct areas. EPIYA-D motifs as shown in Figure 1.2, are found in strains from Eastern Asian countries. It has been shown that the strains with the EPIYA-D motif have a tendency to induce higher amounts of interleukin-8 (IL-8) expression by gastric epithelial cells as opposed to those with EPIYA-C (Shimoda et al., 2016, Beltran-Anaya et al., 2014).



Figure 1.3 CagA phosphorylation motifs and cellular morphogenic alterations induced by intracellular CagA. A: tyrosine phosphorylation of EPIYA sites within the COOH terminus of CagA leads to alterations in host epithelial cells. Variation in the number and sequence of these sites determines the degree of CagA phosphorylation and the intensity of cellular changes. H. pylori strain colonizing individuals in Western countries typically have Western-type CagA (C)

CagA phosphorylation motifs and cellular morphogenic alterations induced by intracellular CagA. *A*: tyrosine phosphorylation of EPIYA sites within the COOH terminus of CagA leads to alterations in host epithelial cells. Variation in the number and sequence of these sites determines the degree of CagA phosphorylation and the intensity of cellular changes. *H. pylori* strain colonizing individuals in Western countries typically have Western-type CagA (C) motifs, whereas those from East Asia have Eastern-Asian CagA (D) motifs (Peek et al., 2010a).

Apart from the CagA protein, the T4SS of the *H. pylori* also delivers soluble components of peptidoglycan into epithelial cells, this activates a pattern recognition receptor (PRR) Nod-1 that acts as a cytosolic ligand for peptidoglycan from Gram-negative bacteria. These interactions lead to activation of the transcription factor, NF- κ B, leading to the expression of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-8 and β -defensin-2(Suarez et al., 2015). It has been suggested that other intracellular sensors could also interact with *H. pylori* peptidoglycan, leading to the induction of type I interferon production(Nagy et al., 2011).

VacA, an 87kDa protein was initially recognized for its ability to induce intracellular vacuolation in cultured cells(Sinnett et al., 2016). The protein is secreted by a type V autotransporter secretion system but gets into the targeted via endocytosis and can possibly lead to cell death by apoptosis (Rassow and Meinecke, 2012). The *vacA* gene is present in almost all strains of *H. pylori*, and it is known to contribute to the long-term establishment of the infection by its ability to suppress the T-cell response(Utsch and Haas, 2016). There are considerable differences in the gene structure of *vacA* which affect the vacuolating activities of different strains. The gene structure includes the signal (s) region, the middle (m) region and between them is the intermediate (i) region. These three regions each have two subtypes, s1/s2, m1/m2 and i1/i2 respectively(Sinnett et al., 2016). It has been shown that s1/i1/m1 forms of VacA induce more vacuolation than the s2/i2/m2 equivalent(Wroblewski et al., 2010).



Figure 1.4 The proposed model multimeric structure of VacA showing the p33 and p55 subunits(Ivie et al., 2008).

There is a strong link between duodenal and gastric ulcer diseases and gastric cancer with the s1/m1 strains in the Western population, while no association

was established in East Asian where most strains are s1/m1 (Rhead et al., 2007, Doorn et al., 1999, Van Doorn et al., 1999). The presence of i-subtype may explain this as determines the outcome of the vacuolating activities of the chimera; s1/i1/m2s strains produce vacuolation while s1/i2/m2 strains would not. In other words, the i1 subtype is an important determinant of strain toxicity (Rhead et al., 2007).



Figure 1.5 Schematic representation of the possible combinations of different varieties of VacA: s - signal region, i - intermediate region, and m - middle region. Classified into different genotypes; s1/i1/m1 type is strongly associated with disease and active toxin while s2/i2/m2 type is an inactive toxin.

Apart from s, m, and i–regions in the *vacA* gene, there is another determinant of toxicity, which is a deletion of about 61-to -81 bp, named d1 and d2 subtype for no deletion and deletion respectively. *vacA* d1 is associated with neutrophil infiltration and gastric mucosal atrophy(Ogiwara et al., 2009).

There is a number of important outer membrane protein (OMP) that work together to facilitate adherence of bacteria to the gastric epithelial cells leading to colonization and subsequent translocation of virulence factors via T4SS(Oleastro and Menard, 2013). One of the most researched *H. pylori* OMP is the blood group antigen-binding adhesin (BabA) which is encoded by a gene known as a *babA2* gene. This OMP bind to a fucosylated antigen (Le^b) found in the epithelial cells surfaces(Keilberg and Ottemann, 2016). The *babA2* gene has been strongly linked with gastric cancer, as well as duodenal ulceration and presence of *cagA* and *vacA* s1 alleles, increase the chances of severe disease development(Wroblewski et al., 2010).

Another *H. pylori* adhesin is the sialic acid-binding adhesion (SabA) which binds to the gastric epithelium via its sialyl-Lewis^x, a carbohydrate found on the surface of the host epithelial cells(Pinho and Reis, 2015). SabA is a phase variation regulated adhesin and is also strongly linked to an increased risk of gastric cancer but a reduced risk of duodenal ulcer (Yamaoka et al., 2006).

The Outer inflammation protein (OipA) was initially identified in relation to inflammation as a result of its tendency to induce proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-8, IL-1, TNF- α , and IL-17 which enhances neutrophil infiltration (Peek et al., 2010b). It has been shown that OipA is either present or absent in a strain and when present has a strongly associated with an increased chance of development of duodenal ulcers and gastric cancer (Cover, 2016b).

19

Duodenal ulcer promoting gene (*dupA*) is known for its tendency to increase the risk of duodenal ulceration in individuals infected with *dupA*positive strains(Yamaoka and Graham, 2014). The *dupA* gene is found in the plasticity zone (PZ) of the bacterial genome and has a characteristic low G+C content(Wroblewski et al., 2010). It is believed to be associated with the virB4 gene and therefore linked with activities of the type IV secretion system (Grove et al., 2013). DupA increases the production of IL-8 in human gastric biopsy and is known to stimulate IL-12 from monocytes *in vitro* (Hussein et al., 2010). Like several other *H. pylori* virulence factor genes, *dupA* has two subtypes *dupA1* and *dupA2*. The *dupA1* allele has a sequence of about 1889-bp while dupA2 a shortened form with several mutation(Yamaoka and Graham, 2014).

1.1.6.2 Host Factors

Although the heterogeneity in the genetic makeup of *H. pylori* has been seen as a powerful tool of the bacterial infection and colonization(Honarmand-Jahromy et al., 2015), individuals colonized by a disease-causing strain type are still asymptomatic. This shows that bacterial factors acting alone are not sufficient to determine the outcome of *H. pylori* infection(Wroblewski et al., 2010). *H. pylori* infection affects the host in two main ways; by inducing gastric inflammation and causing changes in acid production in the stomach these, in turn, determine the progression of diseases(El-Omar, 2001). Polymorphisms in the genes encoding a number of cytokines that are produced in response to *H. pylori*, such as IL-1 β , IL-8, TNF- α , and IL-10, have been shown to strongly influence disease outcomes of the infection (El-Omar, 2001). The polymorphisms that promote increased expression of proinflammatory cytokines particularly, IL-1 β , IL-8, and TNF- α , are associated with acid suppression and an increase in the risk of atrophic gastritis and gastric cancer (Rasmussen et al., 2012, Ohyauchi et al., 2005). Polymorphisms controlling *IL-10* gene expression which reduce expression of this antiinflammatory cytokine increase the risk of gastric cancer development presumably by removing a limiting factor of gastric inflammation (Wroblewski et al., 2010).

1.1.6.3 Environmental Factors

In addition to the bacterial factors and host genetics, certain environmental factors contribute immensely to the development of *H. pylori*associated diseases (Kao et al., 2016). One of the most important factors is a high intake of dietary salt (Gaddy et al., 2013, Monteiro C, 2016). A number of reports have shown a correlation between high intake of salt by *H. pylori*infected individuals and enhanced colonization, as well as the increased risk of developing gastric diseases as compared to individuals with a lower salt intake(Shikata et al., 2008). This could be as a result of up-regulation of proinflammatory cytokines expressions such as IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α (Juan Sun, 2016). High salt concentrations can also increase the expression of some virulence factors such as CagA (Loh et al., 2012). The suggested mechanisms

21

by which salt influences the risk of *H. pylori*-associated diseases include direct damage to the gastric epithelium, but the overall mechanism is still poorly understood(Wroblewski et al., 2010, Huang and Chiou, 2014).

A number of studies have shown an increase in the chances of *H. pylori* disease development due to cigarette smoking (Shikata et al., 2008). One study suggests that individuals infected with CagA⁺ strains who are also cigarette smokers have an increased risk of gastric cancer development (Brenner et al., 2002). A handful of other studies showed that there is not a significant difference in gastric cancer risk between smokers and non-smokers but observed a trend for increased risk amongst current smokers(Wroblewski et al., 2010).

Some studies have shown that co-infection with *H. pylori* and helminths reduces the severity of *H. pylori*-associated gastritis, where T-helper (Th) response is directed towards Th2 with a decrease in Th1 cytokines (Fox et al., 2000). Whary *et a*l (Whary et al., 2014) observed increased frequencies of FOXP3⁺ cells in the corpus and reduced *H. pylori*-associated gastric atrophy, dysplasia. Helminth co-infection also prevented *H. pylori*-induced changes in the gastric flora.

A couple of studies have shown that a diet high in antioxidants can offer some protection against the development of *H. pylori*-associated gastritis(Stanner et al., 2004). Researchers have suggested the importance of food supplements such as vitamin C and β -carotene in decreasing the chances of gastric cancer development in *H. pylori*-positive patients. Other studies have shown that high vegetable consumption may provide protection against gastric cancer among individuals infected with *H. pylori* (Kim et al., 2013b, Mera et al., 2005).

1.1.6.4 Host Immune Response

H. pylori are generally regarded as a non-invasive bacterium and seldom cross the gastric mucosa but both surface and secreted bacterial proteins have been found in the lamina propria (Tan et al., 2015). The bacteria have the ability to induce epithelial damage, which then allows whole bacteria as well other bacterial components, delivered via outer membrane vesicles to reach the lamina propria where there are encounters with immune cells (Ito et al., 2008).

*H. pylor*i infection elicits a wide range of immune responses including innate and adaptive immunity and involving cell populations such as neutrophils, macrophages, dendritic cells (DC), T-cell, and B-cells. The combined activities of these immune responses to bacterial factors determine the extent of gastritis(Wroblewski et al., 2010).

Macrophages and monocytes are central to the immune response to *H. pylori* infection (Tan et al., 2015). Monocytes, circulating in the blood, are attracted to the gastric tissue where they differentiate into macrophages as a result of exposure to bacterial components and proinflammatory chemokines acting as chemoattractants (Tan et al., 2015). Macrophages are capable of infiltrating the mucosa as well as detecting the presence of *H. pylori* in the

23

lamina propria(Whitney et al., 2000). Detection of the bacterial pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMP) by its pattern recognition receptor (PRR), especially the Toll-like receptor families (TLR2, TLR4, and TLR5) and Nod1 (Fig 2) leads to the amplification of the inflammatory response and production of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, TNF- α as well as IL-6(Peek et al., 2010a). These innate immune cells also participate in the activation of the adaptive immune system by producing IL-12 which activates Th1, the main secretor of IFN- Υ (Wroblewski et al., 2010).



Figure 1.6 Toll-like receptors and pathogen recognition. Activation of Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and intracellular receptors (e.g., Nod1) by pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) triggers multiple intracellular signaling pathways that culminate in NF-κB activation and subsequent production of inflammatory and immune effectors, such as interleukin-8. (Peek et al., 2010a)

Macrophages also produce nitric oxide (NO) which acts as an antimicrobial agent capable of eliminating *H. pylori* (Soleimani et al., 2016). This is elicited as a result of the upregulation of the enzyme inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) by the *H. pylori* infection (Son et al., 2001).

H. pylori is also capable of evading nitric oxide-mediated destruction via the activities of its enzyme, arginase, this competes for the iNOS substrate Larginine thereby suppressing the production of NO (Xiong et al., 2016). The bacterial enzyme metabolizes L-arginine to produce urea, this is the substrate for urease which is necessary for bacterial colonization via the synthesis of ammonia for neutralization of gastric acid (Wroblewski et al., 2010).

H. pylori also avoids other bactericidal functions of macrophage by evading phagocytosis (Lina et al., 2014). One of the ways it does this, is by ensuring that the phagosomes formed following phagocytosis fuse with each other to form a large phagosome known as a megasome. *Cag* PAI-positive and toxic *vacA* positive *H. pylori* can also prevent the fusion of lysosomes with the phagosome thereby ultimately preventing the killing of engulfed bacteria (Zheng and Jones, 2003).

Neutrophil infiltration of the mucosa is a very important hallmark of defence against *H. pylori* infection, which is followed by phagocytosis and subsequent elimination by oxygen-dependent and/or oxygen-independent killing mechanisms(Peek et al., 2010a). Neutrophils are activated by the interaction of PRR such as TLR2. interaction with the bacterial PAMPs especially the *H. pylori* neutrophil-activating protein (HP-NAP), to activates NF-

 κ B and subsequently upregulates expression of IL-12, IL-23, and TNF-α. Nevertheless, *H. pylori* have developed several mechanisms of evading the attack from neutrophils, which include avoidance of phagocytosis by preventing complement and antibody-mediated opsonization (Berstad et al., 1997, Rokita et al., 1998).

Dendritic cells (DCs) act as the bridge between innate and adaptive immunity, functionally capturing bacterial antigens, and presenting them to the T-cells (Novak et al., 2010). The DCs are thought to be capable of infiltrating the gastric epithelial apical-junction and interacting with the colonising bacterial cells and components (Wroblewski and Peek, 2011). The bacteria contain major ligands for PRRs on DCs leading to DCs activation and maturation (Fig 3). This leads to the activation of Th1, Th2, regulatory T cell (Treg), or Th17 responses directed by the expression of interleukin (IL)-12, IL-4, IL-10, or IL-23, respectively(Peek et al., 2010a)



Figure 1.7 Schematic demonstrating how dendritic cells may bridge the innate and adaptive immune response directed against *H. pylori* within the gastric mucosa. Dendritic cells can penetrate the epithelial barrier in vivo and sample *H. pylori* antigens directly. Dendritic cells, in turn, activate T cells in different ways, being capable of inducing either a Th1, Th2/regulatory T cell (Treg), or a Th17 response by the generation of interleukin (IL)-12, IL-10, or IL-23, respectively. Direct interactions between *H. pylori* and gastric epithelial cells or *H. pylori* constituents such as urease can also activate polymorphonuclear (PMN) cells and/or macrophages, which further amplifies the T-cell response to this pathogen (*Peek et al., 2010b*).

T cells are broadly separated into helper T cells (Th) and cytotoxic T cells (Tc) also known as CD4 T cells and CD8 T cells respectively (2016b). The CD4 T cell specifically performs its function in the immune response by the production of cytokines and chemokines which activates targeted cells to perform specific actions and recruit other immune cells to the site of infection respectively(Charles A Janeway et al., 2001). The main function of CD8 T cells is to eliminate pathogen-infected and malignant cells, but are also capable of producing cytokines(Pennock et al., 2013).

An uncommitted T cell, known as a naïve T cell, is activated by engagement of its T cell receptor (TCR) by an antigen presented to it on the MHC (class I for CD8 and class II for CD4) of an antigen-presenting cell (APC)(Pennock et al., 2013).

The cytokines in the surrounding environment, produced as a result of interaction between innate immune cells and the pathogen, then strongly influence T cells differentiation into a particular type of T helper subsets such as Th1, Th2, Th9, T follicular helper (Tfh), Th17, and Treg (Baranovski et al., 2015). These types are conventionally divided based on cytokine differences and chronology (Th1 and Th2), cytokine profile (Th9 and Th17), and biological significance (Tfh) and (Treg)(Pennock et al., 2013).

Th1 is characterized by its production of IFN-Y and TNF- α , which act on macrophages and DCs to enhance their phagocytic and antigen-presentation function. Differentiation into Th1 of naïve T cells usually occurs in the presence of IFN- α/β and IL-12 cytokines generated by innate immune cells (Susanne J

Szabo, 2000). Th2 cells are characterised by the expression of IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 and they are specialized in activating neighbouring eosinophils, mast cells, and basophils in addition to promoting the production of antibodies by B-cells. The differentiation is induced in the presence of IL-4 from innate immune cells (Fields et al., 2002). The Th9 subtype is similar to Th2, producing similar cytokines especially IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13 in addition to its signature cytokine IL-9. IL-9 supports CD4 T cell expansion and survival as well as having potent effects on mast cells. Th9 differentiation usually occurs in the presence of IL-4 and TGF-β (Dardalhon et al., 2008).

IL-17 together with IL-8 potently recruits neutrophil migration to the site of infection. IL-17 is mainly produced by the Th17. The differentiation into this subset usually occurs in an IL-6, IL-21, IL-23, and TGF- β rich environment (Mangan et al., 2006). Fazilleau *et al* (Fazilleau et al., 2009) described T-follicular helper cell (Tfh) as the class of effector T helper cells that regulate the step-wise development of antigen-specific B cell immunity. Naïve T cells differentiate into Tfh cells in the presence of IL-21 and IL-27 which induces the upregulation of the Bcl-6 transcription factor(Liu et al., 2012). Tfh cells are deployed to the B cell zones of lymphoid tissues where they usually have stable cognate interactions with B cells (Fazilleau et al., 2009).

The function of the Treg subset is to control the inflammatory response and as such maintain immune homeostasis (Pennock et al., 2013). They are quite unique in that some types called natural Tregs (nTreg) are produced directly in the thymus. Others known as induced Treg (iTreg) are differentiated in the presence of TGF- β and retinoic acid(Pennock et al., 2013). Most Treg subtypes are CD4⁺ and express high levels of CD25 (the IL-2 receptor) and have the expression of the FOXP3 transcription factor which mediates the immunosuppressive activities(Fontenot et al., 2003). Tregs can also be categorised on the basis of FOXP3 and CD45RA expression as resting (FOXP3^{dim} CD45RA⁺) or activated (FOXP3^{high} CD45RA⁻) Tregs. In contrast, activated non-suppressive T cells are FOXP3^{dim} CD45RA⁻ (Miyara et al., 2009). Tregs may control immune responses by the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines, chief among them are IL-10(Pennock et al., 2013), TGF- β , and IL-35. Their function is to abrogate T-cell proliferation and cytokine production from other activated T cell subsets (Moore et al., 1990). Functionally, there are differences between human and mouse Tregs. In humans, only CD4⁺CD25^{hi} T cells can function as Tregs while in mouse, almost all CD4⁺CD25⁺T cells function as Tregs (Lastovicka, 2013). Below (Table 1) are common extracellular and intracellular markers for Treg cells.

Name Marker	Common name	Status on Treg	Location	Function
FOXP3+	Forkhead box P3	+	Intracellul ar	FoxP3 ⁺ is a transcription factor that is regarded to be a lineage molecule for Tregs. It is necessary for their thymic development, function, and phenotype and is responsible for controlling the expression of a number of genes including suppressive cytokines and Treg surface molecules.
Helios	Helios	+/-	Intracellul ar	An Ikaros family transcription factor originally used to differentiate induced Treg cells from natural Treg cells as nTregs (FoxP3+Helios+) and peripherally induced (FoxP3+Helios-) iTregs. Although presently CD304 is preferred as distinguishing factor
RUNX	Runt-related proteins	+	Intracellul ar	Binding of RUNX to Core-binding factor β (CBF- β) aids expression of FOXP3 in nTregs. It works together with CBF- β in maintaining the development of Treg. It is so important in that RUNX deficient mice to produce autoimmune disorders resembling those occurring in Foxp3- mutants, although the symptoms are less severe.
CD25	IL-2R –α	high	Surface	Deemed most important Treg marker, an IL-2 receptor thereby has the

Table 1: Showing common surface markers for Treg

				tendency of depriving other cells the needed IL-2 when present.
CD26	DPP-IV ectoenzyme	Low/-	Surface	CD26 is an extracellular serine protease with dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPPIV) activity. Found always upregulated inactivated and memory T cells display a CD26 ^{high} phenotype.
CD39	Ecto- nucleoside triphosphate diphosphohyd rolase 1		Surface	50% to 90% of CD4+CD39+ T lymphocytes are FoxP3+, but CD39 is also expressed on effector T cells upon activation. Also, a new subset of human CD4+CD39+FoxP3– T cells that produce IFN-gamma and IL-17 has been found
CD45RA		+/-	Surface	Tregs expressing CD45RA are resting /naive Tregs, while CD45RA negative are called effector or activated Tregs
CD45RO	alpha chain of VLA-4 integrin	-	Surface	CD45RO+ Tregs are so-called memory Tregs and exert enhanced suppressive effects on T cell proliferation and cytokine production
CD49d	VLA4α, Integrin α4	Low/-	Surface	Marker of effector T cells producing pro-inflammatory cytokines has been used for negative selection of Tregs, but in some degree expressed also on Tregs
CD127	IL7R-α	Low/-	Surface	They showed that the expression of CD127 inversely correlates with FoxP3 expression and suppressive activity of Tregs and has been used in combination with CD25 to isolate purified Treg.

1.1.6.5 T cells and H. pylori

Gastric inflammation is initiated by epithelial cells and innate immune cells following colonization by *H. pylori*. This is followed by the activation and attraction of lymphocytes, evident by the increase in CD8 and CD4 T cells ratio in the gastric mucosa (Portal-Celhay, 2006). A common observation is an increase in the IFN-Y producing T-lymphocytes in the lamina propria, which is characteristic of Th1 cells(Wroblewski et al., 2010). It has also been shown that in peptic ulcer patients, CD4⁺ T-cell clones specific for *H. pylori* are mostly of the Th1 type, based on the cytokine profile(Fassi Fehri et al., 2010). Bamford *et al* observed that there are higher concentrations of IFN-γ and IL-2 than IL-5 and IL-4, which are the signature cytokines for Th1 and Th2 subsets respectively(Bamford et al., 1998). A number of studies have also shown that *H. pylori* infection preferentially induces production of IL-12 by DCs, which is necessary for Th1 differentiation (Haeberle et al., 1997, Fassi Fehri et al., 2010).

Another cytokine that is increased at a high level in the infected gastric mucosa is IL-17, which is connected to the increase in the neutrophil level during *H. pylori* infection in mice and humans (Luzza et al., 2000). DeLyria *et al.* demonstrated that immunization of mice with a *H. pylori* lysate enhances IL-17 expression in the gastric mucosa. Also, CD4⁺T cells isolated from spleens and cocultured with *H. pylori*-pulsed DCs or macrophages showed increased gastric inflammation and attenuation of colonization (DeLyria et al., 2009). It is

observed that *H. pylori* infection induces a Th17 response in gastric mucosa which contributes significantly to the suppression of the infection (DeLyria et al., 2009).

1.1.6.6 The Treg Response to H. pylori

An inability to eliminate *H. pylori* by the immune response leads to chronic inflammation of the mucosa(Romero-Adriàn and Leal-Montiel, 2013). It has been shown that a number of the *H. pylori* components, such as CagA and TLR2 ligands were able to induce Tregs in vitro by skewing (Fig 4) the DC response towards the activation of IL-10 producing T cells phenotype. This was notably by a decrease in IL-12 production during the antigen presentation (Ya-Hui Wang, 2016, Xia Sun 2016). Serrano et al. (Serrano et al., 2013) showed that although there were no significant differences in the levels of colonization with *H. pylori* of the same genotype between children and adults, there was a significant reduction in the severity of gastric inflammation and neutrophil infiltration in children compared to the adults. This reduction in the gastric inflammatory response among children correlates with a reduction in Th17 and corresponding IL-17 mRNA and an increase in IL-10 producing T cells, with increased IL-10 and FOXP3 mRNA. The presence of elevated Th1 and Th17 cells in adults as opposed to FOXP3 Tregs and the associated regulatory cytokines (IL-10 and TGF- β) explains why children tend to be more susceptible to *H. pylori* colonization than the adults (Nader Bagheria, 2016). Investigations with a C57BL/6 (H2b) mouse model proved this observation to be correct, as FOXP3 Treg-depleted mice showed increased gastric inflammation, and immune cell

recruitment, with reduced bacterial colonization compared to non-Treg depleted *H. pylori*-infected mice(Rad et al., 2006). These findings show the ability of *H. pylori* to survive an inflammatory immune response by induction of the Treg response, thereby creating a state of equilibrium between the bacteria and the host.



Figure 1.8. Role of Treg and *H. pylori* infection. *H. pylori*-induced gastritis is characterized by a predominant Th1/Th17 response that is regulated by Treg cells. The various T-cell lineages secrete different cytokines that modulate further the immune response that is a critical factor for the development of severe diseases such as a peptic ulcer or gastric cancer(*Nader Bagheria, 2016*).

It has also been shown that there is a reduction in IL-8 production in *H. pylori* primed-AGS cells when cocultured with Tregs as compared to those without(Nader Bagheria, 2016). Treg cells numbers have also been shown to correspond with an increase in the colonization of the gastric mucosa of *H. pylori*-infected individuals and tend to reduce together with the Treg cells

signature cytokines (IL-10 and TGF- β) following eradication therapy (Kindlund et al., 2009).

Furthermore, it was discovered that in peptic ulcer disease patients the CD4+CD25^{hi}IL10⁺ Treg response is significantly reduced compared to an infected asymptomatic patient and increased Th1 and Th2 responses are also present. This change in Treg numbers directly affects the response since reduced production of IL-10, in turn, could increase the severity of inflammation, leading to ulceration (Robinson et al., 2008). Robinson *et al.* also investigated the level of IL-10 production by *H. pylori* stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and showed that there was reduced IL-10 production by PBMCs from peptic ulcer patients compared to asymptomatic patients (Robinson et al., 2008). This result partly explains how an imbalance in the Treg/Th cells leads to ulcer disease.

In contrast to PUD, there is a remarkable increase in the Treg response and its corresponding cytokine expression in gastric cancer tissue with a parallel decrease in Th1/Th2 signature cytokines (Shen et al., 2009, Nader Bagheria, 2016). Investigations showed that Treg differentiation is enhanced in response to a CagA⁺ strain of *H. pylori*, which permits chronic colonization and inflammation (Jang, 2010). Even higher populations of FOXP3⁺ CD4⁺CD25⁺CD127^{low} Tregs are present in gastric cancer patients (Nader Bagheria, 2016).

38

Chronic inflammation resulting from *H. pylori* infection has a large impact on the gastric acid secretion by parietal cells of the stomach, which could lead to atrophic gastritis (Crowe, 2015). The overall clinical outcome is determined by a combination of several host and bacterial factors together with influence from the environment and others still to be discovered factors(Crowe, 2015). Bacterial factors such as Catalase, CagA, VacA,γ-glutamyltranspeptidase (GGT), urease, and peptidoglycan have been shown to exact substantial influence on the magnitude and nature of the gastric mucosal inflammatory and immune response (Nader Bagheria, 2016).

1.1.6.7 Catalase

H. pylori catalase (KatA) is one of the highly expressed proteins in the bacteria accounting for approximately 1% of the total protein (Hazell et al., 1991). The enzyme is responsible for the notable effervescence reaction observed when the bacteria is mixed with hydrogen peroxide and this is used in the biochemical identification of the bacteria (Ayala et al., 2014). KatA is an ~59 kDa heam-containing tetrameric protein known to be a very soluble ubiquitous enzyme. KatA has been identified to be expressed in the cytoplasm, and periplasm, and is released in outer membrane vesicles and adsorbed onto the cell surface of the bacteria (Hazell et al., 1991).

During *H. pylori* infection and corresponding immune response, reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) are released

39

by innate immune cells; polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs), and monocytes (Cadamuro et al., 2014). Nevertheless, *H. pylori* a survive these hostile environments owing to its ability to counteract the harmful effect of these bactericidal chemicals. The mechanism through which *H. pylori* does this include; conversion of the O_2 into H_2O_2 by its superoxide dismutase (SOD) and subsequent removal of the still harmful H_2O_2 by the catalase (Harris et al., 2002) (Figure 1.9). KatA has been shown to be essential for the persistence of *H. pylori in vitro* and *in vivo* and resistance to a high concentration of hydrogen peroxide is eliminated in mutants lacking KatA(Richter et al., 2016).



Figure 1.9 Catalase catalyses the breakdown of harmful H2O2 formed during inflammation to harmless H₂O and O₂.

Apart from the potency of hydrogen peroxide to react with reduced metallic oxides to produce toxic hydroxyl radical which is capable of causing DNA damage, hydrogen peroxide is also known to influence NF-kB activation leading to the production of cytokines such as TNF α and IL-1 β (Seo et al., 2002). Consequently, by catalase potential to remove hydrogen peroxide from the system, it could also be said to have an indirect influence on the immune response in an infected patient. Furthermore, a recent report by Richter *et al.* (Richter et al., 2016) provided some evidence of the mechanism through which *H. pylori* utilizes the interaction between KatA and vitronectin (Vn), plasma component, in preventing complement activation, a very important innate immune response.

Antibodies against *H. pylori* KatA are known to be detected in serum but the protective role of these antibodies is still questionable, even though it gave the idea of the involvement of KatA in adaptive immunity(Kotiw et al., 2012).

The *H. pylori* catalase amino acid sequence is unique when compared with other prokaryotic or eukaryotic catalase, in that it possesses a tetra-lysine motif on the C-terminus of the protein (Harris and Hazell, 2017). The importance of this unique sequence is yet to be discovered.

1.1.6.8 Cag Pathogenicity Island

Cag pathogenicity island (CagPAI) contains 27-31 genes that encode a type IV secretion system (T4SS). This is a channel system for the translocation of CagA protein, another protein encoded by the island into the cytoplasm of the host cells (Cook et al., 2014). When delivered, CagA is phosphorylated at the EPIYA sites by host tyrosine kinases such as SRC and ABL, depending on the CagA subtype (Beltran-Anaya et al., 2014, Kodaman et al., 2014). Apart from the well-studied translocation into epithelial cells, CagA has been discovered to be injected into B lymphoid cells as well as dendritic cells (Nader Bagheria, 2016).

When delivered into the dendritic cells Tanaka *et al.* demonstrated that following CagA phosphorylation, the CagA protein negatively regulates the functions of DCs by causing a decrease in the IL-12p40 production and an increased in IL-10 secretion. *Cag*-PAI-Positive strains, therefore, induce regulatory immune responses enhancing chronic colonization by the bacteria (Tanaka et al., 2010). Again, there is a high expression of the receptor CCR6, the receptor for the chemokine CCL20, on the Treg (Kitamura et al., 2010). Studies have shown that there is an increase in both the concentration of CCL20 and migration of Treg into the gastric mucosa of a host infected with *cag*-PAI-positive strains(Cook et al., 2014).

1.1.6.9 Vacuolating cytotoxin A (VacA)

A pore-forming protein that is encoded by the *vacA* gene which is present in all strains of *H. pylori* (Sinnett et al., 2016). Because of the ability to damage the epithelial cells and disrupt the tight junctions, VacA has clear access to interact with the T-cells in the lamina propria (Müller et al., 2011b). Takeshima *et al.* showed that VacA prompts gastric inflammation by activating NF-κB in a classical rather than alternative manner. The process leads to the initiation of IL-8 production in epithelial with contrasting interference with Tcell activation in a way of inhibiting IL-2 secretion, thereby having a contradictory effect (Takeshima et al., 2009). In another instance, VacA has also been shown to promote inflammation by disruption of autophagy which aids infection (Raju et al., 2012). Oertli et al. investigated the effect of two factors VacA and GGT and suggested that isogenic H. pylori mutants lacking either VacA or GGT are capable of inducing stronger Th1 and Th17 responses in mice. The presence of both factors induces a Treg response in a manner yet to be properly understood in humans (Oertli et al., 2013a). They also showed an increase in TGF- β 1 in the gastric mucosa, which has been shown to induce suppression in T-cells, induction of IL-10 production in VacA exposed DC, as well as promotion of Treg differentiation. Mammalian microRNAs have been suggested to play a key role in regulation of the immune response and H. pylori infection was shown to elicit the expression of miR-155, a microRNA, both in vivo and in vitro, miR-155 inhibits protein kinase A inhibitor α (PKI α), a regulator of the feedback mechanism for cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) activities, thereby allowing continuous expression of cAMP which induces upregulation of FOXP3 transcription factor in T-cells (Fassi Fehri et al., 2010).

1.1.6.10 γ-glutamyltranspeptidase (GGT)

All strains of *H. pylori* constitutively express γ-glutamyltranspeptidase (GGT) and it has been demonstrated to be very important in colonization of the mouse gastric mucosa by the bacteria(Chevalier et al., 1999). GGT is known to have direct immunosuppression effects on both T- cells and DCs. On T-cells it induces cycle arrest at the G1 phase by a mechanism described by Schmees *et al.* and disruption of a Ras-dependent signal pathway (Schmees et al., 2007).

The mechanism by which GGT induces polarisation of DCs and subsequent induction of a Treg response is still not yet well understood. But it has been shown that GGT exposed DCs produce IL-10 and induce the FOXP3 and contactdependent differentiation of T-cells into CD4+CD25+FOXP3+ regulatory T-cells while simultaneously preventing T helper 1 (Th1) and Th17 differentiation (Oertli et al., 2013a).

1.1.6.11 Urease

H. pylori urease is made up of two subunits, UreA and UreB. Among the two, UreB is the immunogenic subunit. The protein makes up to 5% of total H. pylori protein and is capable of eliciting Th17 responses both in vivo and in vitro (Jin-Yu Zhanga, 2011). H. pylori infection stimulates caspase-1 (CASP1) in macrophages and DCs which leads to activation of ASC- and NLRP3-containing inflammasome and subsequent IL-1 β and IL-18 production (Hitzler et al., 2012). IL-1β promotes Th1 and Th17 activation which is proinflammatory leading to gastric immunopathology (Kim et al., 2013a), whilst IL-18 are protective against immunopathology by promoting Treg differentiation (Oertli et al., 2012, Kim et al., 2013a). Koch et al. showed that activation of NLRP3 and TLR2 by H. pylori is required for stimulation of the inflammasome in DCs. H. pylori LPS elicits expression of pro- IL-1 β while the UreB subunit of the *H. pylori* urease is essential for NLRP3 inflammasome activities by activating TLR2. A ureB mutant was unable to activate caspase-1 and failed to induce IL-1 β and IL-18, and as a result, was unable to promote Treg differentiation. This shows the importance of the TLR2/NLRP3/CASP1/IL-18 axis in immunoregulation (Koch et al., 2015).

Chapter 2

Helicobacter pylori molecules with potential

Immunomodulatory properties

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Immunomodulatory properties of *H. pylori* molecules

A genetic predisposition to developing allergic diseases does not always culminate in the appearance of the disease, and this explains the interaction between genetics and the environment in the manifestation of allergy (Eder et al., 2006). The role of environmental factors is epitomised in the overall increase in the prevalence of asthma and other allergic diseases among children in recent times (Eder et al., 2006). The "hygiene hypothesis," suggests that cleaner living conditions are associated with the development of allergies (Strachan, 1989). That is to say that sufficient exposure to factors in the environment is necessary for normal maturation of the immune system. This led to a slight modification of the hypothesis to focus on the ancestral microorganisms and parasites which have coexisted with humans for years and are capable of bringing about a balance in the immunity (Gold and Wright, 2005). Therefore, it was concluded that reduced contact with these ancestral microbiotas due to hygiene and the use of antibiotics during childhood is one of the main reasons for the increase in allergy, especially in western countries (Blaser and Falkow, 2009, Blaser and Atherton, 2004).

Helicobacter pylori is a component of this ancestral microbiota, as the bacteria coexisted with humans for over 60,000 years, but the prevalence of the infection has continually decreased over recent decades (Correa and Piazuelo, 2012, Linz et al., 2007). *H. pylori* is known to colonise around 50% of

the world's human population, and it has evolved a strategy to persist life-long within its host. Therefore it is considered to be the most effective gastric colonizer, causing conditions such as gastritis, peptic ulceration, and gastric cancer (Parsonnet et al., 1991, Cover and Blaser, 2009). There is evidence to show that disease outcome is not only a result of the *H. pylori* virulence factors but also due to the activities of the immune response (Robinson et al., 2008). Nevertheless, there has been overwhelming evidence of inverse associations between childhood *H. pylori* infections and allergic diseases (Bodner et al., 2000, Matricardi et al., 2000, Tsang et al., 2000, Wang et al., 2013b, Chen and Blaser, 2008, Konturek et al., 2008).

There are a number of regulatory mechanisms that block the debilitating effect of immune response and one of the crucial mechanisms is through the CD4⁺CD25⁺Treg, which could be natural Tregs (thymus developed) or induced Tregs (in the periphery as a result of a response to antigens). Studies have shown that the tolerogenic ability of *H. pylori* infection is facilitated by dendritic cells (DCs) which are skewed towards a tolerogenic phenotype, and IL-10 producing CD⁺CD25⁺ Treg cells (Arnold et al., 2011a, Ray et al., 2010, Wang et al., 2013b).

Two *H. pylori* virulence factors, vacuolating cytotoxin A (VacA) and γ -Glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT) have been shown to aid *H. pylori* colonisation since mutant strains lacking these factors failed to colonise mice (Chevalier et al., 1999, Salama et al., 2001a). Both factors were also shown to inhibit T-cell proliferation (Gebert et al., 2003, Schmees et al., 2007), (Oertli et al., 2013a)
showed that VacA and GGT are independently capable of reprogramming DC leading to persistent colonisation and induced immune tolerance in mice since DCs exert a strong influence on the adaptive immune response. They further showed that *vacA* and *ggt* null *H. pylori* mutants induced more effector T cell responses, had a reduced ability to inhibit DC maturation, failed to induce CD4⁺CD25⁺ Foxp3⁺ Tregs, and infections were cleared relatively easily compared to the wild type.

The *Helicobacter* research group has previously shown reported an increase in IL-10 producing Tregs in gastric biopsy samples of *H. pylori*-infected patients, compared to uninfected patients. They also found that peripheral blood Tregs from infected patients (but not uninfected patients) responded to stimulation with *H. pylori* antigens by secreting IL-10. Components in the secreted fraction of an *H. pylori* culture were markedly more effective in stimulating an IL-10 response.



Figure 2.1 IL10⁺ producing CD4⁺CD25^{hi} cell frequencies in the PBMCs stimulated with the secreted component, whole-cell lysate, and culture medium. 25 µg/ml of total protein SS1 *H. pylori* whole cell lysate, 25 µg/ml total protein from culture supernatant (secreted components) or Hams F12 medium (control) alone were cultured with peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from 9 *Hp* infected patients for 16 hours and Treg stimulation (proportion of CD4+CD25hi cells expressing IL-10) was analyzed by flow cytometry (Dr Karen Robinson, unpublished data)

Dr Jody Winter, another member of the group, identified the major constituent proteins in the *H. pylori* secretome (unpublished data). To do this, equal amounts of protein from culture supernatants of the SS1 *H. pylori* strain and whole-cell lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE. The result showed enrichment of certain proteins in the culture supernatant compared to the whole cell lysate. Next, using MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry peptide mass fingerprinting (PMF), the major constituent proteins were identified (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2 The SDS-PAGE analysis of the protein constituents of **H. pylori** SS1 whole cell lysate and its culture supernatant. Lane 1, prestained protein standard; Lane 2, H. pylori SS1 whole cell lysate; Lane 3, H. pylori SS1 culture supernatant containing the secreted components. From the peptide mass fingerprinting (MALDI-TOF), proteins were identified as shown above.

Three of the most enriched proteins were selected for the study. Catalase (KatA, HP0875), γ - Glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT, HP1118), and Peptidyl prolyl cis-trans isomerase (PPT, HP1075) were selected for an initial investigation of their potential immunomodulatory properties.

2.1.2 Catalase

Catalase is one of the most conserved *H. pylori* factors with the approximately 98-100% amino acid sequence similarity among different strains of the bacteria species (Zamocky and Koller, 1999). Catalase gene is 1515 bp

which makes a haem-containing enzyme of 505 amino acids (Loewen et al., 2004). In conditions of oxidation stress especially during *H. pylori* infection, KatA enzymes have been shown to be overexpressed account for 1% of the total *H. pylori* protein (Huang and Chiou, 2011, Wang et al., 2006, Alyamani et al., 2007). This ubiquitous enzyme is essential in the gastric colonisation of the bacteria (Hazell et al., 1991). Interesting, the catalase enzyme retains its activity at a lower pH of 3 compare to urease, another protective enzyme found in *H. pylori*, which its activity is deactivated at pH of 5 (Bauerfeind et al., 1997). Therefore, catalase is believed to be more essential to the survival of *H. pylori* in the lower pH environment such as the human gut (Ramarao et al., 2000).

Schriner et al showed that the maximum life span of transgenic mice overexpressing human catalase in the peroxisome, the nucleus or mitochondria were maximal increased (Schriner et al., 2005). Similarly, other literature has shown that acatalasemia, an inherited deficiency of catalase activity which was originally thought to be an asymptomatic disorder, could be responsible for a number age-associated disease conditions such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension, anaemia, vitiligo, Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, bipolar disorder (Goth, 2001, Goth and Nagy, 2012, Nandi et al., 2019). During *H. pylori* infection, inflammatory responses by the immune cells produce reactive oxygen species in the gastric mucosa, which could be detrimental by triggering DNA damage and may lead cancer (Robinson et al., 2007, Acheson and Luccioli, 2004). Hydrogen peroxide has been shown the act as a first messenger able to transmit cell-to-cell proinflammatory signals such as nitric oxide and TNF- α (Gunawardena et al., 2019). Siwale et al

52

demonstrated that incubation of human endothelial cells with mammalian catalase and then stimulating the cells with LPS, pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 and IL-6 were reduced by 90%, 21% and 42%, respectively (Siwale et al., 2009).

H. pylori catalase (KatA) share about 50% amino acid sequence similarities with that of human and since mammalian catalase have been shown to have direct inhibition of proinflammatory cytokine. Consequently, there could be a possibility of catalase produced during the immune response against *H. pylori* infection directly playing anti-inflammatory function.

2.1.3 γ-glutamyltranspeptidase (GGT)

All strains of *H. pylori* constitutively express γ -glutamyltranspeptidase (GGT) and it has been demonstrated to be very important in colonization of the mouse gastric mucosa by the bacteria (Chevalier et al., 1999). The active enzyme is made up of two subunits, the 37 kDa large subunit and 20 kDa small subunit, processed from the originally synthesised 60 kDa pro-enzyme. Catalytically, GGT is known to catalyse the reactions involving the transfer of γ -glutamyl moiety from γ -glutamyl compounds such as glutathione to amino acids or water (Chevalier et al., 1999). As in other organisms, the human version of this enzyme is known and it is routinely utilised in tests as an indicator of hepatic and biliary tract-associated diseases (Hanigan and Ricketts, 1993) Just as *H. pylori* GGT is known to generate H₂O₂ which could cause (Gong

et al., 2010), it is also known to generate ammonia from the hydrolysis of glutamine (Shibayama et al., 2007). Likewise, H. pylori GGT activity has been shown to independently control the growth of the bacteria in vitro, as isolate with higher GGT activities grows more profusely as against the ones with lower GGT activity (Gong and Ho, 2004). Although there have been mixed reports on the importance of *H. pylori* GGT in gastric pathogenesis of the bacteria, one report by (Chevalier et al., 1999), argued that it is essential for the colonisation of the gastric mucosa of mice. While using gnotobiotic piglets and C57BL/6 mice (McGovern et al., 2001) reported a significant reduction in colonisation among the ggt-isogenic mutant infected animals as compared to the wild-type rather than total clearance of the mutant. Largely, both pieces of evidence project the importance of GGT in the H. pylori colonisation. GGT is found in a wide range of organisms from bacteria to mammals and performs a similar function of catalysing the transfer of a y-glutamyl moiety from y-glutamyl compounds to molecules such as amino acids and water (Boanca et al., 2006). However, analysis of the H. pylori GGT amino acid sequence shows a remarkable difference from its counterpart in other bacterial species such as Bacillus subtilis, E. coli and Pseudomonas aeruginosa with only 38%, 52.5% and 47.7 % sequence identity, respectively (Chevalier et al., 1999).

An investigation has shown the mixed role of GGT in the immune response to *H. pylor*i infection, with the protein being reported as being both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory. As pro-inflammatory, *H. pylor*i GGT is known to induce IL-8 secretion in AGS and gastric epithelial cells through the NF- κ B pathway (Gong et al., 2010). Hence, GGT synthesis could be the major reason for the rise in the chemokine, IL-8, during *H. pylor*i infection(Fan et al., 1995). Another report suggested that during *H. pylor*i infections there is an increase in expression of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and corresponding prostaglandin E_2 , both of which are vital in proinflammatory response.

As an anti-inflammatory molecule, GGT is known to have direct immunosuppression effects on both T- cells and DCs. On T-cells it induces cycle arrest at the G1 phase by a mechanism described by Schmees et al. and disruption of Ras-dependent signal pathway (Schmees et al., 2007). The mechanism by which GGT induces polarisation of DCs and subsequent induction of a Treg response is still not yet well understood. But it has been shown that GGT exposed DCs produce IL-10 and induce the FOXP3 and contactdependent differentiation of T-cells into CD4⁺CD25^{hi}FOXP3⁺ regulatory T-cells while simultaneously preventing T helper 1 (Th1) and Th17 differentiation (Oertli et al., 2013a).

2.1.4 Peptidyl prolyl cis-trans isomerase

Peptidyl prolyl cis-trans isomerase (PPT) is another enzyme family that is evolutionary conserved and are expressed in a wide range of organisms ranging from bacteria to mammal. Their basic role is to catalyse slow the cistrans isomerization of proline imidic peptide bonds which is important in several biological processes such as protein folding, biomolecular assembly and molecular switch (Shaw, 2002). Due to the likelihood of the cis and trans conformation in the PPT backbone, the enzyme possesses a wide range of catalytic ability and importance(Michnick et al., 1991) thus making it a target for immunosuppressive agents such as cyclosporine A (CsA), rapamycin and FK506 which are to known to bind immunophilins, a cytoplasmic receptor and member of PPT superfamily(Kim et al., 2010, Bertrand et al., 1999). There are three classes of PPTs, Cyclophilins, FKBP and parvilins. The first PPT member was isolated in 1984 from the porcine kidney cortex and is an 18 kDa cytosolic receptor known as cyclophilin and later an FKBP12, a 12 kDa FKBP class (Fischer et al., 1984, Rahfeld et al., 1994, Harding et al., 1989). In bacteria PPT was discovered first in *E. coli*, a 10.1 kDa PPT class, named parvulin (Rahfeld et al., 1994) which is similar to Par14 another member parvulin which is found in a lot of human tissues with PPT activities.

Tomb et al complete genome sequencing of *H. pylori,* described as a gene which code for the protein designated HP0175 (Tomb et al., 1997). This protein is a ~30 kDa secretory protein with peptidyl-prolyl isomerase activity (McAtee et al., 1998). Since then several investigations to ascertain other activities of this protein have shown a tendency to induce the proinflammatory cytokines, apoptosis and autophagy (Halder et al., 2015, Basak et al., 2005). It is associated with severity gastritis, initiation gastric pathologic lesions which may progress to peptic ulcers or gastric cancer (Zhu et al., 2015). Some other reports inferred that the HP-PPT induces Th17 signature pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-17 and IL-21 by lymphocyte infiltration in the tumour from cancer patients (Amedei et al., 2014). With the knowledge of the role of PPT in the cellular proliferation, concluded that it is the imbalance between the apoptosis and the cellular proliferation that could be promoting carcinogenesis (Zhu et al., 2015, Oghalaie et al., 2016), asserts that it could be the imbalance

between induced apoptosis and induced cellular proliferation that promotes carcinogenesis.

To this end Basak et al, 2005 went on to show that in AGS cells, there is a direct and specific interaction between TLR4 and PPT and likewise that the signalling pathway activated by PPT is downstream of TLR4. This is in agreement with other studies which depict the upregulation of TLR4 and MD-2 in the gastric mucosa in cases of *H. pylori* infection (Ishihara et al., 2004). Similarly, PPT was also demonstrated to interact with TLR 4 in a macrophagemonocyte model, THP-1, and PBMC binding directly binding to the ectodomain (ECD) of the TLR4. Following this interaction, MAPK ERK and p38 MAPK signalling pathways are activated in P13K/Ras, Rac1-dependent manner and subsequently, activation of MSK1, which is important in NF-κB activation (Pathak et al., 2006).

It is also known to readily induce antigen-specific serum antibodies in an infected patient, making it a good marker for a non-invasive serology assay (Atanassov et al., 2002). Which also shows that PPT interacts with antigenpresenting cell and adaptive immunity.

Although the interactions of PPT with TLR4 are well-established, it's not known whether PPT produces other effects on the immune cells order than its ability to trigger the caspase pathways leading to apoptosis in epithelial cells (Basak et al., 2005) and supposed IL-6 induction in macrophages (Pathak et al., 2006). We hypothesis that *H. pylori* PPT might have a direct anti-inflammatory influence on some immune cells.

2.2 Hypothesis

Data from humans and mouse models have shown that stronger Treg responses are linked to higher levels of *H. pylori* colonisation, and these cells also contribute to the persistence of the infection (Robinson et al., 2008, Robinson et al., 2005). Work from our group showed that *H. pylori* factors very potently stimulated human peripheral blood Tregs *in vitro* to express the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10. However, IL-10 mediated immunoregulation is not the only path to regulation of immune response. Gebert et al reported that VacA, a *H. Pylori* factor, abolished the nuclear translocation of nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) thereby downregulating IL-2 production in T cells (Gebert et al., 2003). It was hypothesised that some other bacterial factors could exert direct suppressive effects on proinflammatory cytokine production by immune and epithelial cells. Aims of the research were therefore

- To express *katA*, *ggt* and *ppt* genes in ClearColi[®] BL21 (DE3) competent cells to avoid LPS effects, and purify the recombinant proteins.
- To examine the LPS contamination of recombinant protein preparations
- To characterise the recombinant proteins and assess the catalase activity of rKatA.
- To determine the ability of the recombinant proteins to suppress the production of cytokines by activated human T cells (IL-2), monocytes (IL-6) and gastric epithelial cells (IL-8).

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Preparation of the Recombinant Proteins

2.3.1.1 Gene cloning (carried out by Dr Jody Winter)

The genes encoding the proteins Catalase (KatA), Gamma Glutamyl Transpeptidase (GGT) and Peptidyl Prolyl Transferase (PPT) were cloned into pET -41a (+) plasmid (Novagen) (Appendix Figure A) expression vector that has a 6 x His- tag which is needed for the immobilized metal affinity chromatography protein purification. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was used to amplify the genes of *katA*, *ggt* and *ppt* (Appendix Table 1) according to the genomic DNA of *H. pylori* strain 26695 (complete genome (Tomb et al., 1997).

To confirm the amplification of the genes, the amplified genes were separated on a by 1 % agarose TAE gel with ethidium bromide which stains the DNA. Then using the QIAquick gel extraction kit (Qiagen), the DNA products were extracted, before ligation into the plasmid pJET1.2 vector, containing Ampicillin resistant gene, the ends of the purified DNA products were blunted using a blunting enzyme (Fermentas, CloneJet kit). Using heat shock, the resultant plasmids were transformed into a chemically competent *E. coli* (NEB 5 α) which is then plated on to Luria Bertani (LB) agar plates containing 100 µg/ml Ampicillin as a plasmid selecting agent. To confirm the gene insertion a colony PCR was performed and then the positive colonies were transferred to the 5 ml LB broth containing 100 μ g/ml Ampicillin. After overnight incubation at 37 °C in a shaker, the cells were pelleted by centrifugation and the plasmids were purified using a GenEluteTM Plasmid Miniprep Kit (Sigma). To ensure there was no introduction of mutations by the PCR, sequencing was performed on the plasmid. Ndel and Kpnl restriction enzymes were used to subclone the genes into a pET-41a expression vector (Novagen), containing the kanamycinresistant gene. The presence of the subcloned genes was established by restriction digestion analysis and using heat shock (Kushner, 1978), the resultant plasmids were transformed into chemically competent *E. coli* B834 (DE3). Although this *E. coli* strain is easy to manipulate for high protein expression and yield, it has the problem of purification as the purified proteins from the strain usually contains lipopolysaccharide (LPS) bound strongly to the protein. The LPS bound to the protein could easily trigger an endotoxic response in cell culture of human origin.

2.3.1.2 Transformation into ClearColi®

ClearColi[®] BL21 (DE3) competent cells are a commercially available genetically modified *E. coli* BL21 (DE3) strain which does not trigger the endotoxic response in human cells. This was created by deletion of two of the secondary acyl chains in a wild type hexa-acylated LPS thereby abolishing its endotoxicity in human cells. NF- κ B is activated when the six chains of acyl group of the LPS activate the Toll-like receptor 4(TLR4)-myeloid differentiation factor 2 (MD-2) complex leading to the production of the proinflammatory complex. But the deletion of 2 out these 6 acyl chains results in Lipid IV_A which does not activate the formation of TLR4/MD-2 complex thereby not induce the endotoxic response. ClearColi BL21 (DE3) is most suitable for several applications since the plasmids or proteins purified from ClearColi does not LPS contain and the presence of the LPS in form of Lipid IV_A does not elicit an endotoxic response in eukaryotic cells (Lucigen, 2019)

E. coli B834 (DE3) transformed previously in section 2.4.1.2 were cultured in 5 ml LB broth supplemented with 30 µg/ml kanamycin sulfate and grown overnight. The cells where harvested and the plasmids purified using a GenEluteTM Plasmid Miniprep kit (Sigma). The *katA*-pET-41a, *GGT*-pET41a and *PPT*-pET41a recombinant plasmids were transformed into ClearColi[®] BL21 (DE3) electrocompetent cells by electroporation as follows:

The electroporation cuvettes (0.1 cm gap) and microcentrifuge tubes were placed on ice prior to the transformation. Aliquots of the *E. coli* strain BL21 (DE3) with modified non-stimulatory LPS (Lucigen) were removed from the -80 °C freezer and thawed completely on wet ice and 25 μ l was pipetted into the microcentrifuge tubes. 1 μ l of the extracted plasmid was added and the mixture stirred with the pipette tip. To the chilled cuvette, 25 μ l of the cell/DNA mixture was added and electroporated at 25 μ FD Capacitance, 200 Ω and 2.5 volts using a Gene Pulser (BioRad) and Pulse Controller (BioRad). Within a few seconds of the pulse, 975 μ l of expression recovery medium (Lucigen) was added to the cuvette and pipetted up and down to mix. The cells in the cuvette were transferred to 15 ml culture tubes and incubated in a

63

shaking incubator for 1 hour at 37 °C. 100 μ l was then spread onto LB plates containing 30 μ g/ml kanamycin, which were incubated for 40 hours at 37 °C. The transformed and antibiotic selected colonies were picked and subcultured onto fresh LB plates with 30 μ g/ml kanamycin.

2.3.1.3 Confirmation of Transformation via Polymerase Chain Reaction

To confirm the presence of the plasmid in the transformed cells, colonies from original LB plates as well as the subcultured plates were tested for the presence of the *katA* genes. The PCRs was carried out in 20 µl volumes and consisted of the appropriate volume of PCR buffer, dNTPs (0.2mM concentration each), 0.5U of a Taq green DNA polymerase mix (9:1) and 10-100ng of the template DNA. The KatA primers used are shown in Table 3. The reaction was carried out in a PCR Express thermal cycler (Thermo Hybaid) using the following parameters: 95 °C for 10 min initial denaturation, followed by 95 °C for 1 min denaturation, 50 °C for 30 seconds annealing and 72 °C for 2 min extension. A final extension period of 10 min at 72 °C was performed. The bacterial colonies shown to contain the plasmid were then frozen and stored in 75% glycerol in -80 °C.

2.3.1.4 Protein Expression

A single colony of transformed ClearColi® BL21 (DE3) was inoculated into 40 ml Luria Bertani (LB) broth containing 30 µg/ml kanamycin sulfate and supplemented with 0.5% (w/v) glucose and incubated at 37 °C in a shaker incubator. Following overnight incubation, the 40 ml culture was inoculated into 1 litre LB broth supplemented with 30 µg/ml kanamycin sulfate and incubated with shaking at 37 °C until an OD₆₀₀ of 0.6-0.8. Subsequently, a final concentration of 1 mM of isopropyl β -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) Melford, Darmstadt, Germany) was used to induce a conformational change in the repressor to give access to T7 RNA polymerase together with other protein synthesis machinery in the cell for overexpression of the intended recombinant proteins. The cultures were placed in a shaker at 30 °C for 4 hours and placed on ice for 10 minutes then the cells were harvested by centrifugation at 5,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4 °C. The pellets were resuspended in 20 ml binding buffer (20 mM Na₃PO₄, 0.5 NaCl, 10 mM imidazole pH 7.4) (GE Healthcare, life sciences) and stored in -20 °C freezer.

2.3.1.5 Protein Purification-First step purification

The induced frozen cell suspensions were allowed to thaw completely, then a complete EDTA free protease inhibitor tablet (Roche) was added to 10 ml of culture then vortexed to dissolve completely. Afterwards, the cells were lysed on ice using Soniprep (Sanyo) at 10 seconds burst x 4 with 30 seconds break after each burst to avoid overheating and destruction of the recombinant proteins. The lysed ClearColi[®] BL21 (DE3) suspension was centrifuged on 9,000 x g at 4 °C for 20 minutes, then the supernatants portion which contains the soluble proteins were loaded into 10 ml His GraviTrapTM Talon[©] (GE Healthcare, life sciences) prepacked gravity flow column pre-equilibrated with 10 ml of the binding buffer (GE Healthcare life sciences) for an immobilised metal affinity chromatography. The flow-through contain the unbound constituent from the supernatants and column was afterwards washed with 3 x 10 ml binding buffer (GE Healthcare, life sciences) which washes off the weakly unbound materials. Lastly, the his-tagged recombinant proteins still left bound to the column resins were eluted using the 3 ml Elution buffer (20 mM Na₃PO₄, 0.5 NaCl, 500 mM imidazole pH 7.4) (GE Healthcare, life sciences).

2.3.1.6 Further protein purification-Second step purification

The eluted products were further purified to obtain a purer product and exchange the imidazole containing buffer. To do this, the GraviTrap Talon elution was first filtered using 0.2 µm Minisart® NML Syringe Filters (Sartorius) and loaded onto a Hiload 26/60 s200, size exclusion chromatography column (GE Healthcare) pre-equilibrated with 50 mM Tris base pH 8.8, 200 mM NaCl. The system was run using an AKTA prime plus (GE Healthcare) at 0.5 ml/min and 5 ml fractions were collected. Then the fractions containing the recombinant protein were concentrated using Vivaspin 20, 50,000 MWCO PES (sartorius) and the concentration of purified recombinant proteins were determined using Pierce[™] BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Scientific) following the manufacturer's instructions. The proteins were then stored in the -80 °C until required for various assays.

2.3.1.7 Characterisation of the purified protein

2.3.1.7.1 SDS-PAGE and PageBlue[™] Protein Staining

Following the method established by (Laemmli, 1970), the protein samples were resolved by denaturing sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). Initially, the protein samples were heated to the temperature of 100 °C for 5 minutes in a 1 x reducing SDS sample buffer (50 mM Tris-Cl, 100 mM DTT, 2% SDS, 0.1% bromophenol blue and 10% glycerol) and then 10 µl of each of the samples loaded into the wells of the gel together with 3 µl of Precision Plus Protein[™] Prestained Standards (Bio-rad, UK). The prestained standard was used in assessing the approximate size of the proteins after separation by electrophoresis.

The SDS-PAGE gel included the resolving gel which contained 15% polyacrylamide and the stacking gel which contained 3% polyacrylamide, the gel was cast in the Invitrogen[™] Empty Gel Cassettes, mini, 1.5 mm (ThermoFisher). Table 2.1 below indicates the components of the gel.

67

Table 2.1 Composition of the Resolving gel and Stacking gel preparation for theSDS-PAGE.

Resolving Gel (7.5 ml) for one gel	Stacking gel (5 ml) for one gel
- 2.5 ml of 30 % Bis-acrylamide solution: bis37:1 (Severn Biotech Ltd, UK)	- 0.65 ml of 30 % Bis-acrylamide solution (37:1 (Severn Biotech Ltd, UK)
- 1.875 ml 1.5 M Tris HCL pH 8.8	- 1.25 ml 0.5 M Tris HCL pH 6.8
- 3.125 ml distilled H_20	- 3.05 ml distilled H ₂ 0
- 0.1 μl 10% (w/v) SDS	- 50 μl 10% (w/v) SDS
- 25 μl of 10% Ammonium persulphate (APS) (SIGMA) - 5 μl of TEMED (Melford)	- 25 μl of 10% Ammonium persulphate (APS) (SIGMA) - 5 μl of TEMED (Melford)

The BioRad mini Protean II gel system (BioRad PowerPac 200/2.0) containing electrode buffer (5 x stock: 0.125 Tris, 0.95M glycine 0.4% SDS pH 8.3) ran at 180 V constant voltage, was used to separate the proteins. At the end of the electrophoresis, the cassette was opened, and the gel transferred to a clean tray containing 100 ml of distilled water and heated gently to 65 °C for 3 minutes. The water was removed and 20 ml of PageBlue[™] Protein Staining Solution (Thermo Scientific) was added to visualise the protein bands and developed for 4 hours. The dye was decanted, and the gel washed twice

with distilled water, then the gel was destained with 10 % acetic acid for 2 hours, Molecular Imager[®] Gel Doc[™] XR+ Imaging system (BIO-RAD) was used to scan the gel.

2.3.1.7.2 Western Blot analysis

After the SDS-PAGE, the gel for the western blot was equilibrated in the blotting buffer (5.8g glycine, 11.6 g tris base, 7.4ml 10% SDS, 400ml methanol and 2L distilled water) for 10 minutes prior to transblotting. The nitrocellulose paper and a couple of Whatman filter papers cut to the same size as the gel (8.5 cm x 6.5 cm) were soaked in the blotting buffer. Together with the Scotch-Brite pad, the gel, nitrocellulose paper and filter paper were assembled in a sandwich manner on a mini blotter cassette (BioRad) taking care no air bubble is trapped by rolling a pipette gently over the sandwich and the top of the gel align with the nitrocellulose. The cassette was placed in the electrode assembly with the nitrocellulose facing the anode and frozen ice-pack inserted as the cooling unit all in the buffer. The cell was connected to the power pack (Bio-Rad) through the lid and ran at a constant current of 150mA for 60 minutes. Proper transfer of the prestained molecular weight marker was used to adjudge the efficiency of the transfer.

69





The blot was blocked for 1 hour on a shaker at room temperature with 2% skimmed milk powder (Marvel) in PBS-Tween (500 µl Tween₂₀, 1X PBS tablet in 1L distilled water) (Blocking solution). Following blocking, the primary antibody (6x-His Tag monoclonal antibody) (ThermoFisher Scientific) was added at the dilution of 1:20000 and incubated overnight at 4 °C on the shaker. After incubation, the blot was washed in PBS-Tween 3 x with 5 minutes shaking incubation in between each wash. The blot was placed in the 1:50000 dilution of the secondary antibody Anti-rabbit IgG-horseradish peroxide conjugate (Sigma), and incubated for 1 hour. Subsequently, the blot was washed 5x for 5 minutes in PBS-Tween and 1 x in PBS.

The chemiluminescent readout was accomplished using the enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) substrate kit (ECL Western blotting detection reagent: GE Healthcare). The blot was incubated in the ECL for 1 minute and then placed in the autoradiography cassette. Working in the dark, the autoradiography film as used to detect the bands for 1 minute and then developed using the developer and replenisher (Carestream GBX) and fixer and replenisher (Carestream GBX). The film was washed with distilled water and allowed to dry.

2.3.1.7.3 Catalase Assays

2.3.1.7.3.1 Catalase activity

Catalase activity was measured using Amplex® Red Catalase Assay Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific) following the manufacturer's protocol described briefly as follows; The standard curve of 0 to 4.0 U/mL was prepared from the 1000 U/mL catalase stock solution and 25 µL of each of the standard as well as the sample (diluted in the 1X reaction buffer) were added to 96-well microplate with the negative control as 1X reaction buffer. 25 µL of 40 µM H₂O₂ was also added to each of the wells of the standards, samples and control and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. Following incubation, 50 µL of Amplex Red/HRP (containing 0.4 U/mL and 100 µM Amplex red reagent in 1X Reaction buffer) was added to each of the wells of standard, samples and control and incubated for 30 minutes at 37 °C away from light. The absorbance was measured in a microplate reader at 595 nm. The absorbance was reported by substracting the sample from the control without any catalase and catalase activities were interpolated from the standard.

2.3.1.7.3.2 Catalase biochemical test

To carry out the test, 5 μ L of the sample (rKatA) was dropped on a glass slide while 5 μ L rGGT was on another slide as a negative control. Then 5 μ L of

3 % H_2O_2 was added to each of the sample and the control. A positive result was considered by the rapid evolution of oxygen in the form of effervescence.

2.3.2 Jurkat T Cell Suppression Assays

The Jurkat T cell line was maintained in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 100 μ g/ml and 100 U/ml of penicillin/streptomycin antibiotics and incubated at 37 °C in an atmosphere 5 % CO₂. The 96 microwells flat bottom tissue culture plate (Thermo scientific) were pipetted with 200 μ l of the cell suspension at the density of 1 x 10⁶ cells/ml in triplicate. Then the cells were stimulated with increasing concentration (10, 25 and 50 μ g/ml in Tris buffer) of each of the purified recombinant KatA, GGT and PPT and incubated for 1 hour at 37 °C. Then the cells were further stimulated with 50 ng/ml phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) and 1 μ M ionomycin, and incubated for an additional 24 hours. The supernatants were harvested after centrifugation to remove the cells. Finally, the resulting supernatants were stored in a – 80°C freezer until assayed for the presence of IL-2 by ELISA as per the manufacturer's instruction (ThermoFisher scientific).

2.3.3 THP-1 Cell Suppression Assays

THP-1 monocytic cells were maintained in culture media, RPMI 1640, supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 100 μ g/ml and 100 U/ml penicillin/streptomycin antibiotics incubated at 37 °C in an atmosphere of 5 % CO₂. The 96 microwells flat bottom tissue culture plate (Thermo scientific) were pipetted with 200 μ l of the cell suspension at the density of 1 x 10⁶ cells/ml in triplicate. Then the cells were stimulated with increasing concentration of each of recombinant KatA, GGT and PPT (10, 25 and 50 μ g/ml) and incubated for 1 hour at 37 °C. Then the cells were further stimulated with 40 ng/ml LPS (mitogen) and incubated for an additional 24 hours. The supernatants were harvested by centrifuge to remove the cells. Finally, the resulting supernatants were stored away in the – 80 °C freezer and assayed for the presence of IL-6 by ELISA as per the manufacturer's instruction (ThermoFisher scientific).

2.3.4 AGS Cell Suppression Assays

AGS cells, a human adenocarcinoma cell line, were maintained in culture media, F-12 Ham, supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS), L-glutamine and 100 µg/ml and 100 U/ml incubated at 37 °C in an atmosphere 5 % CO₂. The 24-well flat-bottom tissue culture plate (Thermo scientific) were pipetted with 200 µl of the cell suspension at the density of 5 x 10⁵ cells/ml in triplicate. Then the cells were stimulated with increasing concentration of each of recombinant KatA, GGT and PPT (10, 25 and 50 µg/ml) and incubated for 1 hour at 37 °C. Then the cells were further stimulated with 40 ng/ml TNF- α (mitogen) and incubated for an additional 24 hours. The supernatants were harvested after centrifugation to remove the cells. Finally, the resulting supernatants were stored away in the – 80 °C freezer and assayed for the presence of IL-8 by ELISA as per the manufacturer's instruction (ThermoFisher scientific).

2.3.5 Cytokine ELISA Assays

Human IL-2, IL-8 and IL-6 concentrations were measured in the supernatant from cell culture induction assays of Jurkat, AGS and THP-1 cells respectively, using Human IL-2, IL-8 and IL-6 ELISA kits (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's protocol, with a detection limit <2 pg/ml. The optical densities of the 96 microtiter plate wells were measured using a plate reader (LabSystems iEMS reader MF) at dual wavelengths of 450 nm and 620 nm, and the data were analysed using Gen5 Data Analysis Software (BioTek). To calculate the cytokine concentration in each of the samples, a standard curve on each of the assay microplates (positive control) was used as the reference. Four control wells containing no cytokines were used to determine the assay sensitivity, calculated as the mean plus 3 times the standard deviation.

2.3.6 Statistical analysis

Graphs were prepared and statistical analysis was carried out using GraphPad Prism version 8.3 software. Data and error bars indicate the mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was determined using a one-tailed Student T-test for data with a non-Gaussian distribution. Differences were considered significant at p<0.05*, p<0.01** and p<0.001***.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Expression and purification of rKatA, rGGT and rPPT

2.4.1.1 Cloning and Colony PCR of the *katA, ppt* and *ggt* genes to conform the transformation into ClearColi cells

The recombinant plasmids containing the *katA*, *ggt* and *ppt* genes, made by Dr Jody Winter (Section 2.4.1.1) were purified and subject to transformation by electroporation into ClearColi®. Transformed cells were plated on selective medium (LB agar containing 30 µg/ml). After incubation, the resulting colonies were tested using colony PCR analysis, picking 6-7 colonies from each plate. PCR products were analysed on an agarose gel. Gels were checked for the bands corresponding base pairs for each of the genes (*katA*, *ggt* and *ppt* genes, in Figure 2.4 A; *ppt* in Figure 2.4 B; and *ggt* in Figure 2.4 C)



Figure 2.4 Confirmation of the transformation of Clearcoli competent cells with the recombinant plasmids. A. 0.8 % (w/v) TAE agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide: Lane 1, 1kb DNA ladder; Lane 2, the purified katA DNA template as the positive control; Lane 3 -8 are 6 different colonies from the transformed LB plate; Lane 9, is the PCR prep without any DNA as the negative control. B. 0.8 % (w/v) TAE agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide: Lane 1, 1kb DNA ladder; Lane 2, the purified ppt DNA template as the positive control; Lane 3; is the PCR prep without any DNA as the negative control; Lane 3; is the PCR prep without any DNA as the negative control; Lane 4-9 are 6 different colonies from the transformed LB plate. C. Lane 1, 1kb DNA ladder; Lane 2, the purified ggt DNA template as the positive control; Lane 3 -7 are 5 different colonies from the transformed LB plate; Lane 8, is the PCR prep without any DNA template as the negative control; Lane 8, is the PCR prep without any DNA template as the negative control.

2.4.1.2 Overexpression of the recombinant protein and purification by Immobilized metal affinity chromatography (IMAC)

The expression of the three proteins in ClearColi® was confirmed by analysing the pre and post-induction whole-cell samples by sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). The corresponding bands to the molecular weight for each of the recombinant proteins were visualised using PageBlue[™] Protein Staining Solution. (rKatA in Figure 2.5 A; rPPT in Figure 2.5 B; and rGGT in Figure 2.5 C)



Figure 2.5 A typical SDS-PAGE showing the expression of the recombinant proteins rKatA, rPPT and rGGT. The ClearColi transduced with the his-tagged recombinant DNA were grown to the OD₆₀₀ of 0.6-08, then induced with 1 mM IPTG and further incubated for 4 hours at 30 °C in a shaker incubator. The cells were lysed by sonication on ice, then clarified by centrifuge to harvest the soluble fraction. Lane 1, prestained protein standard; Lane 2 Induced soluble lysate; Lane 3, the whole cells of IPTG induced ClearColi; Lane 4, pre-induction ClearColi whole cells.

To aid purification of the proteins using immobilised metal affinity chromatography, the proteins were expressed in the ClearColi® as a hexahistidine-tagged protein at the N-terminal. Then sonication was used to lyse the cells on ice in a binding buffer containing 20 mM Na₃PO₄, 0.5 NaCl, 10 mM imidazole pH 7.4 with Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Tablets added. Afterwards, the lysates were separated by centrifugation and a sample of the supernatants expected to contain the soluble proteins were resolved by SDS- PAGE and visualised using PageBlue[™] Protein Staining Solution (rKatA in Figure 2.5 A lane 2; rPPT in Figure 2.5 B lane 2; and rGGT in Figure 2.5 C lane 2).

The supernatants containing the soluble proteins were then loaded onto 10 ml His GraviTrap[™] Talon[©] columns for the first step purification and washed three times with the binding buffer containing 10mM imidazole to ensure the weakly bound impurities were washed off. Subsequently, the desired recombinant proteins are eluted in the elution buffer containing 500mM imidazole. The purified eluted fractions were resolved by SDS-PAGE to ascertain the purity of the eluted purified product (rKatA in Figure 2.6 A; rPPT in Figure 2.6 B; and rGGT in Figure 2.6 C)



Figure 2.6 A typical SDS-PAGE analysis from the purification of rKatA, rPPT and rGGT. The induced ClearColi containing overexpressed recombinant proteins were lysed by sonication and centrifugation was used to separate the soluble fraction which was then applied to a prepacked His GraviTrap 1 ml TALON superflow chromatography. Lane 1, prestained protein standard; Lane 2, Final wash of the Talon; Lane 3; Final Talon elution.

2.4.1.3 Further Purification of the Proteins by Size-exclusion Chromatography

Size exclusion chromatography (SEC) also known as gel filtration, works with the principles of separating molecules based on the differences in the size following their movement through a column packed resin. This was employed to further purify the proteins after the metal affinity chromatography and to also carry out buffer exchange to remove the 500mM imidazole in the first stage elution buffer. This second stage purification helped for removal of contaminating proteins from the ClearColi[®] host cells. To ensure that the purified proteins were collected at the correct molecular weight fraction, proteins standards were first to run in the SEC column and the resulting peaks from the calibration curve were used as a marker (Figure 2.7).





A; Protein aggregate (void peak), B, Thyroglobulin 670 kDa-49 ml; C; γ -globulin 158 kDa-63.8 ml; D; Ovalbumin 44 kDa – 80.45 ml; E; Myoglobin 17 kDa – 92.4 ml; F; Vitamin B₁₂ 1.35 kDa -112.14 ml.

2.4.1.4 rPPT purification by Size-exclusion chromatography

The filtered rPPT samples from the first step of His GraviTrap[™] Talon© purification were loaded on to the SEC column and eluted into 5 ml fractions. Each of the fractions was resolved on 12% SDS-PAGE to confirm the presence of the desired protein in the eluted fraction, comparing the expected molecular weight from the calibration curve of the standard and the peaks from the purification run. The chromatogram below (Figure 2.8 A) shows asymmetric rPPT elution, indicating a homogenous elution of rPPT.



Figure 2.8 A typical size exclusion (SE)/gel filtration chromatogram/ trace for rPPT purification. A. The vertical / X-axis indicates the level of absorbance downstream of the column measured by the UV detector in miliabsorbance units at 280 nm. The horizontal/Y-axis indicates the volumes separated by the system and collection in fractions of 5 ml. The fractions are indicated by rows of red lines with each peak representing the volume contain the proteins. The peak number 1 represents the larger aggregate of proteins also known as a void peak. Peak 2 represents the target protein rPPT and peak 3 represent the smaller molecular weight imidazole. B. A typical SDS-PAGE analysis of the fractions from the size exclusion purification of rPPT to confirm the presence of the target protein. Lane 1, prestained protein standard. Lane 2, a pool of fractions 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8, Lane 3 is the concentrated fraction protein using a vivaspin concentrator.

The SDS-PAGE analysis of the fractions showed that the recombinant protein was present in fractions 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 according to the expected molecular weight of rPPT. The weak band at 34 kDa was due to dilution of the fraction from the SEC elution (Figure 2.8 B Lane 2). The protein in the pooled fractions was further concentrated (Figure 2.8 B lane 3) and the total protein concentration was measured using BCA assay. The SDS-PAGE analysis indicated an approximate 90% purity. The concentrated protein was aliquoted, subjected to a quick freeze in liquid nitrogen and stored in -80 °C until needed.

2.4.1.5 rKatA purification by Size-exclusion chromatography

The chromatogram of rKatA samples subjected to purification by SEC column and collected in of 5 ml fractions (Figure 2.9 A). Each of the fractions was resolved on 10% SDS-PAGE gel to confirm the presence of the desired protein. Eluted fraction 6, 7 and 8, comparing the expected molecular weight from the calibration curve of the standard and the peaks from the purification run. The SDS-PAGE (Figure 2.9 B) shows asymmetric rKatA elution, indicating a homogenous elution of rKatA of an approximate 90% purity.


Figure 2.9 A typical size exclusion (SE)/gel filtration chromatogram/ trace for rKatA purification. A. The vertical / X-axis indicates the level of absorbance downstream of the column measured by the UV detector in miliabsorbance units at 280 nm. The horizontal/Y-axis indicates the volumes separated by the system and collection in fractions of 5 ml. The fractions are indicated by rows of red lines with each peak representing the volume contain the proteins. The peak number 1 represents the larger aggregate of proteins also known as the void peak. Peak 2 represents the target protein rKatA and peak 3 represent the imidazole which is quit a smaller molecular weight. B. A typical SDS-PAGE analysis of the fractions from the size exclusion purification of rKatA to confirm the presence of the target protein. Lane 1, prestained protein standard, Lane 2, pooled fractions 6, 7 and 8, Lane 3 is the concentrated fraction protein using a vivaspin concentrator.

В

¹ 2.4.1.6 rGGT purification by Size-exclusion chromatography

The chromatogram of rGGT samples subjected to purification by SEC column and collected in of 5 ml fractions (Figure 2.10 A). Each of the fractions was resolved on 10% SDS-PAGE gel confirm the presence of the desired protein. Eluted fraction 6, 7 and 8, comparing the expected molecular weight from the calibration curve of the standard and the peaks from the purification run. The SDS-PAGE (Figure 2.10 B) shows asymmetric rGGT elution, indicating a homogenous elution of rGGT at about 90% purity.



Figure 2.10. A typical size exclusion (SE)/gel filtration chromatogram/ trace for rGGT purification. A. The vertical / X-axis indicates the level of absorbance downstream of the column measured by the UV detector in miliabsorbance units at 280 nm. The horizontal/Y-axis indicates the volumes separated by the system and collection in fractions of 5 ml. The fractions are indicated by rows of red lines with each peak representing the volume contain the proteins. The peak number 1 represents the larger aggregate of proteins also known as the void peak. Peak 2 represents the target protein rGGT and peak 3 represent the imidazole which is the smaller molecular weight. B. A typical SDS-PAGE analysis of the fractions from the size exclusion purification of rGGT to confirm the presence of the target protein. Lane 1, prestained protein standard, Lane 3, a pooled fraction of 6 and 7, 8, Lane 2, is the concentrated the fraction containing the protein using vivaspin concentrator.

2.4.2 Western Blot analysis of Size exclusion chromatography purified recombinant proteins.

To confirm the identity of the three purified proteins (Section 2.4.1), each of the protein products from the second step of the purification process was resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred on to a nitrocellulose filter and probed with an anti-hexahistidine-tagged antibody. The bands were visualised using a chemiluminescent substrate and autoradiography film (Figure 2.11). The sizes of the bands were compared with a prestained protein marker.





2.4.3 Catalase Assay

2.4.3.1 Qualitative Catalase biochemical test

Catalase is a very active enzyme that can degrade in the removal of peroxides such as hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2). Catalase acts on H_2O_2 to releases oxygen bubbles in the form of effervescence. Therefore, the catalase produced and purified above (Section 2.4.1.6) was subjected to this simple test, by

adding 2μ l of 3% H₂O₂ to the 2μ l of Catalase solution on a clean glass slide. Effervescence was produced on the catalase slide depicting catalase activity, while no effervescence was observed on the control containing the rGGT produced above (Section 2.4.1.6). Therefore, the purified recombinant KatA (catalase) retains its activity throughout the purification process.



Figure 2.12 Qualitative Catalase biochemical test. The rKatA purified was placed on a glass slide (5 μ L) with 5 μ L of rGGT on another slide as control, 5 μ L of 3 % H₂O₂ was added to each of the slides and prompt effervescence indicates presence and activity of the catalase. A. Contain the purified rGGT and produce no effervescence. B. Contain the rKatA and shows the presence of effervescence.

2.4.3.2 Catalase activity

To quantitatively measure the activity of the recombinant purified *H*. *pylori* catalase (KatA) (Section 2.4.1.6), a commercially available Amplex® Red Catalase A standard curve was used to determine the level of activity in the sample. (Table 2.1) The assays determined that the purified recombinant catalase protein at the concentration of 317.849 µg/ml had an enzymatic activity of 3.572 U/µg.

Table 2.1. Catalase activity

Protein concentration (µg/mL) Catalase activity (U/mL)

317.849 (Neat)

3.572

2.4.4 Investigation of the role of KatA, PPT and GGT in Immunomodulation

2.4.4.1 Analysis of the ability of rKatA, rGGT and rPPT to inhibit IL-2 production by activated Jurkat T cells

To investigate the ability of the purified recombinant proteins to inhibit activation of T cells, a Jurkat T cell suppression assay, previously used by Gebert et al.(Gebert et al., 2003) was employed with a readout of IL-2 production.

In a dose-dependent manner 10 μ g/ml, 25 μ g/ml and 50 μ g/ml of rKatA were used to treat Jurkat cell for 1 hour. To ensure the effectiveness of the Tris buffer (50 mM Tris base pH 8.8, 200 mM NaCl) in which the protein is stored did not affect the outcome of the investigation, control cells were treated with the buffer only. Subsequently, the cells were stimulated with 20 ng/ml PMA/ 1 μ M ionomycin for 24 hours. The supernatants were harvested by centrifugation and the levels of IL-2 expression were measured by ELISA.

The buffer alone was found not to have a significant detrimental effect on the cells (presented below in Figure 2.14). The results showed dosedependent reductions in IL-2 production, however, significant differences from the buffer control were found only with the highest concentration of rKatA (50 μ g/ml) (P<0.05) (Figure 2.14A) and with only 50 μ g/ml rGGT (P<0.05) (Figure 2.14B). There was no significant difference for all concentrations of rPPT although there were observable changes with 25 - 50 μ g/ml.



Figure 2.13 Effects of purified KatA, GGT and PPT on IL-2 secretion by Jurkat T cells. Effects of purified KatA, GGT and PPT on IL-2 secretion by Jurkat T cells. Jurkat cells were seeded in 96-well plates at 1 x 10⁶ per well and were pretreated with purified rKatA, rGGT and rPPT at the indicated concentrations for 1 hour at 37°C and 5% CO₂. The cells were then stimulated with phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) (50 ng/ml) and ionomycin (500 ng/ml). After 24 hours the cells were pelleted and the concentration of IL-2 in the supernatant was analysed by ELISA. Bars represent the mean and standard deviation from three

independent experiments. (A) Only the highest concentration of rKatA (50 μ g/ml) significantly reduced the IL-2 response (P<0.05). (B) Also, with only 50 μ g/ml rGGT significantly suppressed IL-2 secretion (P<0.05). (C) rPPT did not have immunomodulatory activity on Jurkat cells.

2.4.4.2 Analysis of the ability of rKatA, rGGT and rPPT in the inhibition of IL-6 production in monocytic THP-1 cells.

Similarly, the ability of the *H. pylori* factors under investigation to suppress IL-6 production in Monocyte-macrophage cell model was also investigated.

As shown in the Figure 2.15 A, B, C with all the concentration of proteins, rKatA, rGGT and rPPT, 10, 25 and 50 μ g/ml there was no significant suppression of IL-6 compared to the Tris buffer control. There were trends for changes in the level IL-6 with an increase in the concentration of the proteins, especially with rKatA and rGGT.



Figure 2.14 Effects of purified KatA, GGT and PPT on IL-6 secretion by THP-1 cells. Effects of purified KatA, GGT and PPT on IL-6 secretion by THP-1 cells (monocyte-macrophage cell model). THP-1 cells were seeded in 96-well plates at 1×10^6 per well and were pretreated with purified rKatA, rGGT and rPPT at the indicated concentrations for 1 hour at 37°C and 5% CO₂. The cells were then stimulated with LPS. After 24 hours the cells were pelleted and the

concentration of IL-6 in the supernatant was analysed by ELISA. Bars represent the means and standard deviations of three independent experiments. There was an inhibition of IL-6 with rKatA, rGGT and rPPT, but the difference were not statistically significant.

2.4.4.3 Analysis of the ability of rKatA, rGGT and rPPT in the inhibition of IL-8 production in AGS cells

Following a similar technique described in section---- used in for Jurkat cells IL-2 suppression assay, the ability of the proteins- rKatA, rGGT and rPPT to suppress IL-8 in epithelial cells were tested.

In all the concentrations (10, 25 and 50 μ g/ml) of the recombinant proteins, rGGT and rPPT, there was no suppression of IL-8 secretion compared to the tris buffer (Figure 2.16 B and C). The plots rather showed an increase in IL-8. rKatA (Figure 2.16 A) at concentrations 10 and 25 μ g/ml exhibited no suppression of IL-8 secretion compared to the Tris buffer but only 50 μ g/ml concentration showed suppression of the cytokine but still significant to conclude on the effect.



Figure 2.15 Effects of purified KatA, GGT and PPT on IL-6 secretion by AGS cells. Effects of purified KatA, GGT and PPT on IL-8 secretion by AGS cells monocytemacrophage. THP-1 cells were seeded in 24-well plates at 1×10^6 per well and were pretreated with purified rKatA, rGGT and rPPT at the indicated concentrations for 1 hour at 37°C. The cells were then stimulated with TNf- α . After 24 hours the cells were pelleted and the concentration of IL-8 in the supernatant was analysed by ELISA. Bars represent the means and standard deviations of three independent experiments. There was an inhibition of IL-8 with rKatA, rGGT and rPPT, but the difference were not statistically significant. Bars represent the means and standard deviations of three

independent experiments. There was an inhibition of IL-8 with rKatA, rGGT and rPPT, but the differences were not statistically significant

2.5 Discussion

The ultimate aim of this study was to investigate the ability *H. pylori* factors that suppress inflammation by interacting with a variety of cell types. The main conclusion from the present results was that KatA and GGT showed significant immunoregulatory activities by inhibiting IL-2 production T cell model, similarly KatA, GGT and PPT showed a trend in in reduction of IL-6 production in macrophage-monocyte cell model with increase in concentration of the proteins. Present results point towards possible alternative ways utilised by the bacteria to down-regulate inflammation in the gastric mucosa.

2.5.1 Recombinant proteins expression and purification

Fitting to the purpose for which the proteins were to be tested, the recombinant proteins KatA, GGT and PPT were successfully expressed in ClearColi®BL21 (DE3) electrocompetent cells but not without problem. These all were used to avoid contamination of the protein by LPS. Unfortunately, ClearColi (DE3) is known to grow 50% slower than po most *E. coli* strains such as BL21 (DE3) (Lucigen, 2019)and B834. Thus, longer growth time is needed to reach the required optical density (OD) prior to the protein induction and as such protein yield at optimal exponential growth phase were low compared to the wild type. To overcome the low yield, several batches of the induced proteins are needed to obtain a concentration that could be purified using gel filtration, especially with GGT.

The recombinant protein was purified in a two-step purification process according to the features of the proteins, which are the hexahistidine at the Nterminal and the sizes. This is deemed necessary as the purified product of metal immobilised affinity chromatography (the first step) could be contaminated by other *E. coli* proteins such as SlyD (29kDa). SlyD has (Parsy et al., 2007). Hence, the second step, size exclusion chromatography (SEC) was used to ensure that purer proteins were obtained, this technique separates the proteins, based on the sizes of the constituent molecules. Regardless, there could still be the probability of having a contaminant of rich histidine domain, which might show affinity and the same size as the targeted recombinant proteins. For rKatA, a combination of quantitative and qualitative catalase enzyme assays helped to prove its biological activities. The anti-his-tagged Western Blot assay, which probes for the hexahistidine sequence at the Nterminal of each of the protein using a monoclonal antibody provides extra assurance of the purity of the recombinant proteins.

The use of the ClearColi[®] BL21(DE3) electrocompetent cells, commercially available cells, as the host for the recombinant plasmids, reduced the chances of common LPS contamination of a recombinant protein preparation from the host *E. coli* (Heumann and Roger, 2002, Mamat et al., 2015). More than half of recombinant proteins in biopharmaceutical and research industries are produced in *E. coli* and stand a chance of being contaminated with the immunostimulatory molecule LPS(Huang et al., 2012). Unfortunately, no known post expression method has been successfully used

to entirely eliminate LPS from recombinant protein products (Wakelin et al., 2006). Some of the few post expression LPS removal methods such as Triton X separation, adsorption on activated carbon, ultrafiltration, anion-exchange chromatography, IMAC and polymyxin B treatment are known to be inefficient and poor selectivity (Petsch and Anspach, 2000). LPS is a known agonist of TLR4, CD14 and MD-2 receptor complex which is present in several cells of the innate immune system (Triantafilou and Triantafilou, 2002). The recognition of the receptor complex enables the phosphorylation and recruitment of the cascade of intracellular adaptor kinases leading to NF-κB activation and subsequent pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion (Palsson-McDermott and O'Neill, 2004, Rossol et al., 2011). In the light of these, instead of post-processing removal of LPS, the LPS was genetically modified to lipid IV_A in a BL21 (DE3) background. This bacteria cell line was created to process uncontaminated recombinant proteins. This was achieved by seven genetic deletions (Δ gutQ Δ kdsD Δ lpxL Δ lpxM Δ pagP Δ lpxP Δ eptA) which alter the LPS to Lipid IV_A and one additional mutation to preserve the viability of the cells with Lipid IV_A. This newly created ClearColi[®] cells lack the agonists for TLR4/MD-2 activation, therefore the signal from the ClearColi are reported to be far lower in magnitude compared to the wild-type. Similarly, recombinant proteins prepared from ClearColi[®] are practically endotoxin-free with minimal purification (Lucigen, 2019, Mamat et al., 2015). To avoid extraneous contamination of preparations, all water sources used were commercially available endotoxin free, heat treat depyrogenated glassware were employed, brand new purification column was

purchased, disposable pipette tips were used, and good laboratory sterile cleaning technique were the precautionary measures employed.

Although using ClearColi[®] BL21 (DE3) afford purity and immunological advantages especially in that the proteins are free from LPS, there are a number of drawbacks in using this strain. ClearColi[®] BL21 (DE3) has a slow growth rate compared to wildtype and this, in turn, affects the overexpression of the protein.

2.5.2 Investigation of the mechanism through which KatA, GGT and PPT contribute to immune regulation

In this study the suppression assay was used to investigate any possible mechanism of KatA, GGT and PPT mediated regulation. The assay was suppression of IL-2 in T-cell model (Jurkat cells), IL-6 in the monocyte-macrophage model (THP-1 cells) and epithelial cell model (AGS cells). With the exception of IL-8 secretion in AGS, GGT and KatA at high concentration suppressed significantly the expression of the IL-2 and IL-6 in Jurkat and THP-1 cells. The result offers a substantial optimism for the mechanistic study of secretion process of the protein *in vivo* and the mechanism of their interaction downstream of immune cells.

2.5.2.1 IL-2 suppression in Jurkat cells

T cells has been shown to be vital in eradiction of bacterial infection (Ermak et al., 1998). However, *H. pylori* VacA protein was shown to block T cell proliferation and activation by arresting G₁/S cycle following stimulation with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) and ionomycin (Gebert et al., 2003, Torres et al., 2007). The report explained that VacA interferes with the T cell receptor/interleukin-2 signalling pathway by inhibiting the transcription factor NFAT leading to downregulation of IL-2 transcription. PMA is an analogue of diacylglycerol that stimulates Jurkat cell by diffusing into the cell and activating protein kinase C(PKC). It works synergistically with lonomycin, a calcium ionophore, to elicits calcium release (Chatila et al., 1989).

The result of this experiment showed that a high concentration of (50 µg/ml) KatA and GGT strongly suppressed IL-2 secretion by Jurkat cells (79.5% reduction with 50 µg/ml, p<0.05), while PPT did not suppress IL-2 production in Jurkat cell. The potential and the mechanism through which GGT inhibits IL-2 production could be associated to its capacity to block T-cell proliferation by induction of cell cycle arrest from G1 via suppression of G1 cyclin-dependent kinase activity(Gerhard et al., 2005) this is in similar fashion as the mechanism utilised by VacA (Sundrud et al., 2004, Sewald et al., 2011). This is in contrast to *H. pylori* KatA activity on which has no known direct immune-regulatory attribute on T cell prior to this research.

In the past, most of KatA immunoregulatory properties have been in an indirect manner and mainly linked to its activities as an antioxidant molecule

(Seo et al., 2002). But with the result of this experiment showing that IL-2 is suppressed at the highest concentration of KatA, it is only logical to assume that KatA suppression of IL-2 is concentration-dependent and it is only at 50 μ g/ml that KatA is enriched enough to exact immunosuppression. The argument is deemed strong when compared to VacA, another H. pylori factor that is secreted via a type V auto-transport mechanism (Palframan et al., 2012) and therefore easily accessible to immune cells in enriched level sufficient to exact immunosuppression. On the other hand, KatA is a cytoplasmic protein with no known signal-protein sequence for translocation across the cell envelope. Although reports have shown the presence of this enzyme both in the periplasmic space and on the bacterial cell surface (Harris et al., 2003, Phadnis et al., 1996), a number of recent researches have reported the presence of KatA in the outer membrane vesicles (OMV) that are constitutively shed by *H. pylori* (Wang et al., 2006, Mullaney et al., 2009). Surprisingly, till date, no other means of translocation of this protein is known, yet it is constantly found in abundance in the environment of *H. pylori* both in vivo and in vitro. Furthermore, more than 7% of the OMV was shown to be KatA alone (Mullaney et al., 2009). Lekmeechai et al in their recent work showed that KatA is enriched in the OMV the compared with the outer-membrane of an intact bacterial cell, up to sevenfold higher (Lekmeechai et al., 2018).

With this knowledge, it could be speculated that the KatA immunosuppressive activity would be more pronounced *in vivo* where it is concentrated to a significantly higher through the aid of OMV.

Additionally, as there has been no evidence of any known KatA receptor on any cell surface, it is suspected that KatA could probably be binding to an internal receptor or molecule. Past studies have shown that the key mechanism bacterial OMV mediated inflammation is in its ability to penetrate nonphagocytic cells and induce production of cytokines (Kaparakis et al., 2010, Bomberger et al., 2009, Chatterjee and Chaudhuri, 2011). While *H. pylori*, is known to be non invasive, nevertheless the bacteria, still could deliver factors into the host cells (Parker et al., 2010).

Hence, we conclude that at high concentration, which is evidently possible *in vivo*, there is a possibility that KatA plays a role in the immunoregulatory function of *H. pylori*.

2.5.2.2 IL-6 suppression in THP-1

During almost every inflammation condition cytokines such as IL-1, TNF- α and IL-6 are usually elicited and hence are been of the prominent targets for anti-inflammatory therapy (Scheller et al., 2011). IL-6 is a 21-28 kDa glycosylated protein which binds to the IL-6 receptor, IL-6R, (gp80) and type I transmembrane signal transducer protein (gp130). To activate the JAK/STAT, ERK and P13K pathways, IL-6 binds to the IL-6R to form a complex which in turn binds to the two molecules of gp130, leading to signal transduction and this is called classical signalling (Oberg et al., 2006). In macrophages, neutrophils, some T cells and hepatocytes express IL-6R on the surface while gp130 are present on most cells (Rose-John et al., 2007, J and S, 2006). But to complement the absence of IL-6R on most the cells surfaces there is soluble IL-6 receptor (sIL-6R) in the plasma, which complex with IL-6 to agonistically bind to gp130expressing cells (Rose-John and Heinrich, 1994, Rose-John et al., 2007). This activation by sIL-6R/IL-6 complex of cells expressing gp130 only, called trans signalling, is very important in inflammation especially for lymphocyte attraction into the area of inflammation and promotion of T cell proliferation (Chalaris et al., 2007, Chen et al., 2006). Consequently, turning off production IL-6 in THP-1 step using the rKatA, rGGT and rPPT will be steps toward therapeutic blockade of IL-6 effect.

The result did not show a significant reduction in IL-6 production in THP-1 cell stimulated with LPS. interestingly to see that there is a noticeable change in IL-6 level as the concentration of each factor increases. GGT was most effective in suppressing IL-6 from THP-1 cells (68.07% reduction with 50 µg/ml).

2.5.2.3 IL-8 suppression in AGS cell

IL-8, a member of the CXC chemokine family was formerly known as a neutrophil chemoattractant (Schroder et al., 1987, Walz et al., 1987). It is also known as CXCL8 and is known to play an important role in inflammation and defence mechanisms (Zlotnik and Yoshie, 2000). Further research has shown that IL-8 could perform other functions apart from being a chemoattractant for neutrophils in acute and chronic inflammation in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT). The pool of IL-8 in the GIT is generally from both local cells such as epithelial cells, endothelial, fibroblasts, and migratory cells, such as monocyte and neutrophils. IL-8 expression can be acute, as in the case of microbial infection and reports have shown continuous IL-8 production in cancerous gastric epithelial cells. Dysregulation of IL-8 is hypothesized to play a part in the pathophysiology of the development of several diseases, and IL-8 could, therefore, be a target for therapeutic use as a potential biomarker (Cotton et al., 2015). *H. pylori* is known to induce IL-8 cytokine secretion in the gastric epithelial cell line *in vitro* in a sequence of events that culminates in activation tyrosine kinase activation and NF-κB pathway (Sharma et al., 1995, Sharma et al., 1998). Consequently most studies have focused on the induction of IL-8 by *H. pylori* in the mucosal especially in relation to *cag* PAI (Peek et al., 1995, Yamaoka et al., 2006, Crabtree JE, 1994, Yamaoka, 2010).

An experiment was set up to investigate immunosuppression of one more pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-8, by the *H. pylori* factors, GGT, KatA and PPT in AGS cells stimulated with TNF- α . Interestingly, the GGT results showed the opposite, raising the question of whether the molecules could be playing a role in proinflammation induction. KatA showed a noticeable trend in the reduction in IL-8 production at a concentration of 50 µg/ml which is not statistically significant, similar to result obtained with PPT. Conversely, GGT tends to show in the concentration of IL-8 with the increase in the concentration of the protein. Two studies reported the abrogation of IL-8 induction in epithelial when there is a loss of function of genes close to the *cag*

PAI (Li et al., 1999, Sharma et al., 1998). Their results showed that IL-8 induction in AGS is mainly abrogated by molecules exhibiting protein tyrosine kinase inhibitors. While Segal et al using kinase inhibitors, staurosporine and genistein, reported that besides of tyrosine phosphorylation of the cellular 145 kDa protein with inhibition in IL-8, there could be other ways of IL-8 inhibition which is independent of tyrosine phosphorylation (Segal et al., 1997).

In several studies, IL-8 expression down-regulation has been widely reported in epithelial and endothelial cells in a redox responsive transcriptional manner (DeForge et al., 1993, Roebuck, 1999, Lakshminarayanan et al., 1997, Lakshminarayanan et al., 1998, Vlahopoulos et al., 1999). But it was Lekstrom-Himes et al that showed that catalase specifically has the ability to significantly suppress IL-8 expression by suppression the IL-8 mRNA transcription (Lekstrom-Himes et al., 2005). They reported that catalase performs this function by acting as hydrogen peroxide scavenger. Hydrogen peroxide is to chemically inhibit the activities NADPHnoxidase activity thereby stimulating the increase in IL-8 mRNA production in cells. Nevertheless, the result of this experiment failed to establish any of this with H. pylori KatA.

2.6 Conclusion

- KatA and GGT at high concentration of 50 μg/ml significantly inhibit IL-2 in T cells model and could be deemed to have had direct immunosuppressive activities.
- PPT are not immunosuppressive in T cell model

- The three *H. pylori* factors do significantly suppress IL-6 production in a monocyte-macrophage cell model, although there were trends on decrease cytokine production with the increase in the concentration of the proteins.
- IL-8 production in epithelial cell model was not significantly suppressed by any of the factors but KatA and PPT showed a trend in reduction of the cytokine production. Conversely, GGT was shown to increase the production of IL-8 in AGS cells

Chapter 3

In vivo investigation of immunoregulatory properties of Helicobacter pylori infection VacA

3.1 Introduction

Originally, the virulence factor, VacA was primarily known by its vacuolating activity in the eukaryotic cytoplasm (de Bernard et al., 1997). In recent decades, VacA researches have revealed so many other functions of the protein, one of which is immunomodulatory activities. This activity of VacA on the immune cells could be perceived to be a very important step towards the understanding of the colonisation ability of the bacteria. In mouse models, Salama et al reported that the wild type strains expressing VacA readily outcompete the mutant strains lacking VacA in a mixed infection of the mouse stomach: showed that a VacA plays a role in the establishment of infection hence, in a single infection, the ID₅₀ of the wild type was two times higher than the mutant (Salama et al., 2001a). Oertli et al working on VacA and GGT established a similar result of the inefficiency of vacA mutant to colonise compare to the wild type (Oertli et al., 2013a). It has been revealed also that most of the human isolates are positive for vacA-positive, although there is variation in the alleles and expression level (Xiang et al., 1995). A study by Winter *et al* on the allelic differences revealed that *H. pylori* producing the less active type s2i2 form of VacA promote colonisation the mice gastric efficiently than the VacA deficient isotype or the more active s1i1 form. On the other hand, the more active form of VacA was implicated in the study for induction of extensive metaplasia and inflammation in mouse compared to the less active form (Winter et al., 2014). Other studies were also in agreement with finding, additionally, they also reported the association between s1i1 strains with gastric cancer and premalignant lesions (Rhead et al., 2007, Basso et al., 2008). The inference from these reports answers the question of why *H. pylori* strains would actively be producing a supposedly "not needed molecule" – the nonactive toxin? Which could go on to explain that it largely performs other functions different from the toxin activities. Hence, cytotoxic activities and immunological activities are divergent and unrelated.

The immunomodulation effect of VacA has been well studied to shed light on a number mechanism through which this is achieved. These include interference with phagosome maturation and intracellular trafficking in macrophages (Allen et al., 2000), interference with T-cell receptor/interleukin-2 signalling pathway through the Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent phosphatase calcineurin which culminates in VacA inhibition of T-cell proliferation and finally, promotion of differentiation of regulatory T-cell by hijacking the development of dendritic cells (DC)(Djekic and Müller, 2016).

3.2 Hypothesis

One of the profound effects *H. pylori* on the immune system, both in vivo and in vitro, is its ability to reprogram of the DC towards tolerogenic phenotype, and consequently the bacteria colonisation (Wang et al., 2010). Downstream, the reprogrammed DC is skewed towar5ds priming the regulatory T-cell instead of the effector T-cells (Th1 and TH17) thereby favouring an anti-inflammatory immune response over a pro-inflammatory response (Oertli et al., 2012). A study by Oertli et al on the immunomodulatory effect of VacA prove similar effect as the H. pylori itself. They demonstrated that DCs isolated and purified immunomagnetically from mice infected with wild-type (VacA-proficient) *H. pylori* strains and those from the uninfected mice or VacA mutant infection exhibit a remarkable difference in the type of T-cell response. They showed induction of regulatory T-cell response by DCs from the wild type as opposed to the DCs from either uninfected or VacA mutant (s1i1) infected mice, which exhibited proinflammatory responses characterised by a higher number of Th1, Th17, their associate cytokine; IFN- γ and IL-17 as well as low numbers of Foxp3⁺ CD25⁺ regulatory T-cells. In addition to these, they also confirmed the lower colonisation level among the VacA mutant compared to the wild type(s2i2) (Oertli et al., 2013a).

This study and many other similar studies failed to provide information on the difference in regulatory T-cell induction by various VacA variants. But since it has already been proven that less vacuolating cytotoxic form promotes colonisation more efficiently compared to the more toxic form (Winter et al., 2014), we hypothesis that the non-cytotoxic VacA type, s2i2 promotes the induction of CD4⁺CD25^{hi}Foxp3⁺ Treg more efficiently than the toxic VacA type. Therefore, the following objectives were set out.

- To compare the CD4⁺ T lymphocyte frequencies in the spleens of uninfected and *H. pylori*-infected mice at different time intervals of 3, 6 and 9 weeks.
- To quantify the fraction of this CD4⁺ T lymphocyte exhibiting
 Treg properties of CD4⁺CD25^{hi}Foxp3⁺ and signature cytokine IL 10.
- To compare the difference in CD4⁺CD25^{hi}Foxp3⁺ Treg frequencies in mice infected with different forms of VacA expressing H. pylori
- To compare the suppressive potential of Treg from the spleen of uninfected mice and VacA-proficient *H. pylori*-infected mice

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Study team and organisation

This experiment was carried out as part of multidisciplinary researches in the *Helicobacter pylori* research group of the Nottingham Digestive Disease Centre. This comprises of the Molecular microbiology team, Immunology team and PhD students lead by Dr Karen Robinson, Dr Darren Lentley, Dr Kazuyo Kaneko, Mrs Jo Rhead, Dona Reddiar and yours sincerely. The experimental procedures were carried out under Home Office project licence number 30/3298, with ethics approval and in line with institutional guidelines on animal welfare.

3.3.2 Infection of mice with *H. pylori*

The 6 weeks old female C57BL/6 mice were obtained from Charles River. They were housed and feed appropriately and allowed to acclimatise one week before the experiment began.

Groups of 18 female 6-week-old C57BL/6 mice were infected with *H. pylori* by administering oral doses of 100 μ l of Brucella broth (Difco Laboratories) containing 1 x 10⁹ bacteria of the SS1 strain (either the wild type expressing the s2/i2 form of VacA or a mutant strain expressing the s1/i1 form of VacA). Doses were administered on three alternate days. A further 18 mice received oral doses of plain Brucella broth as a placebo control. At 3 weeks, 6 weeks and 9 weeks post-infection one-third of each treatment group was terminated. Colonization densities and histological parameters were assessed from stomach tissue and spleens were removed for comparative analyses of the immune response.

3.3.3 Splenocyte preparation

Spleens were removed and rubbed through a 40 μ m cell strainer (BD Biosciences Oxford, UK) using a sterile disposable 1 ml syringe. The splenocyte suspensions were washed and a sample was removed and mixed with 3% acetic acid with methylene blue (Stemcell Research) for counting using a haemocytometer. The cell concentration was then adjusted to 1 x 10⁷ per ml, suspending the cells in culture medium (RPMI with 10% foetal calf serum (FCS)/100U/ penicillin G/100 µg/ml streptomycin sulphate).

3.3.4 Quantifying Tregs amongst splenocytes

1ml of each splenocyte suspension (containing 1 x 10^7 cells) was centrifuged at 300 x g for 3 minutes and resuspended in 1 ml red blood cell lysing buffer (Sigma Aldrich). After 1 minute 10 ml of culture medium was added and the cells were washed twice, spinning the tubes at 300 x g for 3 minutes. Finally, the cells were resuspended in 10 ml of culture medium.

130 μ l of phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) / lipopolysaccharide (LPS)/ionomycin stimulation cocktail was added to 1 ml of the cell suspensions in sterile tubes and incubated at 37°C in an atmosphere with 5% carbon dioxide

for 1 hour. 10 μ l Brefeldin A Solution (BFA) was added to the tubes to give a final concentration of 1 x 10⁶ per ml and incubated at 37°C for a further 5 hours.

Unstimulated controls were prepared from each cell suspension. These were stored in the cold room at 4°C.

3.3.5 Cell staining and flow cytometry

Following incubation, the cells were pelleted at 300 x g for 5 minutes before staining with the appropriate combination of fluorochrome-conjugated monoclonal antibodies against extracellular markers CD4 and CD25 (see Table 3.1

TABLE 3.1 Flow cytometry antibodies for	quantification of	Treg cells.
--	-------------------	-------------

Marker	Antibody- fluorochrome conjugate	Manufacturer	Catalogue	Volume per tube	Clone		
Extracellular antibodies added directly to the cell pellet							
CD4	PE/Dazzle Anti-mouse CD4	Biolegend	100566	1 μΙ	RM4-5		
CD25	BV421 Anti- mouse CD25	Biolegend	102043	0.5 μl	PC61		
Intracellular antibodies added to cells							
Foxp3	FITC Anti- mouse FOXP3	eBioscience	11-5773- 82	1 μΙ	FJK-16s		
IL-10	AF647 Anti- mouse IL-10	Biolegend	505016	0.5 μl	JESS-16E3		
Isotype controls							
lso-CD25	BV421 anti- mouse IgG1	Biolegend	401911	0.5 μl	GO114F7		
lso-Foxp3	FITC anti- mouse IgG2a	Biolegend	400505	1 μΙ	RTK2758		
lso-IL-10	AF647 anti- mouse IgG2b	Biolegend	400626	0.5 μl	RTK4530		

NB: PE, phycoerythrin;

FITC, fluorescein isothiocyanate;

BV421, BD Horizon; Alexa Fluor 647

Antibodies against CD4 and CD25 were added and the tubes were incubated on ice for 30 min. The cells were then washed twice with 1 ml PBA buffer (phosphate-buffered saline (Oxoid) containing 2% bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma) and 0.1% sodium azide (Sigma)), before fixing in 0.5 ml fixation buffer (Biolegend) at room temperature for 20 mins in the dark.

Cells were then washed with 1 ml PBA and permeabilized by washing first with 1 ml PBA-saponin (PBA with 0.1% saponin (Sigma), and then with 1 ml PBA-saponin/10% FCS. The cell pellet was then stained with the IL-10 antibody conjugate according to a previously described protocol (Biolegend), incubating for 2 hours at 4°C with periodic gentle mixing. At the end of the incubation, the cells were washed with 1 ml PBA-saponin and then with 1 ml 1x Perm buffer (Biolegend), before adding 1 ml 1x Perm buffer and incubating at room temperature for 10 min in the dark. The cells were pelleted, and Foxp3 antibody conjugate was added directly to the pellet and incubated at room temperature for a further 30 min in the dark. After the incubation, the cells were washed twice in 1 ml PBA and finally resuspended in 0.5 ml PBA.

Data on 200,000 events were acquired using a MoFlo Astros EQ flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter). Controls consisted of unstained cells, cells stained with a single fluorochrome-conjugated antibody and the staining antibody combinations minus one. These were included to optimise compensation settings. Data analysis was performed using Kaluza Analysis 1.5a (Beckman Coulter).

3.3.6 T cell isolation

CD4⁺ CD25⁺ T regulatory (Treg) cells and CD4⁺ CD25⁻ T effector cells (Teff) were purified from the splenocyte suspensions from the treatment groups using a magnetic bead separation kit (Miltenyi Biotec). Because of the requirement for large numbers of cells for this process, 5 x 10⁷ cells from each of the two samples were combined. Each group of six splenocyte suspensions, therefore, resulted in three purifications per group. CD4⁺ CD25⁻ splenocytes from a further two untreated animals were also purified in the same way to generate a single pool of CD4⁺ CD25⁻ T responder (Tresp) cells for functional suppression assays.

Each spleen cell suspension was passed through a pre-separation filter (Miltenyi Biotec, cat. 130-041-407) to remove clumps and then centrifuged for 3 minutes at 200 x g. The supernatant was removed completely, and the cells were suspended in 400 μ l of MACS buffer (2.5 ml MACS BSA Stock Solution and 50 ml MACS rinsing solution, Miltenyi Biotec). Then 100 μ l CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cell biotin-antibody cocktail was added, and the tubes were incubated for 10 minutes at 4°C.

The cells suspension was then applied to an LD column in a midiMACS separator (Miltenyi Biotec) which negatively separated the CD4⁺ cells. These cells, which were not retained on the column, were spun down and re-suspended in 900 μ l of MACS buffer (Miltenyi Biotec). Then 100 μ l anti-PE microbead cocktail (a mixture of 300 μ l MACS buffer + 200 μ l antibiotin microbeads + 100 μ l CD25-PE antibody) was added to the cells and incubated for 15 minutes at 4°C.
At the end of the incubation, the cell suspension was applied to an MS column in a miniMACS separator (Miltenyi Biotec), for positive selection of CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells on the column whilst CD4⁺CD25⁻ cells flowed through. The CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells were collected by removing the column from the magnetic separator, applying 1 ml of MACS buffer and using the column plunger to expel the cells. To ensure high purity of CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells the collected cells underwent a further purification cycle, applying the suspension to a new MS column.

The purified CD4⁺CD25⁻ Tresp and Teff cells and CD4⁺CD25⁺ Treg cells were spun down at 200 x g for 3 minutes and re-suspended in a culture medium, counted and adjusted to 1 x 10⁶ cells/ml.

3.3.7 Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) labelling of Tresp cells

To investigate the Tregs functional suppression assay, the CD4⁺CD25⁻ Tresp cells isolated from uninfected mice were spun down at 200 x g for 3 minutes. The pellet was resuspended in 4.5 ml of CFSE (10 μ l of 5mM CFSE stock solution in 5 ml 0.1% BSA/PBS) and incubated at 37°C for 10 minutes. At the end of the incubation, 20 ml of culture medium was added, and the cells were retained on ice for 5 minutes. The cells were then washed three times and finally re-suspended in 4.5 ml culture medium (1 x10⁶ per ml).

3.3.8 Treg functional suppression assay

A volume 50 μ l aliquots of the CFSE labelled Tresp cells were placed in 96 well plates. 50 μ l of four dilutions of Tregs (1 x 10⁶/ml, 0.5 x 10⁶/ml, 0.25 x 10⁶/ml and 0.125 x10⁶/ml) were added to the Tresp cells in triplicate wells. 100 μ l of Dynabeads mouse T-activator CD3/CD28 beads (5 x 10^5 beads/ml; Cat 11452) was added to all wells. Unlabelled Tresp only labelled Tresp with CD3/CD28 beads were included as controls. The plate was incubated at 37° C for 72 hours.

At the end of the 72 hours incubation period, the cells were collected into FACS tubes, fixed and re-suspended in 0.5 ml PBA.

Data on 50,000 events were acquired using Coulter FC500 flow cytometry (Beckman Coulter). Unlabelled cells, cells labelled with CFSE and stimulated, and cells labelled but not stimulated were included as controls. Data analysis was performed using Kaluza analysis 1.5a (Beckman Coulter).

3.3.9 Gating strategy

A gating strategy used to identify CD4⁺ T -cells, CD4⁺CD25^{hi}Foxp3⁺ Treg and IL-10 producing T lymphocyte was prepared and was used for identifying the cells from the spleen samples as shown in Figure 3.2.

3.3.10 Statistical analysis

Graphs were prepared and statistical analysis was carried out using GraphPad Prism software. Data are shown with mean ±SEM. Statistical significance was determined using a one-tailed Student T-test for data with a non-Gaussian distribution and ordinary one-way ANOVA. Differences were considered significant at p<0.05*, p<0.01** and p<0.001***

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Effect of *H. pylori* **VacA mutant SS1^{s1i1} and VacA wild-type SS1^{s2i2} strains on Gastric colonisation**

Previously, VacA has been shown to promote gastric mucosa colonisation in infected mice (Raju et al., 2012). In this experiment, we use SS1 VacA mutant strain (SS1^{s1i1}) expressing s1i1 VacA type and SS1 VacA wildtype (SS1^{s2i2}) expressing s2i2 VacA type and reinvestigated the previous finding on the difference in the role of VacA a type in the colonisation of the bacteria. Our result was consistent with the earlier finding by Winter et al, who showed that SS1^{s2i2} strain was better able to colonise better than SS1^{s1i1} (Winter et al., 2014). There was a significant difference in the colonisation of mutant SS1^{s1i1} and wildtype SS1^{s2i2} with the average colonisation of the wildtype being increased by approximately one order magnitude compared to the mutant *H. pylori* at 3 months and 9 weeks post-infection (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1 Colonisation density in the stomach of mice infected with two strains of **H. pylori** expressing different VacA type. The mice C57BL/6 were divided into two groups, one group were orally dosed with H. pylori SS1 wildtype (SS1^{s2i2}, in blue) and the other H. pylori SS1 mutant (SS1^{s1i1}, red) for 3 and 9 weeks. The colonisation density was measured at 3- and 9-weeks post-infection. The differences were considered significant at p<0.05.

3.4.2 Comparison of the IL-10-secreting T cell and Treg response to *H. pylori* infection in mice, and the impact of the vacA type

To investigate Treg and IL-10+ T cells levels in the spleens of 3 mice groups (broth placebo-dosed, SS1 wild-type strain-infected(s2i2 vacA) and SS1 (s1i1 vacA) mutant-infected group) at 3, 6 and 9 weeks post-infection, the cell suspension was stimulated with LPS, PMA and ionomycin for 6 hours, or was left unstimulated. The cells were then stained with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies and analysed by flow cytometry.

As shown in the representative gating strategy (figure 3.2), after gating from forward scatter and side scatter plots for the lymphocyte population, the percentage frequency of the CD4⁺ CD25^{hi}, CD4+ Foxp3^{hi}, and CD4⁺ IL-10⁺ among the total lymphocyte population was calculated. Of the CD4⁺ lymphocytes, the percentage frequency of the CD4⁺ CD25^{hi} IL-10⁺ and CD4⁺ CD25^{hi} Foxp3hi were analysed for each mouse and comparisons were made between the three treatment.



Figure 3.2 Representative flow cytometry plots depicting the gating strategy for quantification of regulatory T cells amongst stimulated (A) and unstimulated (B) spleen cells. Cells were stained with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies as follows: anti-CD4-PE/Dazzle, anti-CD25-BV421, anti-Foxp3-FITC and anti-IL-10-AF647 and including respective isotype control reagents. (A) The lymphocyte population was gated based on forward scatter (FSC) and side scatters (SSC) plots. (B) CD4⁺CD25^{hi} events were then identified from the lymphocyte gate. (C) Quadrant settings for identification of the CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ population from gated lymphocytes (B), guided using isotype controls. (D) Quadrant settings for

identification of the CD25^{hi}IL-10⁺ population from gated lymphocytes (B), guided using isotype controls.

3.4.2.1 Higher percentage frequency of CD4⁺ CD25^{hi} among unstimulated than stimulated spleen lymphocytes

Among the lymphocytes, a higher percentage frequency of CD4⁺ CD25^{hi} cells was observed in both *H. pylori*-infected groups, when the cells were left unstimulated compared to those that had been stimulated with mitogen. As shown in Figure 3.3 for 3 weeks, 6 weeks and 9 weeks post-infection there was a general decrease in the frequency of CD4⁺CD25^{hi} lymphocytes following stimulation. At 3 weeks post-infection there was a 2.6-fold difference (p= 0.0003) in cells from the wild-type infected group and a 2.1-fold difference (p <0.0001) in cells from those infected with mutant strain. At 6- and 9-weeks post-infection, there ware also significant differences in cells from those infected with mutant strain. At 6- and 9-weeks infected with the wild-type strain (p= 0.0005, p <0.0001 respectively) and mutant (p <0.0001, p <0.0001 respectively). At 6 weeks the unstimulated wild-type 1.6-fold higher than the stimulated and 1.5-fold for the mutant. While at 9 weeks the fold difference was 2.6 with the wild-type and 2.6 with the mutant.

There was no statistically significant difference in the frequencies of CD4⁺CD25^{hi} lymphocyte between the groups of mice infected with the wildtype and mutant strains, at any of the time points post-infection (Figure 3.3). This was observed whether the cells had undergone mitogen stimulation before flow cytometric analysis or not.



Figure 3.3. CD4+ CD25hi cell frequency in the spleen of groups of 3 mice treated with H. pylori or plain Brucella broth as placebo. Cells were stained with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies as follows: anti-CD4-PE/Dazzle, anti-CD25-BV421, anti-Foxp3-FITC and anti-IL-10-AF647 and including the respective isotype control reagents. The percentage of CD4⁺CD25^{hi} cells in the total lymphocyte population was determined for each sample (A), (B) and (C) depict the frequency of CD4⁺ CD25^{hi} cells at 3 weeks, 6 weeks and 9 weeks post-

infection respectively. The horizontal bar represents median values Statistical significance was determined using a paired t-test. Differences were considered significant at p<0.05. **** P<0.0001, ***P=0.005.

3.4.2.2 Higher percentage frequency of CD4⁺ Foxp3^{hi} cells among unstimulated compared to mitogen-stimulated splenic lymphocytes.

Comparing the frequencies of CD4⁺ Foxp3^{hi} cells among the three treatment groups (Figure 3.4) showed that there was higher frequency amongst unstimulated rather than stimulated cells from the wild-type infected group by 3.5-fold (p=0.0009) for 3weeks, 5.3-fold (p=0.0002) for 6 weeks and 2.4-fold (p <0.0001) for 9 weeks post-infection). A similar observation was made when analysing cells from the group mutant strain infected 3 weeks 2.6-fold (p=0.0003), 6 weeks 4.1-fold p=0.0012 and 9 weeks 2.9-fold (0.0001).

When comparing data from the stimulated cells, there were no significant differences in the frequencies of CD4⁺ Foxp3^{hi} cells between the wildtype and mutant infected groups at any of the time's post-infection (Figure 3.4). Unstimulated cells showed the same result at 3- and 6-weeks post-infection, however, there was a significant 1.2-fold difference in CD4⁺ Foxp3^{hi} cells (p=0.0313) between the wild-type and mutant groups at 9 weeks.





Statistical significance was determined using a paired t-test. Differences were considered significant at p<0.05.

3.4.2.3 Mitogen stimulated splenocytes contained higher frequencies of IL-10⁺ CD4⁺ T cells.

As expected from previous work done by the group significantly higher frequency of IL-10 producing CD4⁺ T lymphocytes was observed following the stimulation splenocytes. This was found at all three-time points (Figure 3.5), At 3 weeks 13-fold (p=0.0001) for the wild-type and 13-fold (p=0.0001) for the mutant, 6 weeks 10.6-fold (p=0.0019) for the wild-type and 11.3-fold (p=0.0012) for the mutant and at 9 weeks 11.3-fold (p<0.0001) for the wildtype and 12.2-fold (p=0.0001) for the mutant.

At the 3- and 6-week time points, there were no differences in the proportions of IL-10⁺ CD4⁺ T cells between the mice infected with the mutant and wild-type strains. At 9 weeks post-infection, however, mice infected with, the mutant (expressing the active s1i1 VacA) had a 1.6-fold higher percentage frequency of CD4⁺IL-10⁺ splenic lymphocytes (p= 0.0004).



Figure 3.5. CD4+ IL-10+ cell frequency in the spleen of groups of 3 mice treated with **H. pylori or** plain Brucella broth as placebo. Cells were stained with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies as follows: anti-CD4-PE/Dazzle, anti-CD25-BV421, anti-Foxp3-FITC and anti-IL-10-AF647 and including the respective isotype control reagents. The percentage of CD4⁺IL-10⁺ cells in the total lymphocyte population was determined for each sample (A), (B) and (C) depict the frequency of CD4⁺IL-10⁺ cells at 3 weeks, 6 weeks and 9 weeks post-infection respectively. The horizontal bars represent median values. Statistical significance was determined using a paired t-test. Differences were considered significant at p<0.05.

3.4.2.4 Comparison of Foxp3-expressing CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cell frequencies

To discover potential differences in the Treg response to infection, the proportions of CD25^{hi} and Foxp3⁺ events amongst gated CD4⁺ cells were analysed. The results were consistent with the previously described CD4⁺ CD25^{hi} data at all of the time points (Figure 3.6). Stimulation of the lymphocytes increased the proportion expressing Foxp3; but comparing the stimulated and unstimulated groups there was a decrease, for the wild-type, there was 13-fold (p<0.0001) decrease at 3 weeks, 10.8-fold (p=0.0002) at 6 weeks and 11.6-fold (p=0.0195) while amongst the mutant, at 3 weeks, 9.1-fold (p<0.0001) decrease, 10-fold (p=0.001) at 6 weeks and 10.4 (p=0.0144) at 9 weeks, but infection with wild-type or the mutant made no statistical difference.



Figure 3.6. CD4+ CD25hi Foxp3+ cell frequency in the spleen of groups of 3 mice treated with **H. pylori** and plain Brucella broth as placebo. Cells were stained with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies as follows: anti-CD4-PE/Dazzle, anti-CD25-BV421, anti-Foxp3-FITC and anti-IL-10-AF647 and including the respective isotype control reagents. The percentage of CD4⁺ CD25^{hi} Foxp3⁺ cells in the total lymphocyte population was determined for each sample (A), (B) and (C) depict the frequency of CD4⁺ CD25^{hi} Foxp3⁺ cells at 3 weeks, 6 weeks and 9 weeks post-infection respectively. the horizontal bar represents median values. Statistical significance was determined using a paired t-test. Differences were considered significant at p<0.05.

3.4.2.5 Comparison of IL-10-producing CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cell frequencies

To ascertain the proportions of CD25hi and IL-10+ events amongst gated CD4+ cells were analysed. Analysis of the intracellular IL-10 in CD4+ T CD25+ T cell both for the stimulated and unstimulated situation, the result was consistent with previous findings in the group, a significant increase in the IL-10+ following stimulation (Figure 3.7).with 3.3-fold (p=0.0014) increase amongst the wild-type 3 weeks, 3.8-fold (p=0.0001) at 6 weeks and 2.3-fold (p<0.0001) at 9 weeks. Comparing the mutants, at 3 weeks there was 4-fold (p=0.0029) increase, 6 weeks 3.2-fold (p=0.0009) and 2.5-fold (p<0.0001) at 9 weeks.



Figure 3.7. CD4+ CD25hi IL-10+ cell frequency in the spleen of groups of 3 mice treated with **H. pylori** and plain Brucella broth as placebo. Cells were stained with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies as follows: anti-CD4-PE/Dazzle, anti-CD25-BV421, anti-Foxp3-FITC and anti-IL-10-AF647 and including the respective isotype control reagents. The percentage of CD4⁺CD25^{hi}IL-10⁺ cells in the total lymphocyte population was determined for each sample (A), (B) and (C) is the frequency of CD4⁺ CD25^{hi} IL-10⁺cells at 3 weeks and 9 weeks postinfection respectively. The horizontal bars represent median values, and the statistical significance was determine using a paired t-test. Differences were considered significant at p<0.05.

3.4.3 Investigation of whether *H. pylori* infection influences the functional suppressive activity of regulatory T cells

To measure the suppressive function of CD4⁺ CD25^{hi} Treg cells isolated from the spleens of mice infected with the SS1 *H. pylori* strain or given plain broth as a placebo, they were mixed with CD4⁺ CD25⁻T responder (Tresp) cells from untreated mice at different ratios (1:1, 1:2, 1:4 and 1:8) varying only the numbers of Tregs. The Tresp cells were labelled with the fluorescent dye CFSE and activated with anti-CD3/CD28 beads before adding the Treg and the cells were cultured for 96 hours.

To assess the suppressive capacity of the Treg cells, data on the percentage of Tresp cells that are suppressed response to the activation beads, and their fold expansion was analysed by flow cytometry.



Figure 3.8. The Representative flow cytometry plot gating strategies for Treg suppression assay. The responder T (Trep) cells (CD4⁺CD25⁻) isolated from two untreated mice were labelled with CFSE, the labelled cells were cocultured with four dilutions of regulatory T(Treg) cells (CD4⁺ CD25^{hi}) and stimulated anti-CD3/CD28 beads. (A) Lymphocytes were selected based on the forward scatter (FS) and side scatters (SS) as measures of size and granularity, respectively. (B) The histogram plot of the unlabelled Tresp negative control. (C) Histogram plot of labelled Tresp but unstimulated with anti-CD3/CD28. (D) Stimulated Tresp with no Treg. (E) Stimulated Tresp with the 1:1 Tresp: Treg ratio. (F) 1:2 Tresp: Treg ratio. (G) 1:4 Tresp: Treg ratio. (H) 1:8 Tresp: Treg ratio. (J) 1:2 Tresp: Treg ratio. (K) 1:4 Tresp: Treg ratio. And (L) 1:8 Tresp: Treg ratio

3.4.3.1 The percentage of cells suppressed by Treg

This is the measure of the percentage of the Tresp cell stimulated will divide at least once with minimal suppression of the Treg. It is used in determining the fraction of the original population that divided least once during the culture period. As shown in Figure 3.8, the graph showed increases in the percentage of cells dividing with decreases in numbers of Tregs present in the coculture. However, there was no statistically significant difference in function between the suppressive ability of the Tregs isolated from the spleens of *H. pylori* treated mice and those given the placebo (plain Brucella broth).



Figure 3.9. Group of six mice were infected with the SS1 strain of **H. pylori** in Brucella broth or administered plain broth as a placebo. 6 and 9 weeks later the mice were killed and the splenic CD4⁺ CD25^{hi} Treg cells isolated using magnetic bead isolation. Cells from two mice were combined to ensure sufficient recovery of cells. CD4⁺ CD25⁻ Tresp were also purified from the spleens of untreated mice and labelled with CFSE before stimulation using anti-CD3/28 beads. The suppressive activity of the Tregs cells from infected and placebo-treated mice was compared, co-culturing Treg and Tresp cells in a range of ratios for 96 hours. Effects on the Tresp cells expansion was assessed

using flow cytometry. Data show the mean and the standard deviation from the three replicates.

3.4.3.2 Fold expansion of Tresp cell

Fold expansion examines the ratio of final cell count to starting cell count during the culture. In this case, the fold expansion of the Tresp was calculated for both treatments and the result as shown in Figure 3.9 The overall fold expansion for each of the three-time points also showed increases in Tresp expansion when the numbers of Tregs in the coculture were reduced. As there was no statistically significant difference between Tregs from the spleens of infected or placebo-treated mice.

Furthermore, to assess the trend according to the three points, a plot the percentage cell divides and overall fold expansion for 1:4 Treg: Tresp for the 3 time points were made (Figure is shown in the appendix). There was no statistically significant difference between the time points.





3.5 Discussion

The aim of this study was primarily to access the immunoregulatory potential of the *H. pylori* protein, VacA. Several studies have shown that VacA is an effective immunomodulatory molecule (Oertli et al., 2013b, Kao et al., 2010), but there is very little information on the relative effects of the different types of toxin. This study used two strains of the Sydney Strain 1 (SS1) mouse-adapted model of *H. pylori*, which expressed the s2i2 and s1i1 forms of VacA. The SS1⁵²ⁱ² strain is the wild-type, and this form is without vacuolating activity, whilst the SS1^{s1i1} mutant expressed active VacA (Day et al., 2001, Winter et al., 2014).

Although only a few *H. pylori* strains are capable of effectively colonizing mice to enable studies of this manner. SS1 strain was shown to consistently colonise several mouse strains including C57BL/6 mouse at high level with persistent infection that could last for months making it suitable for studies in immune system and effect of virulence factors (Lee et al., 1997). The SS1 strain used in this investigation is known to lack *cag*PAI functionality but expresses the nontoxigenic form of VacA (s2i2) (Arnold et al., 2011b). However, most human studies have demonstrated the association between active form of VacA (s1i1) and disease. Therefore, SS1^{s1i1} isogenic mutant expressing the toxigenic VacA^{s1i1} form was used in this study. The wild type SS1^{s2i2} *H. pylori* and the mutant SS1^{s1i1}*H. pylori* have been used extensively in investigation of VacA-specific experiments. The colonisation result in the experiment showed a lower colonisation density in the stomach the mice infected with SS1^{s1i1}

mutant compare to the SS1^{s2i2} wild-type. This result is consistent with the findings by Winter et al, in which they showed that the strains producing s1i1 and s1i2 VacA has reduced colonisation densities while those of s2i2 readily colonised the mouse stomach (Winter et al., 2014). However, the result of the difference in colonisation is not expected to influence the overall outcome this studies since the same study by Winter *et al* as showed that there is no significant correlation between colonisation density and production of gastric pathology in mice infected with SS1^{s1i1} producing toxigenic form of VacA.

The group and other literatures have previously shown that VacA is capable of suppressing the immune response *in vitro* and could be very important in the establishment of persistent colonization by *H. pylori* (Greenaway, 2014, (Salama et al., 2001b, Winter et al., 2014). Preliminary evidence from the group indicated that one of the mechanisms through which VacA achieves an immune regulatory function is the induction of Treg responses. It was shown that there was an increase in Foxp3 expression in PBMCs isolated from healthy patients with VacA-active strain compared to those with an inactive VacA strain (Greenaway 2014). This evidence serves as an indicator that VacA may be important in Foxp3 induction.

Furthermore, the group also had already shown that VacA also influenced the amount of IL-10 expressed by mouse splenocytes. The type of VacA expressed by *H. pylori* had an impact on the level of IL-10 expression by the splenocytes.

Therefore, in this present research, the hypotheses were that Splenocytes from the mice infected with *H. pylori* expressing active s1i1 VacA would respond better to mitogen stimulation than cells from mice infected with *H. pylori* expressing the s2i2, the inactive form of VacA. This would occur due to the presence of memory T cells which confers on it more responsiveness.

There would be higher proportions of Foxp3⁺ CD4 cells among the lymphocytes from mice infected with the SS1^{s1i1} strain expressing s1i1 VacA form compared to the SS1^{s2i2} strain expressing s2i2 VacA form.

There would be higher proportions of $IL-10^+$ CD4 cells among the lymphocytes from mice infected with the SS1^{s1i1} strain compared to the SS1^{s2i2} strain.

Interestingly, mitogen-stimulated cells from all the groups showed a decrease in the proportion of Foxp3⁺ cells compared to their paired unstimulated cell preparations. However, there was no significant difference between the levels of FOXP3 expression when comparing the splenocytes from active VacA infected, non-active VacA infected or placebo-treated mice. This may be because VacA may not entirely be the only driving factor in FOXP3 expression and immunoregulation other *H. pylori* proteins such as GGT, PPT and KatA have been reported to have some immune regulatory functions (Oertli et al., 2013a, Oertli et al., 2012) (Greenaway, 2014, unpublished data).

Similarly, IL-10 expression by the splenocytes was analysed and showed that there was an increase in IL-10 expressing cells following stimulation. However, again the active VacA *H. pylori* strain made no difference. This agrees with the point made above, that infection with *H. pylori* could influence the induction of immunomodulatory cells but VacA alone may not be the sole factor. On the hand, a long-standing suggestion is that VacA is essentially pleiotropic may be in effect in this study (Isomoto et al., 2010).

Using CFSE suppression assay as described by Collision and Vignali (Collision and Vignali, 2011), the differences in the immunosuppression activities of Treg isolated from a group of mice infected with active H. pylori with active vacA gene and placebo-treated mice were investigated. The study here investigated whether the active VacA possessing H. pylori strain in mice induced a better Treg immunosuppressive activity compare to that of placebotreated mice. The results from this experiment indicated obvious activities by Tregs on the Tresp cells, but there was no difference in the suppression activities between Tregs from the H. pylori and placebo groups. Research in the past by Boncristiano et al. and Sundrud et al. had shown that VacA activities have inhibited the clonal expansion of activated T cell. They showed that VacA is capable of inhibiting IL-2 in Jurkat cells in vitro. IL-2 is produced by T-cell in mitogenic stimulation and is response to required for T-cell proliferation(Boyman and Sprent, 2012, Boncristiano et al., 2003). Early research in the group also showed that PBMCs from VacA-negative patients

have decreased Foxp3 expression compare to that of VacA-positive patients, showing that VacA could be important Foxp3 induction (Greenaway, 2014 unpublished). Both results go on to suggest that VacA could have immunoregulatory activity in vivo and in vitro.

The result raises the concern on whether mechanism through which molecules of VacA inhibit T cell proliferation differ from the secreted VacA from *H. pylori*. There is also the case of the suitability of the laboratory animal in the simulation of the human infection. Mice are the natural host for *H. pylori* and may require a large dose of the bacteria for proper simulation. Infection in a human subject in most case occurs at an early age when the immune system is developing this is different for 6-8 weeks mice which have fully developed immune system. Another reason is that mice stomachs have a very dense microbial flora in a less-acidic mucosa compare to that of human.

The acidity in mice stomach is usually constant compare to human, which changes throughout the day. Finally, the difference between human and mice immune system can also influence the out of the experiment. For example, lack of IL-8 in mice. And better still mouse model and/or mouseadapted strain of VacA-positive may not be a good model for this investigation (Arnold et al., 2005).

3.5.1 Conclusion

- There were no differences in the frequencies of Tregs in the spleen between the groups infected with *H. pylori* expressing s1/i1 or s2/i2 forms of VacA.
- There was a significantly increased frequency of Foxp3⁺ cells in the stomach of infected mice compared to the uninfected group
- VacA type did not significantly affect the frequencies of Tregs in the spleen or gastric mucosa
- The infection did not influence the functional suppressive activity of Tregs from the spleen
- There was only a very small increase in Tregs in mice infected with the SS1 strain of H. pylori. This is possibly due to them being infected at 6 weeks of age (rather than as neonates), and the relatively short duration of the experiment.

Chapter 4

Serum Helicobacter pylori KatA, GGT.

PPT, CagA and VacA antibodies as novel

biomarkers

4.1 Introduction

Although the effect of *H. pylori*-specific antibody on the extent of bacterial colonisation is still debatable, studies have shown that H. pylori infection almost constantly induces robust mucosal and systemic antibody production (Czinn et al., 1993, Akhiani et al., 2004). In most epidemiological research studies, serological testing has remained the most important approach; as illustrated in most gastric cancer cases where the studies showed a significantly higher prevalence of *H. pylori* specific antibodies among patients compared to normal controls (Gao et al., 2009a). Helicobacter pylori infection is the major cause of a number of gastrointestinal tract diseases, such as chronic gastritis, peptic ulcer and gastric cancer (Suerbaum and Michetti, 2002). It is also known that over 50% of the world population is infected with H. pylori. Primarily, 85 % of those infected experience no symptoms or mild symptoms such as mild asymptomatic gastritis. In cases of more severe outcomes, 10-15% can develop peptic ulcer disease (PUD), 5% can develop atrophic gastritis and about 1-2% can develop gastric cancer(Amieva and El-Omar, 2008, Conteduca et al., 2013). Factors such as host factors and diet have been shown to be contributory to the risk of disease outcomes but researchers have also shown that bacterial virulence factors are a major independent determinant of disease and could serve as a predictive biomarker (Yamaoka,

2010). Virulence factors such as CagA, VacA, GGT, KatA and PPT among others are all recognized to play crucial roles in *H. pylori* pathogenicity (Atherton, 2006) and the serum antibodies to these *H. pylori* factors could serve as noninvasive biomarker for early detection of *H. pylori* diseases.

4.1.1 Anti-cytotoxin-associated gene A (CagA) antibodies

CagA is the most researched H. pylori virulence factor and as such possibly the most important virulence factor in the bacterium (Shiota et al., 2013). CagA positive H. pylori strains have been implicated in serious clinical sequellae, with damaging effects mediated directly by CagA (Kuipers et al., 1995, Huang et al., 2003). Parsonnet et al examined the serum of 179 infected and 63 uninfected individuals in a case-control investigation looking at the serum anti-CagA IgG response. Their results showed a more than a 5-fold increased risk of developing gastric cancer in individuals with CagA-positive H. pylori strains, compared to uninfected subjects. They also showed that subjects infected with CagA-negative H. pylori are not significantly more likely to develop gastric cancer than uninfected individuals (Parsonnet et al., 1997). Similarly, Gao et al investigated the association between chronic atrophic gastritis and serological status of antibodies to 15 H. pylori proteins using a novel multiplex serology method. Here, 534 cases of chronic atrophic gastritis and 1068 control subjects were examined for seropositivity for the 15 proteins. Among the virulence factors CagA, VacA, Helicobacter cysteine-rich protein C

(HcpC) and the chaperonin GroEL was shown to have a strong association with chronic atrophic gastritis (Gao et al., 2009b). Equally, another group investigated the seroprevalence of CagA, VacA, GroEL, Urease subunit (UreA), GGT and HcpC and its' relationship with gastric lesions, a precursor lesion of gastric malignancy, using the recomLine *H. pylori* test system. Their results showed that amongst the factors studied, only CagA and GroEL could be considered as an independent predictor for the development of gastric lesions (Pan et al., 2014).

4.1.2 Anti-vacuolating cytotoxin A (VacA) antibodies

VacA is another very well studied factor of *H. pylori*. The *vacA* gene is present in all strains but only the s1/i1/m1 allelic variant is regarded as encoding an active toxigenic form of VacA. The s1/i1 form of VacA is associated with severe disease outcomes such as peptic ulceration and gastric cancer (Atherton et al., 1995, Miehlke et al., 2000). Although known for its induction of vacuolation in gastric cells (de Bernard et al., 1997), VacA has also been implicated to cause disruption of mitochondrion functions, T-cell proliferation inhibition and induction of apoptosis (Gebert et al., 2003, Isomoto et al., 2010). Other reports also showed that VacA could be important in mediating the colonisation of *H. pylori* (Salama et al., 2001b, Salama et al., 2001a). There have been several mixed reports on the seroprevalence of VacA antibodies and its link with disease outcome. One report found 73.91% VacA seropositivity among gastric cancer patients (Suriani et al., 2008), and another reported an odds ratio of 3.19 (1.44-7.05) showing that VacA antibody could serve as an indicator for the progression of chronic atrophic gastritis (Gao et al., 2009b). Pan *et al* reported a 38.9 % seroprevalence among patients with gastric lesions (Pan et al., 2014). The conflicting reports paved the way for our investigation, using a protein array method to ascertain the differences in the prevalence of VacA-specific antibody between *H.pylori*-positive and *H.pylori*-negative individuals.

4.1.3 Catalase (KatA)

Catalase is an enzyme present in all life forms that neutralizes extracellular hydrogen- peroxides. In *H. pylori* catalase, KatA, the enzyme protects the bacteria from oxidative damage in hostile immune environments which could have direct damaging effects on their genomic DNA (Harris et al., 2002, Wang et al., 2006, Wang et al., 2005). Therefore, KatA plays a vital role in *H. pylori* colonisation of the gastric mucosa (Hazell et al., 1991). KatA readily induces antibodies in *H. pylori*-infected individuals. Antibodies levels are similar in individuals from *H. pylori*-high-risk areas and in those residing in low-risk areas (Camargo et al., 2015), Camargo *et al* also reported associations of KatA with gastric diseases, showing it to be independent of other virulence factors such as CagA and VacA. Similarly, Zhang *et al* reported an association with gastric cancer and 14.59-fold increase in the risk of gastric cancer among those who were seropositive for KatA antibodies (Zhang et al., 2016). Their investigation was done employing an indirect ELISA test, using recombinant KatA which the

group acknowledged could lead to nonspecific signals from cross-reactivity. This problem could easily be eliminated by the protein array.

Although Kotiw *et al* reported that KatA-specific antibodies are readily induced in the serum of infected individuals, they still doubted the protective role of these antibodies (Kotiw et al., 2012). But earlier vaccine studies on rodents reported the opposite, demonstrating how anti-catalase antibodies could protect against a subsequent *H. pylori* infection (Chen et al., 2003).

4.1.4 *γ*-Glutamyltranspepetidase (GGT) antibodies

GGT is expressed by all strains of *H. pylori*. The enzyme contributes hugely in bacterial pathogenesis (Chevalier et al., 1999, Wustner et al., 2017). The activities of this enzyme alone, which include the utilisation of glutamine to generate glutamate and ammonia, conversion of glutathione to cysteinylglycine and by-products such as ammonia and reactive oxygen species, tend to have a massive effect on the surrounding host cells (Ricci et al., 2014). These effects contribute to final disease outcomes such as peptic ulcer and gastric cancer (Gong et al., 2010, Rimbara et al., 2013).

Pan *et al* demonstrated the virulence activities of GGT in promoting bacterial and cell apoptosis but failed to establish a relationship between GGT seropositivity and gastric cancer (43.3 %). In fact, they reported an inverse association with the presence of preneoplastic lesions. They speculated the anti-inflammatory effect is produced by the interference of GGT-specific antibodies with virulence activities (Pan et al., 2014).
4.1.5 Peptidyl prolyl cis trans isomerase (PPT) antibodies

PPT (also known as PPlase) is another enzyme possessed by both eukaryotic and prokaryotic cells, which catalysis the folding of proteins by cis/trans isomerisation of peptide bonds with prolyl residues. (Gothel and Marahiel, 1999). *H. pylori* PPT (product of gene HP0175) is one of the secreted proteins that the bacteria utilise in colonisation and pathogenesis (Basak et al., 2005). Studies of this protein in *E. coli* revealed that the protein perform more isomerase function but can equally independently perform chaperonin function (Ramm and Plückthun, 2001). The protein has been observed to bind TLR4 in the AGS human gastric adenocarcinoma cell line, triggering apoptosis and therefore it is also known as *H. pylori* cell-binding factor 2 (HpCBF2). This was demonstrated by antibody blockade of TLR4, which abrogated apoptosis on incubation with PPT. The level of cell death observed with PPT was significantly more than with other *H. pylori* virulence factors (Basak et al., 2005). TLR4 links innate immunity to adaptive immune responses, although the agonist widely known to associate with this PRR is bacterial (but not *H. pylori*) LPS. As PPT interacts with TLR4 in a similar way to LPS, it could follow a similar pattern of cell signalling pathway activation.

Atanassov *et al*, using PPT isolated from two strains of *H. pylori*; *H. pylori* HP141 and *H. pylori* ATCC 43579, showed the presence of PPT-specific antibodies by ELISA in *H. pylori*-infected individuals. They went further to show anti-PPT seropositivity value for gastroduodenal ulcers (GDU)patients of 33(60) and 30(55) seropositivity with *H. pylori* HP141 and *H. pylori* ATCC 43579

respectively and 8(27) and 7(23) with non-ulcer dyspepsia NUD. These values which are not sufficient to be a sole predictive biomarkerfor ulcer diseases but report that antibody frequency to PPT together VacA and β -ketoacyl-ACP S could make it possible to differentiate between the NUD and ulcer patients (Atanassov et al., 2002).

4.1.6 H. pylori 60190 and H. pylori Tx30a

Only a small percentage of *H. pylori*-infected individuals develop gastric cancer. This is known to be as a result of multiple factors which include, the host response to the infecting bacteria, the interaction between the host and bacteria and essentially the differing expression of the strains virulence factors (Blaser, 1997). One of the first virulence factors to be identified in the *H. pylori* was CagA, it is present in approximately 50% of bacterial isolates and is a constituent of the *cag* pathogenicity island (*cag*PAI) gene cluster (Covacci et al., 1993, Akopyants et al., 1998). The *cag*PAI encodes homologues of type IV bacterial secretion proteins (Censini et al., 1996). Several investigations have shown that individuals infected with CagA-positive strains are at a higher risk of developing disease outcomes, notably, gastritis, atrophic gastritis, peptic ulcer disease and gastric cancer (Kim et al., 2013a, Kuipers et al., 1995, Peek et al., 1995, Blaser et al., 1995) compared to those with CagA-negative strains which are seldom associated with disease. Another vital virulence factor possessed by the strains is VacA, which is associated with disease (Atherton, 2006). Almost all strains possess the vacA gene, but only about half of the isolates express the active form of the protein. Allelic diversity in three main regions of the gene, which include the signal (s), the intermediate (i) and the middle (m) regions, results in different degrees of vacuolating activity (Atherton et al., 1995, van Doorn et al., 1998). For a long time, vacA s- and m- regions remained the two most important polymorphic regions associated with disease progression (Atherton et al., 1995, Blaser and Atherton, 2004, Sugimoto et al., 2009). Later, the i-region was recognised as the third determinant of vacA polymorphism, and shown to be a better predictor of disease severity (Rhead et al., 2007). Based on the amino acid sequence of each region it showed there could two more variants for each region: the s-region has two variants s1 and s2, the i-region has three variants i1, i2 and i3 while the m-region has two regions m1 and m2. (Atherton et al., 1995, van Doorn et al., 1998, Van Doorn et al., 1999). Studies have shown the effect of different genotypes emanating from the combination of the variants is the determinant of the pathogenesis of a strain rather than possession of the vacA gene. Similarly, different VacA genotypes also influence the vacuolating activity. As the case may be, vacA s1 encodes a vacuolating active protein while vacA s2 encodes a variant which does not have a vacuolating activity. It has also shown that the protein encoded by the latter has a different signal peptide cleavage site which produces an extension, of 12 -amino acid long and is probably the reason for vacuolation inhibition (McClain et al., 2001). Likewise, m1 variants are said to be contributors to the vacuolation in a wider range of cell types than the m2 (Atherton et al., 1995). The i1 variant shows the highest vacuolating activity compared with i2, while i3 is thought to be rare (Rhead et al., 2007, Ferreira et al., 2012). Again the H. pylori 60190 and Tx30a used in this research work both posses *vacA* genes but are of s1/i1/m1 and s2/i2/m2 types respectively.

4.2 Hypothesis

The European Helicobacter Pylori Study Group (EHPSG) recommended serology assays and tests as one of the non-invasive means of H. pylori diagnosis (Malfertheiner et al., 1997). Several studies have shown that several *H. pylori* virulence factors elicit strong antibodies both in the blood and in the gastric mucosa(Mattsson et al., 1998, Lee et al., 1995). These antibodies are relatively associative rather than of being protective against *H. pylori* infections(Tiwari et al., 2007). Studies among certain gastroduodenal patients ulcers have shown that these serum antibodies against the factors preferentially recognize *H. pylori* antigens and this could be useful in differentiating one H. pylori disease from another (Atanassov et al., 2002).

Here, five H. pylori factors KatA, GGT, PPT, CagA and VacA were selected based on their relative prominence during *H. pylori* infection. We hypothesis that the level of antibody against *H. pylori* factors is an important indicator of the disease severity.

To test this hypothesis, we set the following objective

1. To establish the differences in levels of antibodies against *H. pylori* factors KatA, GGT, PPT, CagA and VacA among *H. pylori*-positive and negative subjects

2. To investigate whether a strong antibody response to each of the factors correlates with gastric pathology and disease outcome.

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Biological samples collection

Peripheral blood samples were donated by 188 patients undergoing a routine upper gastrointestinal endoscopy at the Queen's Medical Centre, Nottingham. The most common reason for this was chronic dyspepsia. A combination of biopsy urease test, bacterial isolation and culture, histology and PCR results were used to determine the *H. pylori* infection status of each patient (Table 4.1). All samples were collected with approval from Nottingham Research Ethics Committee 2 (ref 08/H0408/195) and informed written patient consent. Blood samples were not collected from patients who had taken antibiotics and/or frequently on non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and/or proton pump inhibitors (PPI) in the last 4 weeks prior to the sample collection. EDTA anticoagulant containing vacutainer tubes were used to collect the blood samples and the plasma was separated by centrifugation at 200 x g for 10 minutes. The plasma was aliquoted and stored at -80°C.

163

<i>H. pylori</i> status	Average age (years)	Female to Male Ratio	Disease status	
94 infected	52.2 (17-86)	51:43	35 duodonal ulcer	
			6 gastric ulcer	
			2 duodonal ulcer	
			+ gastric ulcer	
			51 No ulceration	
94 uninfected	51.8(20-89)	57:37	No ulceration	

Table 4.1. The demographics of the patients

4.3.2 Bacterial lysate preparation

H. pylori strains 60190 and Tx30a graciously provided by Dr Karen Robinson towards this experiment were prepared as follows: Briefly, *H. pylori* strains 60190 and Tx30a were cultured on blood agar plates in duplicate (Oxoid) and incubated in microaerophilic incubator, MACS VA500 microaerophilic workstation (DW Scientific) at 37 °C in a 10% O₂ and 5% CO₂ for 24 hours. The colonies were scraped off from the plates and resuspended in ice-cold sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (Oxoid). The suspended bacterial cells were lysed on ice using the Soniprep 150 sonicator (SANYO, Watford, UK) at 4 x 10 seconds bursts at an amplitude of 10 microns with 30 minutes break time in between each sonication process. The concentration of the protein contents was measured using a BCA (Bicinchoninic Acid) Protein Assay and the concentrations were adjusted to a working concentration of 100 μ g/ml.

4.3.3 Protein Sample preparation

The 3 protein samples (rKatA, rGGT and rPPT) prepared in Chapter 3, rVacA(s1m1i1 type), and lysates of two strains of *H. pylori* 60190 and Tx30a, were adjusted to the concentration of 100 μ g/ml. 10 μ l of each of the samples were aliquoted into a 96 well V-bottomed plate (Eppendorf) in quadruplicate. *Candida albicans* lysate was included as positive control as it is one of the commonest infection found in human (Hernday et al., 2010, Hernday et al., 2013) and landing light (2 μ l/ml) was used as the edge marker on the slide.

4.3.4 Spotting of slide surface- contact printing

To print even protein spots on the surface of flat glass slides, a choice of the most suitable slide surface was made between amino-silane and epoxy-silane. The 8 headed solid pins were used, in a matrix of 2 columns and 4 rows, to print 16 pads, 2 columns by 8 rows on each of the 25 x 75 mm amino-silane or epoxy-silane activated glass slides which had been prepared in house. Briefly, the 96 well V-bottom PCR plates (Eppendorf) were placed in the plate compartment of the BioRobotics Micrograd II microarray machine, the microspot solid pins were used to make double spotting to each array feature in a layout shown in Fig 4.1 at the humidity of 71-75 %. After spotting, the slides were removed and stored under vacuum until required.



Figure 4.1. The design of the protein array. All of the 4 recombinant proteins (rKat, rGGT, rPPT and rVacA), a CagA peptide, 2 *H. pylori* whole cell lysates (strains 60190 and Tx30a) and 1 *Candida albicans* lysate (positive control) were spotted on each of the 16 fields on the slide while the empty spots were the negative controls. The landing light was used to mark the edges of the slide.

4.3.5 Array processing

The microwell gasket was assembled on the spotted glass slides, to allow testing of plasma samples from up to 16 patients. The surface of each slide was blocked with 240 μ l of 3 % BSA, overnight at 4 °C. Following this, the microwells on the glass slides were washed sequentially for 3 x 1 min with PBS-Tween (0.05 % Tween 20 in phosphate-buffered saline) and 100 μ l each of 1:100 dilutions of the plasma samples in LowCross-Buffer® (Candor) were added to the wells. Diluent only was added to one of the wells, a negative control. The slides were incubated on a shaker for 1 hour and then washed 3 x 1 min with PBS-Tween.

The slides were then probed with 100 μ l of 1:10000 dilution of antihuman IgG-IR680 detection antibody (LI-COR Bioscience) diluted in LowCross-Buffer[®] (Candor) and incubated for 45 min on a shaker at room temperature. The detection antibodies were washed 5 x 1 min with PBS-Tween, rinsed with distilled water and then spun to dry using a microarray slide spinner (Labnet).

4.3.6 Fluorescence scanning

After staining the slides were scanned with a fluorescence imaging system LI-COR Odyssey SA (LI-COR Bioscience) at a resolution of 20 μm, focus of 3.1 nm and intensity of 11.5. The GenePix® ProMicroarray Image Software package was used to acquire the data. To determine the fluorescence signal for each antigen-antibody reaction, the average of the fluorescence signals for the replicates were obtained. Furthermore, the signal-to-noise ratio was determined from the test samples and background control tests.

4.3.7 Data Analysis

The signals obtained from the reaction of plasma samples to immobilized antigens were compared using a Kruskal-Wallis test on GraphPad prism 8 software. A p value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Pearson's Statistical correlations were analysed using Minitab 7 software.

4.4 HBJM Results

4.4.1 Influence of slide surface on the protein array

CagA peptide, recombinant proteins VacA, KatA, GGT PPT and lysates of *H. pylori* strains 60190 and Tx30a were spotted onto two different surface chemistries and then the biochemical activities were evaluated. Aminosilane coated glass slides did not allow the sensitive detection of these proteins using serum samples from one *H. pylori*-posit

ive patient and *H. pylori*-negative patient (Figure 4.2 A). In contrast, the assays performed much better on epoxy silane coated slides, where there were brighter fluorescent signals (Figure 4.2 B). Hence, the epoxy silane coated surface was chosen for immobilising the antigens.



Figure 4.2. Evaluation of suitability of aminosilane and epoxysilane surface coatingsfor the slide for the protein microarrays. The proteins rVacA, rKatA, rGGT rPPT and the cell lysate (H. pylori 60190 and Tx30a) were spotted on an Aminosilane and epoxy-silane coated glass slide using BioRobotics Micrograd II microarray machine with solid microspot pins. The lysate and purified protein spots were blocked and assayed with a infected (confirmed H. pylori positive) and an uninfected (confirmed H. pylori negative) patients' serums and probed anti-human IgG-IR680 detection antibody (LI-COR Bioscience). The fluorescence signal readout was carried out using a fluorescence imaging system LI-COR Odyssey SA (LI-COR). The data were analysed on GraphPad Prism 8 software. (A). Result on the aminosilane coated slide. (B). Result on theepoxy-silane

4.4.2 Spotting of the proteins, CagA, VacA, KatA, GGT and PPT and H. pylori 60190 and Tx30a lysates

To analyse the serum antibodies against the recombinant proteins VacA, KatA, GGT and PPT, together with the two lysates of the *H. pylori* strains, 60190 and Tx30a, and CagA peptide, the concentrations of the molecules were adjusted to 100 µg/ml. A whole-cell lysate of the common yeast *Candida albicans* was included as a positive control antigen that the vast majority of individuals are exposed to. These were spotted on epoxysilane coated glass slide using a BioRobotics Micrograd II microarray machine with microspot solid pins. The spotted slides were incubated with serum samples from *H. pylori*-positive and *H. pylori*-negative patients, followed by anti-human IgG-IR680 conjugate and signals were visualised using a fluorescence imaging system. As shown in Figure 4.3 A after incubation with *H. pylori*-positive serum, fluorescence was detectable for almost all antigens spotted on the coated slide. In Figure 4.3 B, however, when slides were incubated with positive control.

А

В



Figure 4.3. Representative fluorescence image obtained from the protein array spotted with 100 Img/ml antigens, incubated with serum from patients, probed with anti-human IgG-IR680 detection antibody and then visualised using the LI-COR Odyssey SA (LI-COR) fluorescence imaging system. **A**. depicts fluorescence signals following incubation with serum from a typical H. pyloripositive patient. **B**. depicts the fluorescence signals after applying serum from an H. pylori-negative patient, where reactivity was detected only to the control Candida albicans spots.

4.4.3 Analysis of serum antibodies against *H. pylori* 60190 and Tx30a lysates in *H. pylori*-positive and *H. pylori*-negative patients

The first step was to ascertain the level reactivity of serum antibodies in *H. pylori*-positive and negative patients to two strains (60190 and Tx30a). The 60190 strain is CagA-positive and expresses the active s1/i1/m1 type of VacA, whilst the Tx30a strain is CagA-negative and expresses the least active s2/i2/m2 VacA type (Camorlinga-Ponce et al., 2004, Braga et al., 2014). Both strains are known to express GGT, KatA and PPT activities. To investigate the correlation between antibodies against *H. pylori* strain 60190 antigens and *H. pylori* strain Tx30a antigen, the lysates strains were spotted on epoxysilane coated glass slides and incubated with the 1:200 dilution of 94 *H. pylori*positive and 94 *H. pylori*-negative patient's serum and further probed with the anti-human IgG-IR680 detection antibody. The fluorescence signals were measured using the fluorescence imaging system.

The data presented in Figure 4.4 show significant differences between sera from *H. pylori*-positive and -negative patients. This seems to suggest that antigens present in both lysates induce an antibody response that reacts with both types of bacteria. Analysis with a Kruskal-Wallis test showed 6.95-(p<0.0001) and 3.93-fold (p=0.0006) higher concentrations of antibodies against *H. pylori* 60190 and *H. pylori* Tx30a lysates respectively, in sera from *H. pylori*-positive compared to *H. pylori*-negative patients.



Figure 4.4. Seroprevalence of serum antibodies against **H. pylori** strains 60190 and Tx30a antigens **H. pylori**-infected and uninfected patients. The cell lysate H. pylori 60190 and Tx30a were spotted on an epoxy-silane coated glass slide using BioRobotics Micrograd II microarray machine with solid microspot pins. The lysate spots were assayed with a total of 188 (94 infected and 94 uninfected) patients' serums and probed anti-human IgG-IR680 detection antibody (LI-COR Bioscience). The fluorescence signal readout was carried out using a fluorescence imaging system LI-COR Odyssey SA (LI-COR). The horizontal bars represent median responses and statistical significance was calculated using the Kruskal-Wallis test on GraphPad Prism 8 software. (A). H. pylori 60190 lysate. (B). H. pylori Tx30a lysate.

Further investigation with Pearson's Statistical correlations analysis of the fluorescence signal of the *H. pylori*-positive for the lysates *H. pylori* 60190 and Tx30a strains. As shown in Figure 4.5 there was a correlation between the antibodies against the antigens present in lysates of both strains (P< 0.0001 r= 0.813). Which further suggests that, although Tx30a strains lacks CagA and express s2i2m2 VacA campare to 60190 strains which are cagA positive and express s1i1m1 VacA, there are similarities in the antigen responsible for the induction of the *H. pylori*-specific antibodies.





175

persons. The cell lysate H. pylori 60190 and Tx30a were spotted on an epoxysilane coated glass slide using BioRobotics Micrograd II microarray machine with solid microspot pin. The lysate spots were assayed with a total of 94 infected patients' serums and probed anti-human IgG-IR680 detection antibody (LI-COR Bioscience). The fluorescence signal readout was carried out using a fluorescence imaging system LI-COR Odyssey SA (LI-COR). Pearson's Statistical correlations were analysed using Minitab 7 software. (p< 0.0001 r= 0.813).

4.4.4 Evaluation of serum antibodies against *H. pylori* molecules, CagA, VacA, GGT, KatA and PPT

In the previous section, it was shown that there was an increase in antibodies against *H. pylori* lysates from strains 60190 and Tx30a in the serum of *H. pylori*-positive patients. It was hypothesized that bacterial factors such as CagA, VacA, GGT, KatA and PPT could be major immunogens driving the antibody response to infection. Both of the strains express GGT, KatA and PPT, therefore their differences in CagA and VacA expression could be responsible for the differences in the levels of antibody signals detected.

This study aimed to determine the contribution of five important *H. pylori* factors, CagA, VacA, GGT, KatA and PPT, to the antibody response of *H. pylori*-positive patients and to investigate whether strong antibodies response from *H. pylori*-positive factors correlates with the pathology of the disease.

As shown on the Fgure 4.6 A, B, C, D and E, the *H. pylor*i infected individuals had significantly higher level of antibodies for CagA (P<0.0001), VacA (0.0289), KatA (P<0.0001), GGT (P=0.0003)and PPT (P<0.0001) than uninfected individuals.



Figure 4.6. Serological responses to H. pylori CagA, VacA, KatA, GGT and PPT in H. pylori infected (Hp+) and uninfected (Hp-) patients. CagA peptide, and purified recombinant VacA, KatA, GGT and PPT proteins were spotted on epoxy-silane coated glass slides using BioRobotics Micrograd II microarray machine with solid microspot pin. The spots were probed with a total of 188 (94 infected and 94 uninfected) serum samples followed by anti-human IgG-IR680 detection antibody (LI-COR Bioscience). The fluorescence signal was detected using a

fluorescence imaging system LI-COR Odyssey SA (LI-COR). The horizontal bars represent median response levels and statistical significance was calculated using a Kruskal-Wallis test on GraphPad Prism 8 software. (A)CagA (B)VacA (C)KatA (D) GGT (E)PPT.

4.4.5 Correlations among Tx30a Hp+, 60190 Hp+, PPT Hp+, VacA Hp+, KatA Hp+, CagA Hp+, GGT Hp

To look at the association among and between the response to CagA, VacA, KatA, GGT and PPT, Pearson's statistical correlation was used to analyse the data from the *H. pylori*-positive patients. As shown in **Table 4.2** Only KatA/PPT and PPT/GGT data provided significant correlations, with r= 0.606 (p<0.0001) and r= 0.454 (p<0.0001) respectively. There were no correlations between CagA and any of the other antigens. Anti-VacA responses correlated weakly with those against PPT (r=0.377; p<0.0001) and KatA (r= 0.282; p=0.006).

Table 4.2 Pearson correlations in the data between the serological responses of H. pylori-positive patients to Tx30a Hp+, 60190 Hp+, PPT Hp+,

VacA Hp+, KatA Hp+, CagA Hp+, GGT Hp

60190 Hp+	0.739 0.000					
PPT Hp+	0.364 0.000	0.523 0.000				
VacA Hp+	0.143 0.170	0.379 0.000	0.377 0.000			
KatA Hp+	0.368 0.000	0.412 0.000	0.606 0.000	0.282 0.006		
CagA Hp+	0.076	0.136	-0.021	-0.035	0.066	
	0.469	0.192	0.842	0.736	0.528	
GGT Hp+	0.483 0.000	0.406 0.000	0.454 0.000	0.107 0.303	0.375 0.000	-0.001 0.993

Tx30a Hp+ 60190 Hp+ PPT Hp+ VacA Hp+ KatA Hp+ CagA Hp+

4.4.6 Association between disease condition Cag and VacA type

Previously, the group had used both PCR and serology to characterised the *CagA* gene and VacA type in the the positive-*H. pylori* individuals. As shown in Table 4.3, out the 94 *H. pylori*-positive subjects involved in the studies, 35 has duodenal ulcers (DU), 6 were classified as gastric ulcer (GU), 2 has both duodenal ulcer and gastric ulcer (DU + GU) while 51 showed ulceration. The result is represented in the table below shows that CagA⁺ /VacA^{s1/i1} contain 50 (94), CagA⁻ /VacA^{s2/i2} was 21(94), CagA⁺ /VacA^{s2/i2} 15(94) and CagA⁻/VacA^{s1/i1} 8(94).

of the total H. pylori-positive subjects of which

Table 4.3 The association between duodenal ulcer and gastric ulcer andCagA and VacA status.

CagA and VacA type	CagA ⁺ /VacA ^{s1/i1}	CagA ⁻ /VacA ^{s2/i2}	CagA ⁺ /VacA ^{s2/i2}	CagA ⁻ /VacA ^{s1/i1}	Total
No of Patient	50	21	15	8	94
Duodonal ulcer	20 (57.1%)	7(20%)	4(11.4%)	4(11.4%)	35
gastric ulcer	5 (83.3%)	0	1(16.7%)	0	6

Duodonal ulcer + gastric ulcer	0	2(100%)	0	0	2
% of total No of patient	53.3	22.3	15.9	8.5	

4.5 Discussion

From the results obtained this study, it is clear that immune response to *H. pylori* could easily be observed in distant blood peripheral other than the local areas of the gastric. This could be done by observing antibodies against one virulence factor as the quest for biomarkers against *H. pylori*-related diseases increases. The outcome of the investigation is in agreement other reports on the serum antibody prevalence of the both suspected *H. pylori* effector immune molecules and regulatory immune molecules (Gao et al., 2009b, Camargo et al., 2015, Mera et al., 2005, Atanassov et al., 2002). Therefore, this result could pave the way to the development of an accurate non-invasive diagnostic approach to *H. pylori*-related disease especially peptic ulcer. Besides, although some of the virulence factors are analogous of certain molecules in human the result in this chapter shows they are quite immunogenic and could serve as a vaccine candidate.

4.5.1 Influence of amino silane and epoxy silane coated slide glass slide surface on the protein array

Although glass is inert nonetheless it makes a great choice for any experiment involving optical sensors, since it is transparent and has little inherent fluorescence. Therefore, to make the surface suitable for a number biochemical investigation such as protein microarray, the surface is generally functionalised with a number chemicals, which should preserve the biological

1

activities of the protein, the protein natural conformation and the protein integrity while preserving the transparency of the glass (Jonkheijm et al., 2008). Protein is known to have exceedingly heterogeneous and complex structure hence, the need for a suitable surface for almost every investigation involving protein array. This surface should be able to fulfil a number of criteria to be deemed satisfactory, these criteria includes; maintaining the spotted protein activities, guaranteed stability for the spotted protein for a long time, ability to bind strongly with proteins, high signal to noise ratios and spotted protein retention (Jonkheijm et al., 2008, Robinson et al., 2002, Seurynck-Servoss et al., 2007a).

Aminosilane coated surface utilise physical adsorption as its immobilisation strategy with no covalent attachment, unlike epoxysilane coated surfaces. Physical adsorption involves a situation where the protein interacts with slide surface through hydrogen bonding, hydrophobic interaction or ionic interactions. This probably leaves the spotted proteins or blocking agent vulnerable to exchange with assay reagent (Ball et al., 1994). This could lead to poor sensitivity and further background noise. Seurynck-Servoss et al shows that although aminosilane require shorter immobilisation time of 1 hour than epoxysilane, aminosilane generates the lower signal intensity which could be due to lower density of the protein use, which is antibody (Seurynck-Servoss et al., 2007b), this is in agreement with our finding using different proteins, we obtained a far lower signal intensity on the aminosilane coated surface compare to the epoxysilane surface. The physical adsorption interaction of aminosilane, on the other hand, could be advantageous in a situation where the activities of the spotted protein are affected by the covalent interaction, for instance in the of an antibody (Seurynck-Servoss et al., 2007a). For the case of the protein used in our experiment, it is unlikely that covalent bonding would affect the epitopes of the protein since unlike antibodies which have limited antigen-region and are easily denatured by a change in structure brought about by multiple covalent bonding. Therefore, since epoxysilane allows covalent stable binding through the primary amine and at the same time due not affect the protein activity it is believed to be the most suitable in terms of meeting up with at least two important criteria such as immobilization efficiency and protein function.

Chapter 5

Catalases, evolution from *Helicobacter*

pylori to Humans

5.1 Introduction

Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) is produced in living organisms as a byproduct of aerobic metabolism and is the commonest found reactive oxygen species in all living species. Disproportionate H_2O_2 and its products are capable of causing damage to proteins, DNA, RNA, lipids and can trigger even apoptosis. Hence, the need for rapid elimination in all levels of living organisms became essential for survival (Cabiscol et al., 2000, Kirkman and Gaetani, 2007). On the other hand, in immune responses, H_2O_2 has evolved to play roles in signal transduction essential for the inflammatory response, immune cell activation, cell division and apoptosis (Veal et al., 2007).

One of the ways most living organisms use for elimination of this toxic molecules and similar molecule such as small organic peroxides is through enzymes namely hydroperoxides which act on the peroxides to release oxygen in a process known as dismutation (Zamocky et al., 2008).

Hydroperoxidase has evolved independently of a number of protein families that are capable of performing the function of removing H₂O₂ and/or reducing it to an acceptable concentration useful for cellular signalling. These proteins are divided into three groups namely, typical catalases, catalaseperoxidase and Manganese containing catalases. The first two could be classified as heme-containing while the latter is known as a non-heme containing catalase (Passardi et al., 2007).

Among these three, a typical catalase is one the most studied enzyme and it is the largest group which is found in a wide range of organisms from prokaryotes to eukaryotes (Zamocky and Koller, 1999). Among enzymes, catalase is known is to be one of the enzymes with the highest turnovers shown by the ability of 1 molecule of catalase to decompose more than 1 million molecules of hydrogen peroxide in a second (Goth and Nagy, 2012). In a phylogenetic analyses typical catalases are divided into three clades (Klotz and Loewen, 2003). Clade 1 is made up of bacteria, algae and plant catalases with a small subunit size of 55-69 kDa and using heme *b* as a prosthetic group. Clade 2 is contains bacterial and fungal enzymes with a larger subunit size of 75-84 kDa with heme *d* as the prosthetic group and a flavodoxin-like domain. Finally, clade 3 contains the most diverse group from archaebacteria, fungi, protists, plants and animals. This clade is also a very important group since it contains human catalases as well. Contrariwise it contains the small-subunit sizes of 43-75 kDa with heme *b* and NADPH as a cofactor.

Catalase is a highly conserved protein in both bacteria and mammal (Alyamani et al., 2007), it is found in the peroxisomes and cytosol of eukaryote and prokaryotes respectively. Its existence in peroxisomes is appropriate since peroxisomes are considered to be protective compartment with detoxifying enzymes such as catalase (Williams et al., 2012). Nevertheless, the presence of

189

catalase has been detected in some eukaryotic cytosol, as with fungi, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Taub et al., 1999).

H. pylori catalase (KatA) has been recognised as one of the most important virulence factors that aid the survival of the bacteria. Harris et al showed that wildtype SS1 strain of *H. pylori* consistently colonised the gut of C57/BL6 mice at a significantly higher level compared to the mutant deficient of KatA and KatA-associated protein (KapA). They showed it is not essential for initial colonisation but it was demonstrated to be essential for the maintenance of longer colonisation (Harris et al., 2003). Interestingly, recent studies. by Richter et al, described the moonlighting of KatA, in which they demonstrated KatA protection of *H. pylori* from complement-mediated killing through a vitronectin-dependent manner (Richter et al., 2016).

5.2 Hypothesis

The major role of catalase is the removal of hydrogen peroxide from living organisms thereby protecting it from the consequences of a high concentration of H₂O₂ (Zamocky and Koller, 1999). Unfortunately, some people are without this essential protection due to lack of this enzyme, in a condition called acatalasemia. This is a rare congenital abnormality typified by the lack of the catalase enzyme. This was first described by Takahara in 1952 which showed the development of progressive oral gangrene among people who are catalase deficient on infection with bacteria capable of inducing hydrogen peroxide (Takahara, 1952). In the blood, deficiency of the catalase enzyme could lead to aggregation of erythrocytes due to high hydrogen peroxide generation and subsequent development of disease due to blood flow obstruction (Masuoka et al., 2006). Apart from this development of oral gangrene, Goth et al in their work demonstrated the link between acatalasemia and diabetes mellitus while working with some Hungarian acatalasemia patients. They inferred that the inability of catalase to protect the pancreatic β -cell from the destruction of hydrogen peroxide (Goth and Nagy, 2012, Goth, 2001). Others reported the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by hyperglycaemia which further causes cell damages (Hunt et al., 1988, Jaganjac et al., 2013).

H. pylori KatA is a 505 amino acid tetrameric enzyme with heme prosthetic, KatA makes approximately 1% of the total protein expressed by *H. pylori* (Alyamani et al., 2007). Preliminary protein bioinformatics analysis of *H. pylori* KatA shows it shares 78-85% amino acid sequence identity with that from other *Helicobacter* species, about 65% identity with other bacterial catalases and it is believed it could share high amino acid sequence. It differs from other bacterial catalase proteins by having an additional 17 amino acid sequence at the Cterminus, containing a poly-lysine motif. The combination of shared homology with human catalase and the additional poly-lysine motif, is believed to impart different functional characteristics on *H. pylori* KatA

We hypothesize that *H. pylori* catalase (KatA) could offer protection similar to that of human catalase. To test this hypothesis, we used the following objective

Objective

- To use bioinformatics to evaluate the conservation of catalase among different *Helicobacter* species and between *H. pylori* and other organisms.
- To evaluate the cross-reactivity of anti-human catalase antibodies with catalases from different organisms
- To evaluate the presence of antibodies against selected catalases in the blood *H. pylori*-infected patients

192
5.3 Materials and Methods

5.3.1 Conservation of *Helicobacter pylori* Catalase among other *Helicobacter* species

The conservation of the catalase (KatA) sequence among 9 *Helicobacter* species was evaluated by a sequence-based method. This includes multiple sequence alignment using the Clustal Omega program on the UniProtKB through the ExPASy SIB Bioinformatics Resource Portal. Two *H. pylori* strains: *Helicobacter pylori* (strain ATCC 700392 / 26695) and *Helicobacter pylori* (strain J99 / ATCC 700824) were first aligned to ascertain the degree of similarity. Then using *Helicobacter pylori* (strain ATCC 700392 / 26695) as a reference strain (which is also the source of the catalase I have used throughout my PhD experiment); the catalases of *Helicobacter felis* (strain ATCC 49179 / NCTC 12436 / CS1), *Helicobacter cinaedi* CCUG 18818 = ATCC BAA-847, *Helicobacter hepaticus* (strain ATCC 51449 / 3B1), *Helicobacter suis* HS5, *Helicobacter muridarum* (ATCC 49282), *Helicobacter cholecystus* ATCC 700242 and *Helicobacter canadensis* MIT 98-5491 were analysed.

The percentage of similarities and identical positions were first evaluated from the alignments alongside the active sites and metal-binding sequence.

5.3.1.1 Conservation of *Helicobacter pylori* Catalase among other *Helicobacter* species and other organisms

Following the protein bioinformatic analysis of *Helicobacter* spp., I went further to look at the analysis of above-named *Helicobacter* spp. in addition to the human catalase, *Corynebacterium glutamicum* catalase and *Aspergillus niger*. Again, the percentage similarities and identical position were evaluated in comparison *H. pylori* catalase. Furthermore, the catalases' active sites and metal-binding sequence were determined. Then from the aligned sequences the domain, helix, Beta strand and chain were assessed.

5.3.1.2 Structural Bioinformatics

Likewise, to enhance the understanding of the structure *H. pylori* KatA, human catalase, *Corynebacterium glutamicum* and *Aspergillus niger* catalase, and for better comparison, 3D structural bioinformatics was carried using the Phyre2 with the FASTA sequence from the NCBI protein database; *H. pylori* KatA (accession number: TLR88905.1), human catalase (accession number: NP_001743.1), *Corynebacterium glutamicum* (accession number: AIK83984.1) and *Aspergillus niger* (accession number: AAA68206.1)catalase. The 3D structures were captured and evaluated for differences, then the secondary structure and disorder prediction analysis was evaluated.

5.3.1.3 Experimental validation of conservation catalase among organisms

5.3.1.3.1 Catalase selection criteria

To assess the conservation we use the cross-reactivity of anti-catalase antibodies among different catalases from different organisms, commercially available catalase from human erythrocytes (Sigma-Aldrich) (EC 1.11.1.6) concentration \leq 10 mg/mL, catalase from *Aspergillus niger* (Sigma-Aldrich) (EC 1.11.1.6), concentration \geq 4,000 units/mg protein, catalase from *Corynebacterium glutamicum* solution, deep brown, concentration \geq 500000 U/mL were purchased and *H. pylori* catalase produced in our laboratory representing human, fungi, gram-positive and gram-negative, respectively.

5.3.1.3.2 *H. pylori*-positive and *H. pylori*-negative Serum sample preparation

From the blood samples collected in **section 4.1** *H. pylori*-positive and *H. pylori*-negative serum samples and were diluted by 1:200 in PBS-Tween (0.05% TweenTM 20, 0.01 M phosphate buffer with pH 7.4 at 25° C).

5.3.1.4 Characterisation of the purified protein

5.3.1.4.1 BCA protein assay, Catalase activity, SDS-PAGE and PageBlue[™] Protein Staining

The concentration of the respective catalases was measured using Pierce[™] BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Scientific) following the manufacturer's instructions. Then using 3% hydrogen peroxide the catalase activities were assessed following the procedure previously used in **section 2.3.1.7.3** Subsequently, SDS-PAGE was to evaluate the purity of the commercially available catalases, following the technique previously described **section 2.3.1.7.1**

5.3.1.4.2 Further purification of the Aspergillus niger

Because all the catalase appeared to be clean on the gel photo except the *Aspergillus niger* catalase. Consequently, the *Aspergillus niger* suspension was further purified by size exclusion chromatography (SEC) as previously described in **Section 2.3.1.6.** The eluted protein was assessed for purity using SDS-PAGE as described in **section 2.3.1.7.1.** The concentration of purified proteins was determined using Pierce[™] BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Scientific) following the manufacturer's instructions.

5.3.1.5 Western blot analysis of catalases Anti-human catalase antibody

To test whether antibodies against human catalase also react well with catalases from *H. pylori* and other microbes. SDS-PAGE previously described in **section 2.3.1.7.1** was to resolve to the proteins, Human catalase, *Aspergillus niger* catalase, *Corynebacterium glutamicum* catalase and *H. pylori* recombinant catalase. The resolved proteins were transferred to the nitrocellulose paper following the procedure described in **section 2.3.1.7.2**.

According to the western blot procedure described in **section 2.3.1.7.2**, the proteins on the nitrocellulose paper were probed with anti-human catalase

antibody (rabbit polyclonal antibodies)(Sigma-Aldrich). Then secondary antibody was anti-rabbit IgG-horseradish peroxide conjugate (Sigma) visualise by chemiluminescence readout and the bands were compared with the prestained protein marker to ensure it is at the expected molecular weight.

5.3.1.6 Western blot evaluation of *H. pylori*-positive and negative patients on human, *Aspergillus niger, Corynebacterium glutamicum* and *Helicobacter pylori* catalase

The human, *Aspergillus niger, Corynebacterium glutamicum* and *Helicobacter pylori* catalase were resolved on the SDS-PAGE gel following the procedure described in **section 2.3.1.7.1** using a double pockets SDS-PAGE combs (Figure 5.1.) a uniform lane of the resolved protein.



Figure 5.1. Figure 5.1 A double pocket comb used in creating a single well.

The proteins on the gel were transferred to a nitrocellulose paper following the procedure described above. The nitrocellulose paper upon which the proteins were transferred to was cut into strips of 0.5 cm each. Two strips selected from each of the respective catalases were marked and placed one each on two different containers labelled Positive and Negative and was blocked for 1 hour on a shaker at room temperature with blocking solution described in **section 2.4.2.2**. A total 20 patient samples were used in this study, 10 confirm *H. pylori*-positive and 10 *H. pylori*-negative sample, following the blocking 5 ml of the of 1:200 dilution of the serum sample prepared in **section.....** was added and incubated overnight at 4 °C on the shaker. At the end of the incubation, the blot was washed in PBS-Tween 3 x with 5 minutes shaking incubation in between. The blot was placed in a secondary antibody, anti-human IgG-horseradish peroxide conjugate (Sigma) and incubated on a shaker for 1 hour. Successively, the strips were washed 5 x in PBS-Tween with an interval of 5 minutes and 1 x in PBS.

The chemiluminescent readout was achieved following the previous procedure described in **section 2.3.1.7.2**

5.4 Result

5.4.1.1 Bioinformatic analysis of conservation among Helicobacter spp

Nine Helicobacter species were analysed using Clustal-Omega, with well-known human pathogens: Helicobacter pylori (strain ATCC 700392 / 26695). Additionally, Helicobacter felis; a bacterial species commonly isolated from mammals such as cat, dog and rabbits, although capable of causing human diseases (Lee et al., 1988), Helicobacter cinaedi; another well-known Helicobacter isolated from hamsters and monkeys which is also known to cause disease in immunocompromised individuals (Kawamura et al., 2014), Helicobacter hepaticus; this is a well-known mouse Helicobacter, shown to induce lower bowel inflammation(Fox et al., 2011), Helicobacter suis; H. suis is commonly isolated from pig and non-human primate, it is well studied Helicobacter sp capable of causing diseases similar to H. pylori, but unlike H. pylori, H. suis is notable for infecting parietal cells, causing degeneration of the cells (Joo et al., 2007), Helicobacter muridarum, known for its fastidious nature and first isolated from the murine mucosa (Lee et al., 1992), Helicobacter cholecystus; first described as the filamentous Helicobacter sp isolated from the gallbladder of a hamster, it is associated with the occurrence of cholangiofibrosis and centrilobular. pancreatitis(Franklin et al., 1996) and Helicobacter canadensis; this specie is primarily isolated from poultry and its products (Atabay et al., 1998), although isolation from barnacle, Canada geese

and from rodent faeces have been recorded (Waldenstrom et al., 2003), while it is not known to cause disease in humans infection cannot be ruled out (Inglis et al., 2006). The percentage identity between *H. pylori* and other *Helicobacter* spp used in this study ranged from 97% to 50% having an identical position of amino acid sequences ranges from 492 amino acid as found in *H. pylori* J99 to 255 amino acids found in *Helicobacter cholecystus* as shown in **Table 5.1**

The analysis of the showed that all the catalases share the same active site and metal-binding sequence, but interestingly only *H. pylori* have a beta-strand region, helix region and sequence are not consecutive (sequence conflict). *H. pylori* also do not possess domain sequence contrasting to the other *Helicobacter* species in the analysis which have domains throughout most their amino acid sequence.

Table 5.2 Sequence alignment summary of the 9 Helicobacter species showing the percentage identity and identical position with

Helicobacter pylori 26695 strain.

Organism	Entry Number	Entry name	Amino acid Sequence	ldentical position <i>WITH H. pylori</i> (strain ATCC 700392 / 26695)	% Identity <i>WITH H. pylori</i> (strain ATCC 700392 / 26695)
<i>Helicobacter pylori</i> (strain ATCC 700392/26695)	P77872	CATA_HELPY	505	-	-
<i>Helicobacter pylori</i> (strain J99 / ATCC 700824)	Q9ZKX5	CATA_HELPJ	505	492	97.426
<i>Helicobacter felis</i> (strain ATCC 49179 / NCTC 12436 / CS1),	E7AAY6	E7AAY6_HELFC	485	331	65.415
Helicobacter cinaedi (CCUG 18818 = ATCC BAA-847)	I7H4C3	I7H4C3_9HELI	481	311	61.584
<i>Helicobacter hepaticus</i> (strain ATCC 51449 / 3B1),	Q7VK49	Q7VK49_HELHP	478	298	59.01
Helicobacter suis (HS5),	E7G3S7	E7G3S7_9HELI	494	323	63.708
Helicobacter muridarum (ATCC 49282),	A0A099TYR4	A0A099TYR4_9HELI	482	312	61.782
Helicobacter cholecystus ATCC 700242	A0A3D8IWC8	A0A3D8IWC8_9HELI	468	255	50.296
Helicobacter canadensis MIT 98- 5491	C5ZW34	C5ZW34_9HELI	474	271	53.452

5.4.1.2 Bioinformatic analysis of conservation among *Helicobacter* spp catalase, other microbes and human catalase

Next, the catalases of from other organisms were added to the analysis; a Gram-positive bacterium catalase from *Corynebacterium glutamicum (C. glutamicum)*, a fungi catalase *Aspergillus niger (A. niger)* and human catalase. Briefly, *C. glutamicum* is a non-pathogenic non-spore-forming Gram-negative bacterium which is widely used in the industries for the production of industrial amino acids (Vertes et al., 2012) and it was named glutamicum because of its discovery as a producer of glutamate in the 1950s and was previously named *Micrococcus glutamicus* (Yang and Yang, 2017). *Aspergillus niger* is also another industrial important microbe, it is a filamentous fungus efficient in utilising lowcost substrates in the production of a large quantity of proteins, metabolite and organic acid (Meyer et al., 2015) and was popularly known for citric acid production(Ciriminna et al., 2017), although its infection is not common to compare to others species of Aspergillus such *A. fumigatus* and *A. flavus* there have been reported infections in humans (Person et al., 2010).

Again, the sequence alignment analysis of the 3 catalases from human, *C. glutamicum* and *A. niger* with other *H. pylori* and other *Helicobacter* spp showed that the active site and metal-binding sequence are well conserved across all the species (Appendix). Interestingly, there are so many similarities shared only between *H. pylori* catalase human catalase that is not shared with catalase of other *Helicobacter* spp and organisms. These include the possession

202

of a beta-strand, helix, turn and sequence conflict in its sequence and absence of a domain which is found in every other catalase

Interestingly, to support the similarity between *H. pylori* KatA and Human catalase, as shown in Table 5.3 there is about 48% amino acid sequence identity this is higher than fellow bacteria *Corynebacterium glutamicum* (42%) and the fungi *Aspergillus niger* (26%). This similarity could be as a result of coevolution of Human and *H. pylori* over a long period of time.

 Table 5.3 Sequence alignment summary of the 9 Helicobacter species showing the percentage identity and identical position with

 Helicobacter pylori 26695 strain.

Organism	Accession Number	Entry name	Amino acid Sequence	Identical position <i>WITH H. pylori</i> (strain ATCC 700392 / 26695)	% Identity <i>WITH H. pylori</i> (strain ATCC 700392 / 26695)
<i>Helicobacter pylor</i> (strain ATCC 700392 / 26695)	P77872	CATA_HELPY	505	-	-
Human (Homo sapiens) Catalase	<u>P55303</u>	CATA_HUMAN	527	259	48.411
Corynebacterium glutamicum. catalase	<u>A0A160PMU0</u>	A0A160PMU0_CORGT	516	227	42.351
Aspergillus niger catalase	<u>P55303</u>	CATR_ASPNG	730	195	26.423

5.4.1.3 3D structure of the H. pylori KatA, human catalase, Corynebacterium glutamicum and Aspergillus niger

The 3D structure of the *H. pylori* KatA, human catalase, *C. glutamicum* and *A. niger* were obtained from the Phyre2 using the individual FASTA sequence from the NCBI database. The result as shown below (Figure 5.2). The four structures showed similarities in the basic structure but it is worthy to note when the secondary structures were analysed. The secondary structure and disorder prediction analysis of each of catalases revealed an interestingly close similarity between human catalase and *H. pylori* catalase having an equal percentage of both alpha-helix and beta-strand (31% and 16% respectively) Table 5.4 and Appendix (Figure E, F, G and H).



Figure 5.2. Phyre2 3D structural analysis of catalases (A)*H. pylori* KatA, (B)human catalase, (C) *Corynebacterium glutamicum* and (D)*Aspergillus niger* on the Phyre2. Image were coloured rainbow N \rightarrow C. Percentage of each of residues have been modelled at >90% confidence.

Organism	Disordered	Alpha helix	Beta strand
H. pylori	25%	31%	16%
Human	24%	31%	16%
C. glutamicum	22%	34%	14%
A. niger	28%	35%	14%

Table 5.4 The secondary structure and disorder prediction analysis catalase from different organisms.

5.4.1.4 Quantitative and qualitative evaluation of the commercially available catalases

The concentration of the commercially available catalases; Human catalase, *Aspergillus niger* catalase, *Corynebacterium glutamicum* catalase and recombinant *H. pylori* KatA prepared in **section 2.4.1** were measured using PierceTM BCA protein assay. Then the catalase activity was assessed by 3 % hydrogen peroxide presumptive test, the result showed positive activities for all the catalases and was confirmed using commercially available Amplex[®] Red Catalase. Then the proteins were resolved on the SDS-PAGE to evaluate the purity (figure 5.3). Only *Aspergillus niger* catalase was not up to 95% pure as shown in figure 5.3 lane 4.



Figure 5.3. A typical SDS-PAGE showing the resolved catalases from H. pylori, *Human,* Corynebacterium glutamicum and Aspergillus niger. Commercially available catalases from human erythrocyte, Aspergillus niger, Corynebacterium glutamicum and H. pylori were resolved on the SDS-PAGE and proteins were visualised using PageBlue[™] Protein Staining Solution. Lane1, prestained protein standard; lane 2, H. pylori catalase (KatA); lane 3, Human catalase; lane 4, A. niger catalase; lane 5, C. glutamicum catalase.

Following the SDS-PAGE revelation of the impurities in the *Aspergillus niger* a decision was made for further purification of the protein. Size exclusion chromatography (SEC) was for its further purified since it works on the simple principle of differences in the sizes of the molecules involve or sometimes the molecular weight. Then protein was purified using SEC, following the procedure in section 2.4.1.6 The concentration was measured using Pierce[™] BCA protein assay kit. The elution product was resolved on the SDS-PAGE gel together with other catalases and stained using PageBlue[™] Protein Staining Solution as shown in figure 5.4.





Commercially available catalases from human erythrocyte, *Aspergillus niger, Corynebacterium glutamicum* and *H. pylori* were resolved on the SDS-PAGE and proteins were visualised using PageBlue[™] Protein Staining SolutionLane 1, prestained protein standard; lane 2, H. pylori catalase (KatA); lane 3, Human catalase; lane 4, *C. glutamicum* catalase; lane 5, *A. niger*. Catalase *5.4.1.5* The Western Blot analysis of the catalases from *H. pylori,* human erythrocyte, *A. niger* and *C. glutamicum*

In order to evaluate The Western Blot analysis of the cross-reactivity among the antibodies for of catalases from *H. pylori,* human erythrocyte, *A. niger* and *C. glutamicum*

5.4.1.5.1 Reaction with anti-human catalase antibody with other microbe catalase

In order to evaluate whether antibodies against human catalase (rabbit polyclonal antibodies) also react well with catalases from *H. pylori* and other microbes, *Aspergillus niger, Corynebacterium glutamicum* and *H. pylori*. Therefore, western blot analysis for the four catalases was carried out using anti-human catalase IgG as the primary antibody. The bands were compared with the prestained protein marker to ensure it is at the expected molecular weight. The result showed there was no cross-reactivity between antibodies against human catalase and catalase from *Aspergillus niger, Corynebacterium glutamicum* and *H. pylori* figure 5.5.



Figure 5.5. A typical western blot chemiluminescence film showing the catalases from **H. pylori**, *Human*, **Corynebacterium glutamicum** and **Aspergillus niger** probed with anti-human catalase IgG to evaluate cross-reactivity among the catalases. Commercially available catalases from human erythrocyte, Aspergillus niger, Corynebacterium glutamicum and H. pylori were resolved on SDS-PAGE, then transferred to a nitrocellulose paper and probed with anti-human catalase IgG. Lane 1, prestained protein standard; Iane 2, *H. pylori* catalase (KatA); Iane 3, Human catalase; Iane 4, C. glutamicum catalase; Iane 5, A. niger.

5.4.1.5.2 Reaction with serum antibodies from *H. pylori*-positive and *H. pylori*-negative patients

Following the confirmation that polyclonal anti-human catalase antibody does not cross-react with catalase from *Aspergillus niger, Corynebacterium glutamicum* and *H. pylori*. Especially with the higher-level sequence similarity between KatA and human catalase amino acids, it is expected they could share a few epitopes which could result to cross-reactivity between anti-KatA catalase present in the serum of *H. pylori*-positive patient.

Western blot was used to analysis the cross-reactivity of the anti-catalase antibody from *H. pylori*-positive and *H. pylori*-negative patients. The results shown in Fig 5.6 indicated strong bands on the *H. pylori*-catalase (KatA) with the *H. pylori*-positive serum compare to the *H. pylori*-negative serum. Surprisingly, there are bands on the *H. pylori*-negative serum.

Interestingly, there were either weak bands or no band on the human catalase with *H. pylori*-positive serum and no band on the negative serum. Similarly, *C. glutamicum* weakly bands or no band on both positive and negative serum. *A. niger* showed strong both the positive and negative serum.



Figure 5.6. A typical western blot chemiluminescence film showing the catalases from *H. pylori*, Human, *Corynebacterium glutamicum* and *Aspergillus niger* probed with *H. pylori*-positive (+) and H. pylori-negative (-) patients' serum to evaluate cross-reactivity among the catalases. The catalases are commercially available catalases from human erythrocyte, *A. niger, C.* glutamicum and recombinant H. pylori catalase. The catalases were resolved on SDS-PAGE, then transferred to a nitrocellulose paper and probed with 1:100 dilution of H. pylori-positive patient serum.

5.5 Discussion

The major aim of the studies was to investigate the similarity between catalase from *H. pylori* (KatA) and other organisms especially that of human to ascertain their relatedness. More importantly to investigate whether the antibody against *H. pylori*-KatA anti-body present in the serum of *H. pylori*-positive patient could cross-react with human catalase. The result of these studies presented evidence for further understanding *H. pylori* coevolution with human and this could be a benefit in the understanding of the effect of *H. pylori* KatA in immune regulation.

5.5.1 Bioinformatic analysis

The bioinformatic analysis of the catalases of *Helicobacter* species from different mammalian hosts showed a percentage similarity in the amino acid sequence of about 50 to 65%. This can actually be said to be relatively low when compared to the other proteins shared among the species such as urease subunit beta (UreB) and gamma-glutamyltranspeptidase (GGT), whose similarities range between 75-88% and 65-71% respectively. but the major difference is the absence of the beta-strand, helix and sequence conflict in other Helicobacter species catalases. Likewise, it is only `*H. pylori* catalase that does not possess domain sequence regions. The high percentage similarity

could be due to common origin of the *Helicobacter* species which is also shown by their tendency to caused similar inflammatory response which resembles the type caused by *H. pylori* (Solnick and Schauer, 2001). On the other hand, the difference marked differences seen between *H. pylori* catalase and other species could be explained by the host specificity and several years of coevolution with its human host (Kodaman et al., 2014).

Interestingly, *H. pylori* catalase s high percentage identity between its amino acid sequence and that of human catalase (48%), which is surprisingly high when compared to the percentage identity with other microorganisms. Actually, the result in this study showed that percentage identity between H. pylori catalase and catalases of C. glutamicum and A. niger is 42% and 26% respectively, which are both lower than that of human. This is further supported by the observation that among all the catalase sequences used in the analysis, it was only *H. pylori* and Human catalase that posses a beta-strand, helix, turn and sequence conflict in its sequence interestingly both lack the regions of the domain which are found in every other catalase. This observation could be appreciated in the light of long term adaptation of *H. pylori* to its human host (Atherton and Blaser, 2009); several factors of the bacteria have been modified to enable it to survive and coexist with its host. A typical illustration was in the recent report by Richter et al, which showed that *H. pylori* KatA is a receptor to an extracellular matrix and plasma protein, the vitronectin, which the bacteria uses to mask itself against the complement-mediated killing (Richter et al., 2016). This phenomenon is a clear diversion from the orthodox function of catalase which is the antioxidant activity in every living organism. Similarly, it could be the close similarity between human and *H. pylori* catalase means that antibody against one could react to the other.

The tertiary and secondary structure of protein especially the alphahelix and beta-strand have a huge influence on the epitope. This could be due to high chemical bond energy found in alpha helices and beta strands of a protein in addition to factors such as hydrophobicity, polarity, turns and surface accessibility (Poland et al., 2001). Consequently, the tertiary 3D and secondary structure of each of the catalase from the 4 organisms were analysed using Phyre2, this showed *A. niger* is made up of 28% disorder, 35% alpha-helix and 14% beta-strand, *C. glutamicum* 22% disordered, 34% alpha-helix and 14% beta-strand, *H. pylori* KatA 25% disordered, 31% alpha-helix and 16% betastrand while human catalase is made up of 24% disordered, 31% alpha-helix and 16% beta-strand.

Earlier analysis considering only amino acid sequence, primary structure, showed 48% similarity between human and *H. pylori* catalase. Primary structure of proteins does not put into consideration of molecular interaction which gives rise to the secondary structures, hence cannot efficiently establish epitopes on the protein. Consequently, the similarity in the percentage of alpha helices, beta-strand and disordered sequence could be a good prediction on the resemblance between the two proteins. This also could explain the interaction between the pathogen (*H.pylori*)and host (*Homo sapien*), especially why the antibodies produced by the pathogen are not

218

effective. Again coevolution between the two organisms (Kodaman et al., 2014) is likely to account immunomodulation and likelihood of *H. pylori* to persist in the incidence of infection.

5.5.2 Investigation cross-reactivities of the anti-KatA antibody with catalase from different organisms

Previously in chapter 4, microarray was used to investigate the anti-KatA antibody present in the serum of *H. pylori*-positive and *H. pylori*-negative patients. The result from this study showed that *H. pylori*-positive patients have 4-fold higher anti-KatA antibody in their serum compare to that of the *H. pylori*negative patients. Therefore, since KatA elicits such a high level of antibody and with the scepticism among several researchers on the protective capability of the KatA-specific antibodies to protect against *Helicobacter pylori* infection (Kotiw et al., 2012). The hypothesis that *H. pylori* KatA specific antibodies could behave functions that are normal antibody functions. With a high level of anti-KatA antibodies could cross-reaction with human catalase to block its functions.

The result from the western blot investigation of the cross-reactivity of the anti-KatA specific antibody using serum from both *H. pylori*-positive and *H. pylori*-negative patient presented an inconclusive result. There is obvious inconsistency in the result of *C. glutamicum* and *A. niger*, while most the *C*.

glutamicum showed the band at both positive serum and negative serum, the *A. niger* results showed no band with some of the positive serum and weak band in some of the negative serum. The positive western blot bands on the catalases of *C. glutamicum* and *A. niger* catalase is unexpected since both could be described as non-pathogenic (Person et al., 2010, Burkovski, 2013). Further experimental evidence through additional studies could provide some answer on the role of catalase on immunomodulation in *H. pylori*-infected patient.

Chapter 6

Final Discussion

6.1 Important and Novel

The fundamental objective of this study was to ascertain the other factors H. *pylori* utilises in inducing immune suppression. `To do this, a hypothesis which states that *H. pylori* molecules have both direct and indirect immune regulatory effect on the cells of the immune was developed. The results obtained from the study in chapter 2 shows that KatA significantly suppresses IL-2 a proinflammatory cytokine, first recognised for its function in the T-cell expansion (Smith, 1988). At the same time, the study also supports the already existing finding of the immune-suppressive ability of GGT while showing that PPT is ineffective in immune suppression. Although the mechanism behind KatA immune suppression was not investigated due to time constraints, this study is the first to demonstrate another function for this ubiquitous protein. Furthermore, data from chapter 4 showed that five *H. pylori* factors CagA, VacA, KatA, GGT and PPT were the potential biomarker for the screen peptic ulcer and potentially Gastric cancer, using serum antibodies against these factors. In Chapter 5, the bioinformatic analysis of catalase proteins of H. pylori, other Helicobacter species, C. glutamicum, fungi-A. niger and human reveal a consistent shift in similarities of *H. pylori* KatA and away from microorganisms and unanticipated shift in similarity towards human catalase. These similarities between H. pylori KatA and Human catalase might be in important in conferring additional functional characteristics during an infection such as immunoregulation through moonlighting on the surface of *H. pylori* to avoid

immune cells activation (Richter et al., 2016), direct suppression of immune and probable compensation in the case of acatalasemia (Goth and Nagy, 2012).

6.1.1 Effect of H. pylori VacA types on the immunoregulation

H. pylori infection stimulates robust immune response although this response is known to often fail in the eradication of the bacteria leading to persistent colonialization of the gastric mucosa and/or gastric damage (Perez-Perez et al., 1988, Tinnert et al., 1997, Blanchard et al., 1999, Jakob et al., 2001, Suerbaum and Michetti, 2002). One of the most studied methods utilised by *H. pylori* in surviving the immune assault is the immune suppression (Algood and Cover 2006). Müller et al in their review described series of processes *H. pylori* utilised in the manipulation of both innate and adaptive immune cell signalling pathway to establish persistent infection (Müller et al., 2011a).

The study in **Chapter 2** provided evidence which suggested that KatA could directly inhibit proinflammation cytokines. That is KatA may have immunoregulatory properties capable of manipulating of immune cells during *H. pylori* infection. Most of the early studies have focused on VacA and GGT are the main factor providing the immunoregulatory properties in *H. pylori* infection (Salama et al., 2001a, Zheng and Jones, 2003, Gebert et al., 2003, Sundrud et al., 2004, Gerhard et al., 2005, Torres et al., 2007, Oertli et al., 2013a, Wustner et al., 2017). The best of my knowledge this was the first report on immunoregulatory properties of *H. pylori* KatA outside it activities of hydrogen peroxides elimination. Although the result of the experiment showed

223

the significant reduction of IL-2 production at concentration 50 μ g/ml, it is worthy of note that KatA is secreted in high level making up to 1% of the total bacterial secreted protein (Hazell et al., 1991). Gebert et al reported that in addition to inhibition of T cell proliferation, VacA abrogated the nuclear translocation of nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) leading to downregulation of IL-2 transcription (Gebert et al., 2003). Other reports on GGT only agreed on its ability to inhibit cell proliferation without impairing the IL-2 production (Schmees et al., 2007, Sundrud et al., 2004), this is not in agreement with the result of the experiment in Chapter 2 which showed that high concentration 50 μ g/ml, GGT significantly inhibit IL-2 secretion in Jurkat cells.

Although the biological mechanism through which these two protein factors of H. pylori were not investigated, there is a need for further studies for additional understanding the pathways of immunosuppression of the molecule this could help in the development of new therapeutic alternatives for the treatment of associated diseases.

6.1.2 The anti-inflammatory property of H. pylori proteins

A number of human diseases such as pathogens infection, allergy, cancer etc have been associated with changes in the Treg number and function (Banham, 2006). Treg has been shown to be vital in the immune regulation during *H. pylori* and subsequent pathogenesis (Kandulski et al., 2010, Overacre and Vignali, 2016, Vignali et al., 2008). An earlier study by Liu et al in C57BL/6 mice revealed an increase in CD⁺ Foxp3⁺ Treg frequency both in the lamina propria and the spleen of the infected cohort compared to the placebo receiving group. Similarly, their work also showed a higher Treg number when stimulated with *H. pylori* antigen in vitro (Liu et al., 2015). Their study focused largely on the difference in the Treg and does not put into consideration the difference and effect of VacA type being expressed by the infecting *H. pylori*, the experiment in **Chapter 3** which utilised similar model but measured the difference in VacA type.

The investigation by Lui et al reported an increase in Treg number in the spleen by just 2.98 \pm 16 % which was not a significant change between the infected group and the placebo receiving group, this is consistent with the result of the investigation in Chapter 3, which showed no significant difference in Treg in *H*. *pylori* exposed mice compares to the non-exposed group after 9 weeks but consistently show an increase in the number of CD4⁺ Foxp3⁺. Furthermore, there was also no difference in Treg number from the spleen of mice infected with *H. pylori* expressing distinctive types of VacA.

Unlike the nTreg which differentiate in the thymus before it migrates to the peripheral, iTreg are mostly induced at the peripheral from the pool of peripheral CD4⁺ CD⁻Focp3⁻ precursor (Mayne and Williams, 2013, Schmitt and Williams, 2013). The principal function of Treg cells are its immunosuppressive activities through IL-10 and other associated cytokines such as TGF- β (Ray et al., 2010).(Ray et al., 2010) To ensure that the effect of the VacA types was not the case of number rather the functionality, the level of immunosuppressive IL-10 cytokine production was investigated. The result of this investigation

225

showed no difference in the level of IL-10 secretion from the Treg derived from the mice groups when stimulated with PMA-ionomycin/LPS mitogen. This result was in contrast to results from other investigations which indicated that on stimulation of Treg derived from mice exposed with *H. pylori* there would increase the IL-10 production. (Rad et al., 2006, Wang et al., 2013a, Liu et al., 2015).

Compare to the mitogen, PMA-ionomycin/LPS used the experiment, other studies have shown that a more potent activator of *H. pylori*-experienced Treg to the secrete of IL-10 is the *H. pylori* antigen rather than the PMA-ionomycin. Liu et al showed that spleen lymphocytes isolated from *H. pylori*-infected mice stimulated for 15 hours with *H. pylori* antigen secreted a statistically significant amount of IL-10 and TGF- β compare to the PMA-ionomycin stimulated spleen lymphocyte from *H. pylori*-infected and unstimulated uninfected mice (Liu et al., 2015, Raghavan et al., 2003). The results point to the fact that the IL-10 production in stimulated Treg is a function of the presence of memory Treg rather than other possible sources such as induced Treg.

Conclusively, functional analysis of the CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Treg isolated from *H. pylori* exposed and non-exposed mice showed an obvious suppression of T cell proliferation but does not show any difference immunosuppressive activities in both groups.

6.2 Critique of the experimental design

Recombinant proteins production has been one of the mainstays in biomedical and other scientific research in general. One of the ways of purification of recombinant protein has been the addition of extra amino acid residues to the N- or C-terminus of the protein by modification of the DNA sequence. The extra sequence of amino, known as tags, confer particular properties to the protein. One of such properties seen with the tags is exemplified by polyhistidine (Histag) addition to the N-terminal which bestow which enable purification of recombinant protein from crude cell lysate using immobilized metal affinity chromatography (Munro and Pelham, 1984). Booth et al showed that there are differences in the stability and functions of N-terminal His-tag protein and native protein (protein with its histags cleaved with TEV protease) (Booth et al., 2018). Consequently, the experimental design of Chapter 2, may be affected since the assays carried out in the investigation are functional assays intended to mimic the role of the protein in its native form in vivo.

Furthermore, the one the hypothesis in this work put into consideration that the possible reason for the unique behaviour of *H. pylori* KatA could be because it differs from other bacterial catalase proteins by having an additional 17 amino acid sequence at the C-terminus, containing a poly-lysine motif and this may impart different functional characteristics. Therefore, if it is believed that this poly-lysine sequence could affect the functionality and behaviour of the protein, the same could be ba said of the polyhistidine at the C-terminus.

The immune suppression assays have been essential in the evaluation of activities Treg. The *in vitro* studies involving suppression assays have been deemed technically difficult due to whole line problems ranging from induction cell purification (McMurchy and Levings, 2012). The use of to PMA/ionomycin/LPS in Chapter 2 is a polyclonal mix of mitogens which could easily mimic in vivo natural environment. Ionomycin is a Calcium (Ca^{2+}) ionophore produced by Streptomyces conglobatus fermentation, with high affinity for calcium (Liu et al., 1978). In rest T cells ionomycin induces the activation of protein kinase C(PKC) via phosphorylation of CD4 and CD8 proteins. The function of PMA is to advance the activation by induction of T cell proliferation through NFAT nuclear translocation (Chatila et al., 1989, Wang et al., 2013a). The LPS is the most common component present in all Gramnegative bacterial wall, it is a PAMP that is well known for it the ability to bind to TLR4 leading to the activation of major immune responses (Ngkelo et al., 2012). Although this polyclonal mix has been shown to efficient in induction of immune response, its aptness to experiment in Chapter 3 could be deemed slightly inapt since the experiment is designed to evaluate specific activities of H. pylori factors. Thus as stated earlier, H. pylori antigen could have been better.

Finally, the western blot experiments in Chapter 5 appear to be the only qualitative rather than quantitative. Consequently, the results of this investigation do not permit an adequate conclusion. To overcome this, the use quantifiable western blot technique such as electronic imaging systems that

228
could enable analysable digital images. Such an image could then allow normalization of the bands and further analyses to acquire quantitative data.

6.3 Future work

On the direct immunosuppressive ability of *H. pylori* KatA, GGT and PPT the future work would be mostly on the framework for the understanding of how KatA mediate immunosuppression of the T-cell. Focus on KatA is important since immunosuppression ability of GGT has already been established (Schmees et al., 2007) and PPT has no T-cell suppression from our experiments or any literature report. To investigate further with KatA, two areas are important.

Firstly, Understand the key KatA binding receptor or cellular structure in human T cell and other immune cells. This would entail the investigation of the location of the receptor, that is whether extracellular and intracellular. Additionally, establishing the means through which KatA could reach its receptor. This is important in the light of T-cells being nonphagocytic cell and would require a special mechanism to accumulate KatA intracellularly to the level needed to exert immunosuppression.

Another import area to look at is the mechanism through which KatA establishes immune suppression. Although VacA and GGT are known to suppress T-cell via cycle arrest (Gebert et al., 2003, Gerhard et al., 2005, Schmees et al., 2007), this suggests that KatA could follow similar mechanism

229

but still, it could novel if another different means id discovered for T-cell suppression.

Largely, the structure and function of mice and the human immune system are relatively comparable, in that both species remarkably a prototypical of each in immunology experiment (Haley, 2003). However, there are still some obvious differences in the activation and development of their immune system which could hinder the extrapolating of experimental results from mouse studies to human. A prominent example is the variation in the lymphocyte and neutrophile balance in adult human and mice which has 30-50% lymphocyte, 50-70% neutrophils and 75-90% lymphocyte, 10-25 neutrophils, respectively (Doeing et al., 2003). Due to some these variations, it is worth investigating the correlation between VacA types and Treg numbers in PBMCs of infected human patients. This could bring to light the answer to the important question of which type of VacA is driving the skewing of the immune toward regulatory immune system.

Furthermore, with VacA already been known to promote the Treg differentiation in cases of *H. pylori* infection (Oertli et al., 2013a), and *in vitro* investigation of the effect of recombinant VacA variants on human dendritic cell maturation and the differentiation of naïve T cells, would elucidate possible outcome *in vivo*.

Equally, the suppressive activity of human Tregs generated via DCs exposed to *vacA* mutants could be measured to assess tolerogenic activities of the protein on DCs.

Reference:

- 2016a. *Helicobacter pylori infection and treatment* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.uptodate.com/contents/helicobacter-pylori-infection-and-treatment-beyond-the-basics</u> [Accessed].
- 2016b. Web of Science [v.5.22.3] Web of Science Core Collection Full Record [Online]. NATURE PUBLISHING GROUP, MACMILLAN BUILDING, 4 CRINAN ST, ENGLAND. LONDON N1 9XW, Available: http://apps.webofknowledge.com/InboundService.do?UT=WOS%3A00027915 1100008&IsProductCode=Yes&mode=FullRecord&SID=Y1fOMHVgppdqN1ks uGm&product=WOS&smartRedirect=yes&SrcApp=Highwire&DestFail=http%3 A%2F%2Fwww.webofknowledge.com%3FDestApp%3DCEL%26DestParams %3D%253Faction%253Dretrieve%2526mode%253DFullRecord%2526produc t%253DCEL%2526UT%253DWOS%253A000279151100008%2526customer sID%253DHighwire%2526link_type%253DISI%2526access_num%253D0002 79151100008%26e%3D 28hxeLDwiZrh16Xuvnt6XRmyZAp3b0d4slVi947yEZ M8uENkieM1CG6ygPzWZd9%26SrcApp%3DHighwire%26SrcAuth%3DHigh wire&access num=000279151100008&action=retrieve&Init=Yes&SrcAuth=Hi ghwire&Func=Frame&customersID=Highwire&link type=ISI [Accessed].
- ACHESON, D. W. & LUCCIOLI, S. 2004. Microbial-gut interactions in health and disease. Mucosal immune responses. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol*, 18, 387-404.
- AKHIANI, A. A., SCHON, K., FRANZEN, L. E., PAPPO, J. & LYCKE, N. 2004. Helicobacter pylori-specific antibodies impair the development of gastritis, facilitate bacterial colonization, and counteract resistance against infection. *J Immunol*, 172, 5024-33.
- AKOPYANTS, N. S., CLIFTON, S. W., KERSULYTE, D., CRABTREE, J. E., YOUREE, B. E., REECE, C. A., BUKANOV, N. O., DRAZEK, E. S., ROE, B. A. & BERG, D. E. 1998. Analyses of the cag pathogenicity island of Helicobacter pylori. *Mol Microbiol*, 28, 37-53.
- ALGOOD, H. M. & COVER, T. L. 2006. Helicobacter pylori persistence: an overview of interactions between H. pylori and host immune defenses. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 19, 597-613.
- ALLEN, L. A., SCHLESINGER, L. S. & KANG, B. 2000. Virulent strains of Helicobacter pylori demonstrate delayed phagocytosis and stimulate homotypic phagosome fusion in macrophages. *J Exp Med*, 191, 115-28.
- ALYAMANI, E. J., BRANDT, P., PENA, J. A., MAJOR, A. M., FOX, J. G., SUERBAUM, S. & VERSALOVIC, J. 2007. Helicobacter hepaticus catalase shares surfacepredicted epitopes with mammalian catalases. *Microbiology*, 153, 1006-1016.
- AMEDEI, A., MUNARI, F., BELLA, C. D., NICCOLAI, E., BENAGIANO, M., BENCINI, L., CIANCHI, F., FARSI, M., EMMI, G., ZANOTTI, G., DE BERNARD, M., KUNDU, M. & D'ELIOS, M. M. 2014. Helicobacter pylori secreted peptidyl prolyl cis, trans-isomerase drives Th17 inflammation in gastric adenocarcinoma. *Intern Emerg Med*, 9, 303-9.
- AMIEVA, M. R. & EL-OMAR, E. M. 2008. Host-bacterial interactions in Helicobacter pylori infection. *Gastroenterology*, 134, 306-23.
- ANAND, B. 2016. *Peptic Ulcer Disease: Background, Anatomy, Pathphysiology* [Online]. Available: <u>http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/181753-overview</u> [Accessed].

- ANNIBALE, B., CAPURSO, G., CHISTOLINI, A., D'AMBRA, G., DIGIULIO, E., MONARCA, B. & DELLEFAVE, G. 2001. Gastrointestinal causes of refractory iron deficiency anemia in patients without gastrointestinal symptoms. *Am J Med*, 111, 439-45.
- ARNOLD, B., SCHULER, T. & HAMMERLING, G. J. 2005. Control of peripheral Tlymphocyte tolerance in neonates and adults. *Trends Immunol*, 26, 406-11.
- ARNOLD, I. C., DEHZAD, N., REUTER, S., MARTIN, H., BECHER, B., TAUBE, C. & MULLER, A. 2011a. Helicobacter pylori infection prevents allergic asthma in mouse models through the induction of regulatory T cells. *J Clin Invest*, 121, 3088-93.
- ARNOLD, I. C., LEE, J. Y., AMIEVA, M. R., ROERS, A., FLAVELL, R. A., SPARWASSER, T. & MULLER, A. 2011b. Tolerance rather than immunity protects from Helicobacter pylori-induced gastric preneoplasia. *Gastroenterology*, 140, 199-209.
- ATABAY, H. I., CORRY, J. E. & ON, S. L. 1998. Identification of unusual Campylobacter-like isolates from poultry products as Helicobacter pullorum. *J Appl Microbiol*, 84, 1017-24.
- ATANASSOV, C., PEZENNEC, L., D'ALAYER, J., GROLLIER, G., PICARD, B. & FAUCHERE, J. L. 2002. Novel antigens of Helicobacter pylori correspond to ulcer-related antibody pattern of sera from infected patients. *J Clin Microbiol*, 40, 547-52.
- ATHERTON, J. C. 2006. The pathogenesis of Helicobacter pylori-induced gastroduodenal diseases. *Annu Rev Pathol*, 1, 63-96.
- ATHERTON, J. C. & BLASER, M. J. 2009. Coadaptation of Helicobacter pylori and humans: ancient history, modern implications. *J Clin Invest*, 119, 2475-87.
- ATHERTON, J. C., CAO, P., PEEK, R. M., JR., TUMMURU, M. K., BLASER, M. J. & COVER, T. L. 1995. Mosaicism in vacuolating cytotoxin alleles of Helicobacter pylori. Association of specific vacA types with cytotoxin production and peptic ulceration. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 17771-7.
- AYALA, G., ESCOBEDO-HINOJOSA, W. I., DE LA CRUZ-HERRERA, C. F. & ROMERO, I. 2014. Exploring alternative treatments for Helicobacter pylori infection. *World J Gastroenterol*, 20, 1450-69.
- BALL, V., HUETZ, P., ELAISSARI, A., CAZENAVE, J. P., VOEGEL, J. C. & SCHAAF, P. 1994. Kinetics of exchange processes in the adsorption of proteins on solid surfaces. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 91, 7330-4.
- BAMFORD, K. B., FAN, X., CROWE, S. E., LEARY, J. F., GOURLEY, W. K., LUTHRA, G. K., BROOKS, E. G., GRAHAM, D. Y., REYES, V. E. & ERNST, P. B. 1998. Lymphocytes in the human gastric mucosa during Helicobacter pylori have a T helper cell 1 phenotype. *Gastroenterology*, 114, 482-92.
- BANATVALA, N., MAYO, K., MEGRAUD, F., JENNINGS, R., DEEKS, J. J. & FELDMAN, R. A. 1993. The cohort effect and Helicobacter pylori. *J Infect Dis*, 168, 219-21.
- BANHAM, A. H. 2006. Cell-surface IL-7 receptor expression facilitates the purification of FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells. *Trends Immunol*, 27, 541-4.

- BARANOVSKI, B. M., FREIXO-LIMA, G. S., LEWIS, E. C. & RIDER, P. 2015. T Helper Subsets, Peripheral Plasticity, and the Acute Phase Protein, α1-Antitrypsin. *Biomed Res Int,* 2015.
- BASAK, C., PATHAK, S. K., BHATTACHARYYA, A., PATHAK, S., BASU, J. & KUNDU,
 M. 2005. The secreted peptidyl prolyl cis,trans-isomerase HP0175 of Helicobacter pylori induces apoptosis of gastric epithelial cells in a TLR4- and apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1-dependent manner. *J Immunol*, 174, 5672-80.
- BASSO, D., ZAMBON, C. F., LETLEY, D. P., STRANGES, A., MARCHET, A., RHEAD, J. L., SCHIAVON, S., GUARISO, G., CEROTI, M., NITTI, D., RUGGE, M., PLEBANI, M. & ATHERTON, J. C. 2008. Clinical relevance of Helicobacter pylori cagA and vacA gene polymorphisms. *Gastroenterology*, 135, 91-9.
- BAUERFEIND, P., GARNER, R., DUNN, B. E. & MOBLEY, H. L. 1997. Synthesis and activity of Helicobacter pylori urease and catalase at low pH. *Gut*, 40, 25-30.
- BELTRAN-ANAYA, F. O., POBLETE, T. M., ROMAN-ROMAN, A., REYES, S., DE SAMPEDRO, J., PERALTA-ZARAGOZA, O., RODRIGUEZ, M. A., DEL MORAL-HERNANDEZ, O., ILLADES-AGUIAR, B. & FERNANDEZ-TILAPA, G. 2014. The EPIYA-ABCC motif pattern in CagA of Helicobacter pylori is associated with peptic ulcer and gastric cancer in Mexican population. *BMC Gastroenterol*, 14, 223.
- BERSTAD, A. E., BRANDTZAEG, P., STAVE, R. & HALSTENSEN, T. S. 1997. Epithelium related deposition of activated complement in Helicobacter pylori associated gastritis. *Gut*, 40, 196-203.
- BERSTAD, K. & BERSTAD, A. 1993. Helicobacter pylori infection in peptic ulcer disease. *Scand J Gastroenterol,* 28, 561-7.
- BERTRAND, O. F., LEHNERT, S., MONGRAIN, R. & BOURASSA, M. G. 1999. Early and late effects of radiation treatment for prevention of coronary restenosis: a critical appraisal. *Heart*, 82, 658-62.
- BLANCHARD, T. G., NEDRUD, J. G. & CZINN, S. J. 1999. Local and systemic antibody responses in humans with Helicobacter pylori infection. *Can J Gastroenterol*, 13, 591-4.
- BLASER, M. J. 1997. Ecology of Helicobacter pylori in the human stomach. J Clin Invest, 100, 759-62.
- BLASER, M. J. 2008. Disappearing microbiota: Helicobacter pylori protection against esophageal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)*, 1, 308-11.
- BLASER, M. J. & ATHERTON, J. C. 2004. Helicobacter pylori persistence: biology and disease. *J Clin Invest.*
- BLASER, M. J. & FALKOW, S. 2009. What are the consequences of the disappearing human microbiota? *Nat Rev Microbiol.* England.
- BLASER, M. J., PEREZ-PEREZ, G. I., KLEANTHOUS, H., COVER, T. L., PEEK, R. M., CHYOU, P. H., STEMMERMANN, G. N. & NOMURA, A. 1995. Infection with Helicobacter pylori strains possessing cagA is associated with an increased risk of developing adenocarcinoma of the stomach. *Cancer Res*, 55, 2111-5.
- BOANCA, G., SAND, A. & BARYCKI, J. J. 2006. Uncoupling the enzymatic and autoprocessing activities of Helicobacter pylori gamma-glutamyltranspeptidase. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 19029-37.

- BODNER, C., ANDERSON, W. J., REID, T. S. & GODDEN, D. J. 2000. Childhood exposure to infection and risk of adult onset wheeze and atopy. *Thorax*, 55, 383-7.
- BOMBERGER, J. M., MACEACHRAN, D. P., COUTERMARSH, B. A., YE, S., O'TOOLE, G. A. & STANTON, B. A. 2009. Long-distance delivery of bacterial virulence factors by Pseudomonas aeruginosa outer membrane vesicles. *PLoS Pathog*, 5, e1000382.
- BONCRISTIANO, M., PACCANI, S. R., BARONE, S., ULIVIERI, C., PATRUSSI, L., ILVER, D., AMEDEI, A., D'ELIOS, M. M., TELFORD, J. L. & BALDARI, C. T. 2003. The Helicobacter pylori Vacuolating Toxin Inhibits T Cell Activation by Two Independent Mechanisms. *J Exp Med.*
- BOOTH, W. T., SCHLACHTER, C. R., POTE, S., USSIN, N., MANK, N. J., KLAPPER, V., OFFERMANN, L. R., TANG, C., HURLBURT, B. K. & CHRUSZCZ, M. 2018. Impact of an N-terminal Polyhistidine Tag on Protein Thermal Stability. ACS Omega, 3, 760-768.
- BOYMAN, O. & SPRENT, J. 2012. The role of interleukin-2 during homeostasis and activation of the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 12, 180-90.
- BOZZETTI, F., MARUBINI, E., BONFANTI, G., MICELI, R., PIANO, C. & GENNARI, L. 1999. Subtotal versus total gastrectomy for gastric cancer: five-year survival rates in a multicenter randomized Italian trial. Italian Gastrointestinal Tumor Study Group. Ann Surg, 230, 170-8.
- BRAGA, L., DE OLIVEIRA, M. A. A., GONÇALVES, M., CHAVES, F. K., BENIGNO, T. S., GOMES, A. D., SILVA, C., ANACLETO, C., BATISTA SDE, A. & QUEIROZ, D. M. M. 2014. CagA phosphorylation EPIYA-C motifs and the vacA i genotype in Helicobacter pylori strains of asymptomatic children from a high-risk gastric cancer area in northeastern Brazil. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz*, 109, 1045-9.
- BRENNER, H., ARNDT, V., BODE, G., STEGMAIER, C., ZIEGLER, H. & STUMER, T. 2002. Risk of gastric cancer among smokers infected with Helicobacter pylori. *Int J Cancer*, 98, 446-9.
- BURKOVSKI, A. 2013. Cell Envelope of Corynebacteria: Structure and Influence on Pathogenicity. *ISRN Microbiol,* 2013.
- BUZÁS, G. M. 2014. Metabolic consequences of Helicobacter pylori infection and eradication. *World J Gastroenterol,* 20, 5226-34.
- CABISCOL, E., TAMARIT, J. & ROS, J. 2000. Oxidative stress in bacteria and protein damage by reactive oxygen species. *Int Microbiol*, 3, 3-8.
- CADAMURO, A. C. T., ROSSI, A. F. T., MANIEZZO, N. M. & SILVA, A. E. 2014. Helicobacter pylori infection: Host immune response, implications on gene expression and microRNAs. *World J Gastroenterol,* 20, 1424-37.
- CAMARGO, M. C., BELTRAN, M., CONDE-GLEZ, C., HARRIS, P. R., MICHEL, A., WATERBOER, T., FLÓREZ, A. C., TORRES, J., FERRECCIO, C., SAMPSON, J. N., PAWLITA, M. & RABKIN, C. S. 2015. Serological response to Helicobacter pylori infection among Latin American populations with contrasting risks of gastric cancer. *Int J Cancer*, 137, 3000-5.
- CAMORLINGA-PONCE, M., ROMO, C., GONZÁLEZ-VALENCIA, G., MUÑOZ, O. & TORRES, J. 2004. Topographical localisation of cagA positive and cagA negative Helicobacter pylori strains in the gastric mucosa; an in situ hybridisation study. *J Clin Pathol.*

- CAVALCOLI, F., ZILLI, A., CONTE, D. & MASSIRONI, S. 2017. Micronutrient deficiencies in patients with chronic atrophic autoimmune gastritis: A review. *World J Gastroenterol*, 23, 563-72.
- CENSINI, S., LANGE, C., XIANG, Z., CRABTREE, J. E., GHIARA, P., BORODOVSKY, M., RAPPUOLI, R. & COVACCI, A. 1996. cag, a pathogenicity island of Helicobacter pylori, encodes type I-specific and disease-associated virulence factors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93, 14648-53.
- CHALARIS, A., RABE, B., PALIGA, K., LANGE, H., LASKAY, T., FIELDING, C. A., JONES, S. A., ROSE-JOHN, S. & SCHELLER, J. 2007. Apoptosis is a natural stimulus of IL6R shedding and contributes to the proinflammatory transsignaling function of neutrophils. *Blood*, 110, 1748-55.
- CHARLES A JANEWAY, J., TRAVERS, P., WALPORT, M. & SHLOMCHIK, M. J. 2001. T Cell-Mediated Immunity.
- CHATILA, T., SILVERMAN, L., MILLER, R. & GEHA, R. 1989. Mechanisms of T cell activation by the calcium ionophore ionomycin. *J Immunol*, 143, 1283-9.
- CHATTERJEE, D. & CHAUDHURI, K. 2011. Association of cholera toxin with Vibrio cholerae outer membrane vesicles which are internalized by human intestinal epithelial cells. *FEBS Lett*, 585, 1357-62.
- CHEN, M., CHEN, J., LIAO, W., ZHU, S., YU, J., LEUNG, W. K., HU, P. & SUNG, J. J. 2003. Immunization with attenuated Salmonella typhimurium producing catalase in protection against gastric Helicobacter pylori infection in mice. *Helicobacter*, 8, 613-25.
- CHEN, Q., FISHER, D. T., CLANCY, K. A., GAUGUET, J. M., WANG, W. C., UNGER, E., ROSE-JOHN, S., VON ANDRIAN, U. H., BAUMANN, H. & EVANS, S. S. 2006. Fever-range thermal stress promotes lymphocyte trafficking across high endothelial venules via an interleukin 6 trans-signaling mechanism. *Nat Immunol,* 7, 1299-308.
- CHEN, Y. & BLASER, M. J. 2007. Inverse associations of Helicobacter pylori with asthma and allergy. *Arch Intern Med*, 167, 821-7.
- CHEN, Y. & BLASER, M. J. 2008. Helicobacter pylori colonization is inversely associated with childhood asthma. *J Infect Dis*, 198, 553-60.
- CHEVALIER, C., THIBERGE, J. M., FERRERO, R. L. & LABIGNE, A. 1999. Essential role of Helicobacter pylori gamma-glutamyltranspeptidase for the colonization of the gastric mucosa of mice. *Mol Microbiol*, 31, 1359-72.
- CIRIMINNA, R., MENEGUZZO, F., DELISI, R. & PAGLIARO, M. 2017. Citric acid: emerging applications of key biotechnology industrial product. *Chem Cent J*, 11, 22.
- COLLISION, L. W. & VIGNALI, D. A. 2011. In Vitro Treg Suppression Assays. *Methods Mol Biol*, 707, 21-37.
- CONTEDUCA, V., SANSONNO, D., LAULETTA, G., RUSSI, S., INGRAVALLO, G. & DAMMACCO, F. 2013. H. pylori infection and gastric cancer: state of the art (review). *Int J Oncol,* 42, 5-18.
- COOK, K. W., LETLEY, D. P., INGRAM, R. J. M., STAPLES, E., SKJOLDMOSE, H., ATHERTON, J. C. & ROBINSON, K. 2014. CCL20/CCR6-mediated migration of regulatory T cells to the Helicobacter pylori-infected human gastric mucosa. *Gut.*

- CORREA, P. & PIAZUELO, M. B. 2012. Evolutionary History of the Helicobacter pylori Genome: Implications for Gastric Carcinogenesis. *Gut Liver*, 6, 21-8.
- COTTON, J. A., PLATNICH, J. M., MURUVE, D. A., JIJON, H. B., BURET, A. G. & BECK, P. L. 2015. Interleukin-8 in gastrointestinal inflammation and malignancy: induction and clinical consequences. *International Journal of Interferon, Cytokine and Mediator Research*, 8, 13-34.
- COVACCI, A., CENSINI, S., BUGNOLI, M., PETRACCA, R., BURRONI, D., MACCHIA, G., MASSONE, A., PAPINI, E., XIANG, Z., FIGURA, N. & ET AL. 1993. Molecular characterization of the 128-kDa immunodominant antigen of Helicobacter pylori associated with cytotoxicity and duodenal ulcer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90, 5791-5.
- COVER, T. L. 2016a. Helicobacter pylori Diversity and Gastric Cancer Risk. 7, 10-15.
- COVER, T. L. 2016b. Helicobacter pylori Diversity and Gastric Cancer Risk. mBio.
- COVER, T. L. 2016c. Helicobacter pylori Diversity and Gastric Cancer Risk.
- COVER, T. L. & BLASER, M. J. 2009. Helicobacter pylori in health and disease. *Gastroenterology*, 136, 1863-73.
- CRABTREE JE, P. P., WYATT JI, STACHL U, LINDLEY IJ 1994. Interleukin-8 expression in Helicobacter pylori infected, normal, and neoplastic gastroduodenal mucosa. *J Clin Pathol.*, 47, 61-66.
- CROWE, S. E. 2015. Pathophysiology of and immune response to Helicobacter pylori infection [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.uptodate.com/contents/pathophysiology-of-and-immune-response-</u> <u>to-helicobacter-pylori-infection</u> [Accessed 14 October, 2016 2016].
- CROWE, S. E. 2016. *Helicobacter pylori infection and treatment* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.uptodate.com/contents/helicobacter-pylori-infection-and-treatment-beyond-the-basics</u> [Accessed].
- CRYER, B. & KIMMEY, M. B. 1998. Gastrointestinal side effects of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs. Am J Med, 105, 20s-30s.
- CZINN, S. J., CAI, A. & NEDRUD, J. G. 1993. Protection of germ-free mice from infection by Helicobacter felis after active oral or passive IgA immunization. *Vaccine*, 11, 637-42.
- DARDALHON, V., AWASTHI, A., KWON, H., GALILEOS, G., GAO, W., SOBEL, R., MITSDOERFFER, M., STROM, T., ELYAMAN, W., HO, I., KHOURY, S. & OUKKA, M. 2008. Web of Science [v.5.22.3] - Web of Science Core Collection Full Record. *Nature immunology*, 9, 1347-1355.
- DAY, A. S., JONES, N. L., POLICOVA, Z., JENNINGS, H. A., YAU, E. K., SHANNON, P., NEUMANN, A. W. & SHERMAN, P. M. 2001. Characterization of virulence factors of mouse-adapted Helicobacter pylori strain SS1 and effects on gastric hydrophobicity. *Dig Dis Sci*, 46, 1943-51.
- DE BERNARD, M., ARICO, B., PAPINI, E., RIZZUTO, R., GRANDI, G., RAPPUOLI, R. & MONTECUCCO, C. 1997. Helicobacter pylori toxin VacA induces vacuole formation by acting in the cell cytosol. *Mol Microbiol*, 26, 665-74.
- DEFORGE, L. E., PRESTON, A. M. T., E., KENNEY, J., A., B. L. & REMICK, D. G. 1993. Regulation of interleukin 8 gene expression by oxidant stress. *J Biol Chem*, 268, 25568-25576.

- DELYRIA, E. S., REDLINE, R. W. & BLANCHARD, T. G. 2009. Vaccination of mice against H pylori induces a strong Th-17 response and immunity that is neutrophil dependent. *Gastroenterology*, 136, 247-56.
- DEVI, S., RAJAKUMARA, E. & AHMED, N. 2015. Induction of Mincle by Helicobacter pylori and consequent anti-inflammatory signaling denote a bacterial survival strategy. *Scientific Reports, Published online:* 12 October 2015; | doi:10.1038/srep15049.
- DJEKIC, A. & MÜLLER, A. 2016. The Immunomodulator VacA Promotes Immune Tolerance and Persistent Helicobacter pylori Infection through Its Activities on T-Cells and Antigen-Presenting Cells. *Toxins (Basel)*.
- DOEING, D. C., BOROWICZ, J. L. & CROCKETT, E. T. 2003. Gender dimorphism in differential peripheral blood leukocyte counts in mice using cardiac, tail, foot, and saphenous vein puncture methods. *BMC Clin Pathol*, 3, 3.
- DOORN, L. J. V., DELFT DIAGNOSTIC LABORATORY, D., THE NETHERLANDS, FIGUEIREDO, C., DELFT DIAGNOSTIC LABORATORY, D., THE NETHERLANDS, IPATIMUP AND FACULTY OF MEDICINE, U. O. P., PORTO, PORTUGAL, MÉGRAUD, F., LABORATOIRE DE BACTÉRIOLOGIE, H. D. B., BORDEAUX, FRANCE, PENA, S., DEPARTMENT OF INTERNAL MEDICINE, F. U. H., AMSTERDAM, THE NETHERLANDS, MIDOLO, P., MONASH MEDICAL CENTER, C., VICTORIA, AUSTRALIA, QUEIROZ, D. M. D. M., LABORATORY OF RESEARCH IN BACTERIOLOGY, F. O. M., BELO HORIZONTE, BRAZIL, CARNEIRO, F., IPATIMUP AND FACULTY OF MEDICINE, U. O. P., PORTO, PORTUGAL, VANDERBORGHT, B., HOSPITAL UNIVERSITARIO CLEMENTINO FRAGA FILHO, R. D. J., BRAZIL, INNOGENETICS NV, Z., BELGIUM, PEGADO, M. D. G. F., HOSPITAL UNIVERSITARIO CLEMENTINO FRAGA FILHO, R. D. J., BRAZIL, SANNA, R., DELFT DIAGNOSTIC LABORATORY, D., THE NETHERLANDS, BOER. W. D., DEPARTMENTS OF INTERNAL MEDICINE AND MICROBIOLOGY, S. A. H., OSS, THE NETHERLANDS, SCHNEEBERGER, P. M., DEPARTMENTS OF INTERNAL MEDICINE AND MICROBIOLOGY, S. A. H., OSS, THE NETHERLANDS, CORREA, P., DEPARTMENT OF PATHOLOGY, L. S. U. M. C., NEW ORLEANS, LOUISIANA, NG, E. K. W., DEPARTMENT OF SURGERY, F. O. M., UNIVERSITY OF HONG KONG, PRINCE OF WALES HOSPITAL, HONG KONG, ATHERTON, J., DEPARTMENT OF GASTROENTEROLOGY, U. O. N., NOTTINGHAM, ENGLAND, BLASER, M. J., DIVISION OF INFECTIOUS DISEASES AND VA MEDICAL CENTER, V. U., NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE, QUINT, W. G. V. & DELFT DIAGNOSTIC LABORATORY, D., THE NETHERLANDS 1999. Geographic distribution of vacA allelic types of Helicobacter pylori. Gastroenterology, 116, 823-830.
- DORE, M. P. & GRAHAM, D. Y. 2000. Pathogenesis of duodenal ulcer disease: the rest of the story. *Baillieres Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol*, 14, 97-107.
- EDER, W., EGE, M. J. & VON MUTIUS, E. 2006. The asthma epidemic. *N Engl J Med,* 355, 2226-35.
- EL-OMAR, E. 2001. The importance of interleukin 1β in Helicobacter pylori associated disease. *Gut*, 48, 743-7.
- ERMAK, T. H., GIANNASCA, P. J., NICHOLS, R., MYERS, G. A., NEDRUD, J., WELTZIN, R., LEE, C. K., KLEANTHOUS, H. & MONATH, T. P. 1998. Immunization of mice with urease vaccine affords protection against Helicobacter pylori infection in the absence of antibodies and is mediated by MHC class II-restricted responses. J Exp Med, 188, 2277-88.

- EUSEBI, L. H., ZAGARI, R. M. & BAZZOLI, F. 2014. Epidemiology of Helicobacter pylori infection. *Helicobacter*, 19 Suppl 1, 1-5.
- FALUSH, D., KRAFT, C., TAYLOR, N. S., CORREA, P., FOX, J. G., ACHTMAN, M. & SUERBAUM, S. 2001. Recombination and mutation during long-term gastric colonization by Helicobacter pylori: estimates of clock rates, recombination size, and minimal age. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, 15056-61.
- FAN, X. G., CHUA, A., FAN, X. J. & KEELING, P. W. 1995. Increased gastric production of interleukin-8 and tumour necrosis factor in patients with Helicobacter pylori infection. J Clin Pathol, 48, 133-6.
- FASSI FEHRI, L., KOCH, M., BELOGOLOVA, E., KHALIL, H., BOLZ, C., KALALI, B., MOLLENKOPF, H. J., BEIGIER-BOMPADRE, M., KARLAS, A., SCHNEIDER, T., CHURIN, Y., GERHARD, M. & MEYER, T. F. 2010. Helicobacter pylori Induces miR-155 in T Cells in a cAMP-Foxp3-Dependent Manner. *PLoS One.*
- FAZILLEAU, N., MARK, L., MCHEYZER-WILLIAMS, L. J. & MCHEYZER-WILLIAMS, M. G. 2009. Follicular Helper T Cells: Lineage and Location. *Immunity*, 30, 324-335.
- FERREIRA, R. M., MACHADO, J. C., LETLEY, D., ATHERTON, J. C., PARDO, M. L., GONZALEZ, C. A., CARNEIRO, F. & FIGUEIREDO, C. 2012. A Novel Method for Genotyping the Helicobacter pylori vacA Intermediate Region Directly in Gastric Biopsy Specimens. J Clin Microbiol.
- FIELDS, P. E., KIM, S. T. & FLAVELL, R. A. 2002. Cutting Edge: Changes in Histone Acetylation at the IL-4 and IFN-γ Loci Accompany Th1/Th2 Differentiation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 169 n, 647-650.
- FISCHER, G., BANG, H. & MECH, C. 1984. [Determination of enzymatic catalysis for the cis-trans-isomerization of peptide binding in proline-containing peptides]. *Biomed Biochim Acta*, 43, 1101-11.
- FONTENOT, J. D., GAVIN, M. A. & RUDENSKY, A. Y. 2003. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nature Immunology*, 4, 330-336.
- FORMAN, D., NEWELL, D. G., FULLERTON, F., YARNELL, J. W., STACEY, A. R., WALD, N. & SITAS, F. 1991. Association between infection with Helicobacter pylori and risk of gastric cancer: evidence from a prospective investigation. *Bmj*, 302, 1302-5.
- FOX, J., GE, Z., WHARY, M., ERDMAN, S. & HORWITZ, B. 2011. Helicobacter hepaticus infection in mice: Models for understanding lower bowel inflammation and cancer. *Mucosal Immunol*, 4, 22-30.
- FOX, J. G., BECK, P., DANGLER, C. A., WHARY, M. T., WANG, T. C., SHI, H. N. & NAGLER-ANDERSON, C. 2000. Concurrent enteric helminth infection modulates inflammation and gastric immune responses and reduces helicobacter-induced gastric atrophy. *Nat Med*, 6, 536-42.
- FOX, J. G. & WANG, T. C. 2007. Inflammation, atrophy, and gastric cancer.
- FRANKLIN, C. L., BECKWITH, C. S., LIVINGSTON, R. S., RILEY, L. K., GIBSON, S. V., BESCH-WILLIFORD, C. L. & HOOK, R. R. 1996. Isolation of a novel Helicobacter species, Helicobacter cholecystus sp. nov., from the gallbladders of Syrian hamsters with cholangiofibrosis and centrilobular pancreatitis. *J Clin Microbiol*, 34, 2952-8.

- FRIEDMAN, J. M. & HALAAS, J. L. 1998. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature*, 395, 763-70.
- FRYDMAN, G. H., DAVIS, N., BECK, P. L. & FOX, J. G. 2015. Helicobacter pylori Eradication in Patients with Immune Thrombocytopenic Purpura: A Review and the Role of Biogeography. *Helicobacter*, 20, 239-51.
- GADDY, J. A., RADIN, J. N., LOH, J. T., ZHANG, F., WASHINGTON, M. K., PEEK, R. M., ALGOOD, H. M. S. & COVER, T. L. 2013. High Dietary Salt Intake Exacerbates Helicobacter pylori-Induced Gastric Carcinogenesis. Infect Immun.
- GAO, L., MICHEL, A., WECK, M. N., ARNDT, V., PAWLITA, M. & BRENNER, H. 2009a. Helicobacter pylori infection and gastric cancer risk: evaluation of 15 H. pylori proteins determined by novel multiplex serology. *Cancer Res*, 69, 6164-70.
- GAO, L., WECK, M., N., MICHEL, A., PAWLITA, M. & BRENNER, H. 2009b. Association between Chronic Atrophic Gastritis and Serum Antibodies to 15 Helicobacter pylori Proteins Measured by Multiplex Serology. 69.
- GARZA-GONZÁLEZ, E., PEREZ-PEREZ, G. I., MALDONADO-GARZA, H. J. & BOSQUES-PADILLA, F. J. 2014. A review of Helicobacter pylori diagnosis, treatment, and methods to detect eradication. *World J Gastroenterol,* 20, 1438-49.
- GEBERT, B., FISCHER, W., WEISS, E., HOFFMANN, R. & HAAS, R. 2003. Helicobacter pylori vacuolating cytotoxin inhibits T lymphocyte activation. *Science*, 301, 1099-102.
- GERHARD, M., SCHMEES, C., VOLAND, P., ENDRES, N., SANDER, M., REINDL, W., RAD, R., OELSNER, M., DECKER, T., MEMPEL, M., HENGST, L. & PRINZ, C. 2005. A secreted low-molecular-weight protein from Helicobacter pylori induces cell-cycle arrest of T cells. *Gastroenterology*, 128, 1327-39.
- GOLD, D. R. & WRIGHT, R. 2005. Population disparities in asthma. *Annu Rev Public Health*, 26, 89-113.
- GONG, M. & HO, B. 2004. Prominent role of gamma-glutamyl-transpeptidase on the growth of Helicobacter pylori. *World J Gastroenterol,* 10, 2994-6.
- GONG, M., LING, S. S., LUI, S. Y., YEOH, K. G. & HO, B. 2010. Helicobacter pylori gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase is a pathogenic factor in the development of peptic ulcer disease. *Gastroenterology*, 139, 564-73.
- GOTH, L. 2001. A new type of inherited catalase deficiencies: its characterization and comparison to the Japanese and Swiss type of acatalasemia. *Blood Cells Mol Dis*, 27, 512-7.
- GOTH, L. & NAGY, T. 2012. Acatalasemia and diabetes mellitus. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 525, 195-200.
- GOTHEL, S. F. & MARAHIEL, M. A. 1999. Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerases, a superfamily of ubiquitous folding catalysts. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 55, 423-36.
- GROVE, J. I., ALANDIYJANY, M. N. & DELAHAY, R. M. 2013. Site-specific Relaxase Activity of a VirD2-like Protein Encoded within the tfs4 Genomic Island of Helicobacter pylori*. *J Biol Chem.*

- GUNAWARDENA, D., RAJU, R. & MÜNCH, G. 2019. Hydrogen peroxide mediates proinflammatory cell-to-cell signaling: a new therapeutic target for inflammation? *Neural Regen Res*, 14, 1430-1437.
- HAEBERLE, H. A., KUBIN, M., BAMFORD, K. B., GAROFALO, R., GRAHAM, D. Y., EL-ZAATARI, F., KARTTUNEN, R., CROWE, S. E., REYES, V. E. & ERNST, P. B. 1997. Differential stimulation of interleukin-12 (IL-12) and IL-10 by live and killed Helicobacter pylori in vitro and association of IL-12 production with gamma interferon-producing T cells in the human gastric mucosa. *Infect Immun*, 65, 4229-35.
- HALDER, P., DATTA, C., KUMAR, R., SHARMA, A. K., BASU, J. & KUNDU, M. 2015. The secreted antigen, HP0175, of Helicobacter pylori links the unfolded protein response (UPR) to autophagy in gastric epithelial cells. *Cell Microbiol*, 17, 714-29.
- HALEY, P. J. 2003. Species differences in the structure and function of the immune system. *Toxicology*, 188, 49-71.
- HANIGAN, M. H. & RICKETTS, W. A. 1993. Extracellular glutathione is a source of cysteine for cells that express gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase. *Biochemistry*, 32, 6302-6.
- HARDING, M. W., GALAT, A., UEHLING, D. E. & SCHREIBER, S. L. 1989. A receptor for the immunosuppressant FK506 is a cis-trans peptidyl-prolyl isomerase. *Nature*, 341, 758-60.
- HARRIS, A. G. & HAZELL, S. L. 2017. Localisation of Helicobacter pylori catalase in both the periplasm and cytoplasm, and its dependence on the twin-arginine target protein, KapA, for activity. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 229, 283-289.
- HARRIS, A. G., HINDS, F. E., BECKHOUSE, A. G., KOLESNIKOW, T. & HAZELL, S. L. 2002. Resistance to hydrogen peroxide in Helicobacter pylori: role of catalase (KatA) and Fur, and functional analysis of a novel gene product designated 'KatA-associated protein', KapA (HP0874). *Microbiology*, 148, 3813-25.
- HARRIS, A. G., WILSON, J. E., DANON, S. J., DIXON, M. F., DONEGAN, K. & HAZELL, S. L. 2003. Catalase (KatA) and KatA-associated protein (KapA) are essential to persistent colonization in the Helicobacter pylori SS1 mouse model. *Microbiology*, 149, 665-672.
- HARRIS, P. R., WRIGHT, S. W., SERRANO, C., RIERA, F., DUARTE, I., TORRES, J., PENA, A., ROLLAN, A., VIVIANI, P., GUIRALDES, E., SCHMITZ, J. M., LORENZ, R. G., NOVAK, L., SMYTHIES, L. E. & SMITH, P. D. 2008. Helicobacter pylori gastritis in children is associated with a regulatory T-cell response. *Gastroenterology*, 134, 491-9.
- HARUMA, K., MIHARA, M., OKAMOTO, E., KUSUNOKI, H., HANANOKI, M., TANAKA, S., YOSHIHARA, M., SUMII, K. & KAJIYAMA, G. 1999. Eradication of Helicobacter pylori increases gastric acidity in patients with atrophic gastritis of the corpus-evaluation of 24-h pH monitoring. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 13, 155-62.
- HAZELL, S. L., EVANS, D. J., JR. & GRAHAM, D. Y. 1991. Helicobacter pylori catalase. *J Gen Microbiol*, 137, 57-61.
- HERNDAY, A. D., LOHSE, M. B., FORDYCE, P. M., NOBILE, C. J., DERISI, J. L. & JOHNSON, A. D. 2013. Structure of the transcriptional network controlling white-opaque switching in Candida albicans. *Mol Microbiol*, 90, 22-35.

- HERNDAY, A. D., NOBLE, S. M., MITROVICH, Q. M. & JOHNSON, A. D. 2010. Genetics and molecular biology in Candida albicans. *Methods Enzymol*, 470, 737-58.
- HEUMANN, D. & ROGER, T. 2002. Initial responses to endotoxins and Gram-negative bacteria. *Clin Chim Acta*, 323, 59-72.
- HITZLER, I., SAYI, A., KOHLER, E., ENGLER, D. B., KOCH, K. N., HARDT, W. D. & MULLER, A. 2012. Caspase-1 has both proinflammatory and regulatory properties in Helicobacter infections, which are differentially mediated by its substrates IL-1beta and IL-18. *J Immunol*, 188, 3594-602.
- HONARMAND-JAHROMY, S., SIAVOSHI, F., MALEKZADEH, R., NEJAD SATTARI, T. & LATIFI-NAVID, S. 2015. Reciprocal impact of host factors and Helicobacter pylori genotypes on gastric diseases. *World J Gastroenterol*, 21, 9317-27.
- HOOI, J. K. Y., LAI, W. Y., NG, W. K., SUEN, M. M. Y., UNDERWOOD, F. E., TANYINGOH, D., MALFERTHEINER, P., GRAHAM, D. Y., WONG, V. W. S., WU, J. C. Y., CHAN, F. K. L., SUNG, J. J. Y., KAPLAN, G. G. & NG, S. C. 2017. Global Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori Infection: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Gastroenterology*, 153, 420-429.
- HUANG, C. H. & CHIOU, S. H. 2011. Proteomic analysis of upregulated proteins in Helicobacter pylori under oxidative stress induced by hydrogen peroxide. *Kaohsiung J Med Sci*, 27, 544-53.
- HUANG, C. H. & CHIOU, S. H. 2014. Clinical proteomics identifies potential biomarkers in Helicobacter pylori for gastrointestinal diseases. *World J Gastroenterol*, 20, 1529-36.
- HUANG, C. J., LIN, H. & YANG, X. 2012. Industrial production of recombinant therapeutics in Escherichia coli and its recent advancements. *J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol,* 39, 383-99.
- HUANG, J. Q., ZHENG, G. F., SUMANAC, K., IRVINE, E. J. & HUNT, R. H. 2003. Metaanalysis of the relationship between cagA seropositivity and gastric cancer. *Gastroenterology*, 125, 1636-44.
- HUNT, J. V., DEAN, R. T. & WOLFF, S. P. 1988. Hydroxyl radical production and autoxidative glycosylation. Glucose autoxidation as the cause of protein damage in the experimental glycation model of diabetes mellitus and ageing. *Biochem J*, 256, 205-12.
- HUSSEIN, N. R., ARGENT, R. H., MARX, C. K., PATEL, S. R., ROBINSON, K. & ATHERTON, J. C. 2010. Helicobacter pylori dupA is polymorphic, and its active form induces proinflammatory cytokine secretion by mononuclear cells. *J Infect Dis*, 202, 261-9.
- INGLIS, G. D., MCCONVILLE, M. & DE JONG, A. 2006. Atypical Helicobacter canadensis strains associated with swine. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 72, 4464-71.
- ISHIHARA, S., RUMI, M. A., KADOWAKI, Y., ORTEGA-CAVA, C. F., YUKI, T., YOSHINO, N., MIYAOKA, Y., KAZUMORI, H., ISHIMURA, N., AMANO, Y. & KINOSHITA, Y. 2004. Essential role of MD-2 in TLR4-dependent signaling during Helicobacter pylori-associated gastritis. *J Immunol*, 173, 1406-16.
- ISOMOTO, H., MOSS, J. & HIRAYAMA, T. 2010. Pleiotropic actions of Helicobacter pylori vacuolating cytotoxin, VacA. *Tohoku J Exp Med*, 220, 3-14.

- ISOMOTO, H., NISHI, Y., OHNITA, K., MIZUTA, Y., KOHNO, S., UENO, H. & NAKAZATO, M. 2005. The Relationship between Plasma and Gastric Ghrelin Levels and Strain Diversity in Helicobacter pylori Virulence. *Am J Gastroenterol.* United States.
- ITO, T., KOBAYASHI, D., UCHIDA, K., TAKEMURA, T., NAGAOKA, S., KOBAYASHI, I., YOKOYAMA, T., ISHIGE, I., ISHIGE, Y., ISHIDA, N., FURUKAWA, A., MURAOKA, H., IKEDA, S., SEKINE, M., ANDO, N., SUZUKI, Y., YAMADA, T., SUZUKI, T. & EISHI, Y. 2008. Helicobacter pylori invades the gastric mucosa and translocates to the gastric lymph nodes. *Lab Invest*, 88, 664-81.
- IVIE, S. E., MCCLAIN, M. S., TORRES, V. J., ALGOOD, H. M., LACY, D. B., YANG, R., BLANKE, S. R. & COVER, T. L. 2008. Helicobacter pylori VacA subdomain required for intracellular toxin activity and assembly of functional oligomeric complexes. *Infect Immun*, 76, 2843-51.
- J, S. & S, R.-J. 2006. Interleukin-6 and its receptor: from bench to bedside. *Medical Microbiology and Immunology*, 195, 173-183.
- JAGANJAC, M., TIROSH, O., COHEN, G., SASSON, S. & ZARKOVIC, N. 2013. Reactive aldehydes--second messengers of free radicals in diabetes mellitus. *Free Radic Res*, 47 Suppl 1, 39-48.
- JAKOB, B., BIRKHOLZ, S., SCHNEIDER, T., DUCHMANN, R., ZEITZ, M. & STALLMACH, A. 2001. Immune response to autologous and heterologous Helicobacter pylori antigens in humans. *Microsc Res Tech*, 53, 419-24.
- JANG, T. J. 2010. The number of Foxp3-positive regulatory T cells is increased in Helicobacter pylori gastritis and gastric cancer. *Pathol Res Pract*, 206, 34-8.
- JIN-YU ZHANGA, T. L., HONG GUOB, XIAO-FEI LIUA, YUAN ZHUANGA, SHU YUA, LI CHENA, CHAO WUA, ZHUO ZHAOA, BIN TANGA, PING LUOA, XU-HU MAOA, GANG GUOA, YUN SHIA, , , QUAN-MING ZOUA, , , 2011. Induction of a Th17 cell response by Helicobacter pylori Urease subunit B. *Immunobiology*, 216, 803–810.
- JONKHEIJM, P., WEINRICH, D., SCHRODER, H., NIEMEYER, C. M. & WALDMANN, H. 2008. Chemical strategies for generating protein biochips. *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl*, 47, 9618-47.
- JOO, M., KWAK, J. E., CHANG, S. H., KIM, H., CHI, J. G., KIM, K. A., YANG, J. H., LEE, J. S., MOON, Y. S. & KIM, K. M. 2007. Helicobacter heilmannii-associated gastritis: clinicopathologic findings and comparison with Helicobacter pyloriassociated gastritis. *J Korean Med Sci*, 22, 63-9.
- JUAN SUN, K. A., JIN-XU ZHENG, BING-ZHONG SU, XIAO-HUI OUYANG, AND JUNICHI MISUMI 2016. Effect of NaCl and Helicobacter pylori vacuolating cytotoxin on cytokine expression and viability. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 12, 2174-2180.
- JUNG, S. W., SUGIMOTO, M., SHIOTA, S., GRAHAM, D. Y. & YAMAOKA, Y. 2012. The Intact dupA Cluster Is a More Reliable Helicobacter pylori Virulence Marker than dupA Alone. *Infect Immun.*
- KANDULSKI, A., MALFERTHEINER, P. & WEX, T. 2010. Role of regulatory T-cells in H. pylori-induced gastritis and gastric cancer. *Anticancer Res,* 30, 1093-103.
- KAO, C. Y., SHEU, B. S. & WU, J. J. 2016. Helicobacter pylori infection: An overview of bacterial virulence factors and pathogenesis. *Biomed J*, 39, 14-23.

- KAO, J. Y., ZHANG, M., MILLER, M. J., MILLS, J. C., WANG, B., LIU, M., EATON, K. A., ZOU, W., BERNDT, B. E., COLE, T. S., TAKEUCHI, T., OWYANG, S. Y. & LUTHER, J. 2010. Helicobacter pylori immune escape is mediated by dendritic cell–induced Treg skewing and Th17 suppression in mice. *Gastroenterology*, 138, 1046-54.
- KAPARAKIS, M., TURNBULL, L., CARNEIRO, L., FIRTH, S., COLEMAN, H. A., PARKINGTON, H. C., LE BOURHIS, L., KARRAR, A., VIALA, J., MAK, J., HUTTON, M. L., DAVIES, J. K., CRACK, P. J., HERTZOG, P. J., PHILPOTT, D. J., GIRARDIN, S. E., WHITCHURCH, C. B. & FERRERO, R. L. 2010. Bacterial membrane vesicles deliver peptidoglycan to NOD1 in epithelial cells. *Cell Microbiol*, 12, 372-85.
- KAPTAN, K., BEYAN, C., URAL, A. U., CETIN, T., AVCU, F., GULSEN, M., FINCI, R.
 & YALCIN, A. 2000. Helicobacter pylori--is it a novel causative agent in Vitamin B12 deficiency? Arch Intern Med, 160, 1349-53.
- KAUR AMANDEEP, S. R., SHARMA RAMICA, KUMAR SUNIL 2012. PEPTIC ULCER: A REVIEW ON ETIOLOGY AND PATHOGENESIS. *INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH JOURNAL OF PHARMACY*, 3, 34-38.
- KAWAMURA, Y., TOMIDA, J., MORITA, Y., FUJII, S., OKAMOTO, T. & AKAIKE, T. 2014. Clinical and bacteriological characteristics of Helicobacter cinaedi infection. J Infect Chemother, 20, 517-26.
- KEILBERG, D. & OTTEMANN, K. M. 2016. How Helicobacter pylori senses, targets and interacts with the gastric epithelium. *Environmental Microbiology*, 18, 791-806.
- KIM, D. J., PARK, J. H., FRANCHI, L., BACKERT, S. & NUNEZ, G. 2013a. The Cag pathogenicity island and interaction between TLR2/NOD2 and NLRP3 regulate IL-1beta production in Helicobacter pylori infected dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol*, 43, 2650-8.
- KIM, M. S., KIM, N., KIM, S. E., JO, H. J., SHIN, C. M., PARK, Y. S. & LEE, D. H. 2013b. Long-term follow up Helicobacter Pylori reinfection rate after second-line treatment: bismuth-containing quadruple therapy versus moxifloxacin-based triple therapy. *BMC Gastroenterology*, 13, 138.
- KIM, S. E., LEE, M. Y., LIM, S. C., HIEN, T. T., KIM, J. W., AHN, S. G., YOON, J. H., KIM, S. K., CHOI, H. S. & KANG, K. W. 2010. Role of Pin1 in neointima formation: down-regulation of Nrf2-dependent heme oxygenase-1 expression by Pin1. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 48, 1644-53.
- KINDLUND, B., SJOLING, A., HANSSON, M., EDEBO, A., HANSSON, L. E., SJOVALL, H., SVENNERHOLM, A. M. & LUNDIN, B. S. 2009. FOXP3expressing CD4(+) T-cell numbers increase in areas of duodenal gastric metaplasia and are associated to CD4(+) T-cell aggregates in the duodenum of Helicobacter pylori-infected duodenal ulcer patients. *Helicobacter*, 14, 192-201.
- KIRKMAN, H. N. & GAETANI, G. F. 2007. Mammalian catalase: a venerable enzyme with new mysteries. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 32, 44-50.
- KITAMURA, K., FARBER, J. M. & KELSALL, B. L. 2010. CCR6 marks regulatory T cells as a colon-tropic, IL-10-producing phenotype. *J Immunol,* 185, 3295-304.
- KLOTZ, M. G. & LOEWEN, P. C. 2003. The molecular evolution of catalatic hydroperoxidases: evidence for multiple lateral transfer of genes between prokaryota and from bacteria into eukaryota. *Mol Biol Evol,* 20, 1098-112.

- KOCH, K. N., HARTUNG, M. L., URBAN, S., KYBURZ, A., BAHLMANN, A. S., LIND, J., BACKERT, S., TAUBE, C. & MÜLLER, A. 2015. Helicobacter urease– induced activation of the TLR2/NLRP3/IL-18 axis protects against asthma. J Clin Invest.
- KODAMAN, N., PAZOS, A., SCHNEIDER, B. G., PIAZUELO, M. B., MERA, R., SOBOTA, R. S., SICINSCHI, L. A., SHAFFER, C. L., ROMERO-GALLO, J., DE SABLET, T., HARDER, R. H., BRAVO, L. E., PEEK, R. M., WILSON, K. T., COVER, T. L., WILLIAMS, S. M. & CORREA, P. 2014. Human and Helicobacter pylori coevolution shapes the risk of gastric disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*
- KONTUREK, P. C., RIENECKER, H., HAHN, E. G. & RAITHEL, M. 2008. Helicobacter pylori as a protective factor against food allergy. *Med Sci Monit,* 14, Cr452-8.
- KOTIW, M., JOHNSON, M., PANDEY, M., FRY, S., HAZELL, S. L., NETTER, H. J., GOOD, M. F. & OLIVE, C. 2012. Immunological Response to Parenteral Vaccination with Recombinant Hepatitis B Virus Surface Antigen Virus-Like Particles Expressing Helicobacter pylori KatA Epitopes in a Murine H. pylori Challenge Model. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.*
- KUIPERS, E. J., THIJS, J. C. & FESTEN, H. P. 1995. The prevalence of Helicobacter pylori in peptic ulcer disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther,* 9 Suppl 2, 59-69.
- KUSHNER, S. R. 1978. An improved method for transformation of Escherichia coli with ColEl derived plasmids. *Elsevier Amsterdam*, 173.
- LAEMMLI, U. K. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature*, 227, 680-5.
- LAINE, L., HOPKINS, R. J. & GIRARDI, L. S. 1998. Has the impact of Helicobacter pylori therapy on ulcer recurrence in the United States been overstated? A meta-analysis of rigorously designed trials. *Am J Gastroenterol*, 93, 1409-15.
- LAKSHMINARAYANAN, V., DRAB-WEISS, E. A. & ROEBUCK, K. A. 1998. H2O2 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha induce differential binding of the redox-responsive transcription factors AP-1 and NF-kappaB to the interleukin-8 promoter in endothelial and epithelial cells Journal: J Biol Chem. *J Biol Chem*, 273, 32670-32678.
- LAKSHMINARAYANAN, V., W., B. D., COSTA, R. H. & ROEBUCK, K. A. 1997. Differential regulation of interleukin-8 and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 by H2O2 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in endothelial and epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem*, 272, 32910-32918.
- LASTOVICKA, J. 2013. The Phenotypic Markers of CD4+CD25+ T Regulatory Lymphocytes. *Research in Immunology: An International Journal*, 119348, 10.5171/2013.119348.
- LEE, A., HAZELL, S. L., O'ROURKE, J. & KOUPRACH, S. 1988. Isolation of a spiralshaped bacterium from the cat stomach. *Infect Immun,* 56, 2843-50.
- LEE, A., O'ROURKE, J., DE UNGRIA, M. C., ROBERTSON, B., DASKALOPOULOS, G. & DIXON, M. F. 1997. A standardized mouse model of Helicobacter pylori infection: introducing the Sydney strain. *Gastroenterology*, 112, 1386-97.
- LEE, A., PHILLIPS, M. W., O'ROURKE, J. L., PASTER, B. J., DEWHIRST, F. E., FRASER, G. J., FOX, J. G., SLY, L. I., ROMANIUK, P. J., TRUST, T. J. & ET AL. 1992. Helicobacter muridarum sp. nov., a microaerophilic helical bacterium with a novel ultrastructure isolated from the intestinal mucosa of rodents. *Int J Syst Bacteriol*, 42, 27-36.

- LEE, C. K., WELTZIN, R., THOMAS, W. D., KLEANTHOUS, H., ERMAK, T. H., SOMAN, G., HILL, J. E., ACKERMAN, S. K. & MONATH, T. P. 1995. Oral immunization with recombinant Helicobacter pylori urease induces secretory IgA antibodies and protects mice from challenge with Helicobacter felis. *J Infect Dis*, 172, 161-72.
- LEKMEECHAI, S., SU, Y. C., BRANT, M., ALVARADO-KRISTENSSON, M., VALLSTRÖM, A., OBI, I., ARNQVIST, A. & RIESBECK, K. 2018. Helicobacter pylori Outer Membrane Vesicles Protect the Pathogen From Reactive Oxygen Species of the Respiratory Burst. *Front Microbiol*, 9, 1837.
- LEKSTROM-HIMES, J. A., KUHNS, D. B., G., A. W. & GALLIN, J. I. 2005. Inhibition of human neutrophil IL-8 production by hydrogen peroxide and dysregulation in chronic granulomatous disease. *J Immunol*, 174, 411-417.
- LI, S. D., KERSULYTE, D., LINDLEY, I. J. D., NEELAM, B., BERG, D. E. & CRABTREE, J. E. 1999. Multiple Genes in the Left Half of the cag Pathogenicity Island of Helicobacter pylori Are Required for Tyrosine Kinase-Dependent Transcription of Interleukin-8 in Gastric Epithelial Cells. *Infect Immun*, 67, 3893–3899.
- LINA, T. T., ALZAHRANI, S., GONZALEZ, J., PINCHUK, I. V., BESWICK, E. J. & REYES, V. E. 2014. Immune evasion strategies used by Helicobacter pylori. *World J Gastroenterol*, 20, 12753-66.
- LINZ, B., BALLOUX, F., MOODLEY, Y., MANICA, A., LIU, H., ROUMAGNAC, P., FALUSH, D., STAMER, C., PRUGNOLLE, F., MERWE, S. W. V. D., YAMAOKA, Y., GRAHAM, D. Y., PEREZ-TRALLERO, E., WADSTROM, T., SUERBAUM, S. & ACHTMAN, M. 2007. An African origin for the intimate association between humans and Helicobacter pylori. *Nature*, 445, 915-918.
- LIU, S., LUO, J., LIU, Y., TANG, S., CHEN, C., CAI, H., YU, M. & ZHANG, Y. 2015. CD4(+) Foxp3(+) regulatory T-cell number increases in the gastric tissue of C57BL/6 mice infected with Helicobacter pylori. APMIS, 123, 571-9.
- LIU, W. C., SLUSARCHYK, D. S., ASTLE, G., TREJO, W. H., BROWN, W. E. & MEYERS, E. 1978. Ionomycin, a new polyether antibiotic. *J Antibiot (Tokyo)*, 31, 815-9.
- LIU, X., YAN, X., ZHONG, B., NURIEVA, R. I., WANG, A., WANG, X., MARTIN-OROZCO, N., WANG, Y., CHANG, S. H., ESPLUGUES, E., FLAVELL, R. A., TIAN, Q. & DONG, C. 2012. Bcl6 expression specifies the T follicular helper cell program in vivo. *JEM*, 209, 1841.
- LOEWEN, P. C., CARPENA, X., ROVIRA, C., IVANCICH, A., PEREZ-LUQUE, R., HAAS, R., ODENBREIT, S., NICHOLLS, P. & FITA, I. 2004. Structure of Helicobacter pylori catalase, with and without formic acid bound, at 1.6 A resolution. *Biochemistry*, 43, 3089-103.
- LOH, J. T., FRIEDMAN, D. B., PIAZUELO, M. B., BRAVO, L. E., WILSON, K. T., PEEK, R. M., JR., CORREA, P. & COVER, T. L. 2012. Analysis of Helicobacter pylori cagA promoter elements required for salt-induced upregulation of CagA expression. *Infect Immun*, 80, 3094-106.
- LUCIGEN. 2019. *ClearColi® BL21(DE3) Electrocompetent Cells* [Online]. Biosearch technologies. Available: <u>https://www.lucigen.com/ClearColi-BL21-DE3-Electrocompetent-Cells/#subcat-tabs3</u> [Accessed 16-12-2019 2019].
- LUZZA, F., PARRELLO, T., MONTELEONE, G., SEBKOVA, L., ROMANO, M., ZARRILLI, R., IMENEO, M. & PALLONE, F. 2000. Up-regulation of IL-17 is

associated with bioactive IL-8 expression in Helicobacter pylori-infected human gastric mucosa. *J Immunol*, 165, 5332-7.

- MALFERTHEINER, P., MÉGRAUD, F., O'MORAIN, C., BELL, D., BIANCHI PORRO, G., DELTENRE, M., FORMAN, D., GASBARRINI, G., JAUP, B., MISIEWICZ, J. J., PAJARES, J., QUINA, M. & RAUWS, E. 1997. Current European concepts in the management of Helicobacter pylori infection--the Maastricht Consensus Report. The European Helicobacter Pylori Study Group (EHPSG). Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 9, 1-2.
- MAMAT, U., WILKE, K., BRAMHILL, D., SCHROMM, A. B., LINDNER, B., KOHL, T. A., CORCHERO, J. L., VILLAVERDE, A., SCHAFFER, L., HEAD, S. R., SOUVIGNIER, C., MEREDITH, T. C. & WOODARD, R. W. 2015. Detoxifying Escherichia coli for endotoxin-free production of recombinant proteins. *Microb Cell Fact.*
- MANGAN, P. R., HARRINGTON, L. E., O'QUINN, D. B., HELMS, W. S., BULLARD, D. C., ELSON, C. O., HATTON, R. D., WAHL, S. M., SCHOEB, T. R. & WEAVER, C. T. 2006. Transforming growth factor-|[beta]| induces development of the TH17 lineage. *Nature*, 441, 231-234.
- MARSHALL, B. J. & WINDSOR, H. M. 2005. The relation of Helicobacter pylori to gastric adenocarcinoma and lymphoma: pathophysiology, epidemiology, screening, clinical presentation, treatment, and prevention. *Med Clin North Am*, 89, 313-44, viii.
- MASUOKA, N., SUGIYAMA, H., ISHIBASHI, N., WANG, D. H., MASUOKA, T., KODAMA, H. & NAKANO, T. 2006. Characterization of acatalasemic erythrocytes treated with low and high dose hydrogen peroxide. Hemolysis and aggregation. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 21728-34.
- MATRICARDI, P. M., ROSMINI, F., RIONDINO, S., FORTINI, M., FERRIGNO, L., RAPICETTA, M. & BONINI, S. 2000. Exposure to foodborne and orofecal microbes versus airborne viruses in relation to atopy and allergic asthma: epidemiological study. *Bmj*, 320, 412-7.
- MATTSSON, A., TINNERT, A., HAMLET, A., LÖNROTH, H., BÖLIN, I. & SVENNERHOLM, A. M. 1998. Specific antibodies in sera and gastric aspirates of symptomatic and asymptomatic Helicobacter pylori-infected subjects. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol*, 5, 288-93.
- MAYNE, C. G. & WILLIAMS, C. B. 2013. Induced and Natural Regulatory T Cells in the Development of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis*, 19, 1772-88.
- MCATEE, C. P., LIM, M. Y., FUNG, K., VELLIGAN, M., FRY, K., CHOW, T. P. & BERG, D. E. 1998. Characterization of a Helicobacter pylori vaccine candidate by proteome techniques. *J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl*, 714, 325-33.
- MCCLAIN, M. S., CAO, P., IWAMOTO, H., VINION-DUBIEL, A. D., SZABO, G., SHAO, Z. & COVER, T. L. 2001. A 12-amino-acid segment, present in type s2 but not type s1 Helicobacter pylori VacA proteins, abolishes cytotoxin activity and alters membrane channel formation. *J Bacteriol*, 183, 6499-508.
- MCGOVERN, K. J., BLANCHARD, T. G., GUTIERREZ, J. A., CZINN, S. J., KRAKOWKA, S. & YOUNGMAN, P. 2001. γ-Glutamyltransferase Is a Helicobacter pylori Virulence Factor but Is Not Essential for Colonization. *Infect Immun.*
- MCMURCHY, A. N. & LEVINGS, M. K. 2012. Suppression assays with human T regulatory cells: a technical guide. *Eur J Immunol,* 42, 27-34.

- MERA, R., FONTHAM, E. T. H., BRAVO, L. E., BRAVO, J. C., PIAZUELO, M. B., CAMARGO, M. C. & CORREA, P. 2005. Long term follow up of patients treated for Helicobacter pylori infection. *Gut.*
- MEYER, F., RAMANUJAM, K. S., GOBERT, A. P., JAMES, S. P. & WILSON, K. T. 2003. Cutting edge: cyclooxygenase-2 activation suppresses Th1 polarization in response to Helicobacter pylori. *J Immunol*, 171, 3913-7.
- MEYER, V., FIEDLER, M., NITSCHE, B. & KING, R. 2015. The Cell Factory Aspergillus Enters the Big Data Era: Opportunities and Challenges for Optimising Product Formation. *Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol*, 149, 91-132.
- MICHNICK, S. W., ROSEN, M. K., WANDLESS, T. J., KARPLUS, M. & SCHREIBER, S. L. 1991. Solution structure of FKBP, a rotamase enzyme and receptor for FK506 and rapamycin. *Science*, 252, 836-9.
- MIEHLKE, S., KIRSCH, C., AGHA-AMIRI, K., GUNTHER, T., LEHN, N., MALFERTHEINER, P., STOLTE, M., EHNINGER, G. & BAYERDORFFER, E. 2000. The Helicobacter pylori vacA s1, m1 genotype and cagA is associated with gastric carcinoma in Germany. *Int J Cancer*, 87, 322-7.
- MIYARA, M., YOSHIOKA, Y., KITOH, A., SHIMA, T., WING, K., NIWA, A., PARIZOT, C., TAFLIN, C., HEIKE, T., VALEYRE, D., MATHIAN, A., NAKAHATA, T., YAMAGUCHI, T., NOMURA, T., ONO, M., AMOURA, Z., GOROCHOV, G. & SAKAGUCHI, S. 2009. Functional delineation and differentiation dynamics of human CD4+ T cells expressing the FoxP3 transcription factor. *Immunity*, 30, 899-911.
- MONTEIRO C, C. A. R., PELETEIRO B 2016. Sodium intake and Helicobacter pylori infection in the early stages of life. 1, 52–58.
- MOORE, K., VIEIRA, P., FIORENTINO, D., TROUNSTINE, M., KHAN, T. & MOSMANN, T. 1990. Homology of cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor (IL-10) to the Epstein-Barr virus gene BCRFI. *Science*, 248, 1230-1234.
- MULLANEY, E., BROWN, P. A., SMITH, S. M., BOTTING, C. H., YAMAOKA, Y. Y., TERRES, A. M., KELLEHER, D. P. & WINDLE, H. J. 2009. Proteomic and functional characterization of the outer membrane vesicles from the gastric pathogen Helicobacter pylori. *Proteomics Clin Appl,* 3, 785-96.
- MUNRO, S. & PELHAM, H. R. 1984. Use of peptide tagging to detect proteins expressed from cloned genes: deletion mapping functional domains of Drosophila hsp 70. *EMBO J*, 3, 3087-93.
- MÜLLER, A., OERTLI, M. & ARNOLD, I. C. 2011a. H. pylori exploits and manipulates innate and adaptive immune cell signaling pathways to establish persistent infection. *Cell Commun Signal*, 9, 25.
- MÜLLER, A., OERTLI, M. & ARNOLD, I. C. 2011b. H. pylori exploits and manipulates innate and adaptive immune cell signaling pathways to establish persistent infection. *Cell Communication and Signaling*, 9, 25.
- NADER BAGHERIA, B., FATEMEH AZADEGAN-DEHKORDIB, GHORBANALI RAHIMIANC, MAHMOUD RAFIEIAN-KOPAEID, HEDAYATOLLAH SHIRZADB 2016. Role of Regulatory T-cells in Different Clinical Expressions of Helicobacter pylori Infection. 47, 245–254.
- NAGY, T. A., ALLEN, S. S., WROBLEWSKI, L. E., FLAHERTY, D. K., SLAUGHTER, J. C., PEREZ-PEREZ, G., ISRAEL, D. A. & PEEK, R. M. 2011. Helicobacter pylori

Induction of Eosinophil Migration Is Mediated by the cag Pathogenicity Island via Microbial-Epithelial Interactions. *Am J Pathol.*

- NANDI, A., YAN, L. J., JANA, C. K. & DAS, N. 2019. Role of Catalase in Oxidative Stress- and Age-Associated Degenerative Diseases. *Oxid Med Cell Longev*, 2019, 9613090.
- NATH, G., GULATI, A. K. & SHUKLA, V. K. 2010. Role of bacteria in carcinogenesis, with special reference to carcinoma of the gallbladder. *World J Gastroenterol*, 16, 5395-404.
- NGKELO, A., MEJA, K., YEADON, M., ADCOCK, I. & KIRKHAM, P. A. 2012. LPS induced inflammatory responses in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells is mediated through NOX4 and Giα dependent PI-3kinase signalling. *J Inflamm (Lond)*, 9, 1.
- NIELSEN, H. & ANDERSEN, L. P. 1992. Chemotactic activity of Helicobacter pylori sonicate for human polymorphonuclear leucocytes and monocytes. *Gut*, 33, 738-42.
- NOVAK, N., KOCH, S., ALLAM, J. P. & BIEBER, T. 2010. Dendritic cells: bridging innate and adaptive immunity in atopic dermatitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 125, 50-9.
- NWOKOLO, C. U., FRESHWATER, D. A., O'HARE, P. & RANDEVA, H. S. 2003. Plasma ghrelin following cure of Helicobacter pylori. *Gut*, 52, 637-40.
- OBERG, H.-H., WESCH, D., GRÜSSEL, S., ROSE-JOHN, S. & KABELITZ, D. 2006. Differential expression of CD126 and CD130 mediates different STAT-3 phosphorylation in CD4+CD25- and CD25high regulatory T cells. *International Immunology*, 18, 555-563.
- OERTLI, M., NOBEN, M., ENGLER, D. B., SEMPER, R. P., REUTER, S., MAXEINER, J., GERHARD, M., TAUBE, C. & MULLER, A. 2013a. Helicobacter pylori gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase and vacuolating cytotoxin promote gastric persistence and immune tolerance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110, 3047-52.
- OERTLI, M., NOBEN, M., ENGLER, D. B., SEMPER, R. P., REUTER, S., MAXEINER, J., GERHARD, M., TAUBE, C. & MÜLLER, A. 2013b. Helicobacter pylori γglutamyl transpeptidase and vacuolating cytotoxin promote gastric persistence and immune tolerance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*
- OERTLI, M., SUNDQUIST, M., HITZLER, I., ENGLER, D. B., ARNOLD, I. C., REUTER, S., MAXEINER, J., HANSSON, M., TAUBE, C., QUIDING-JARBRINK, M. & MULLER, A. 2012. DC-derived IL-18 drives Treg differentiation, murine Helicobacter pylori-specific immune tolerance, and asthma protection. *J Clin Invest*, 122, 1082-96.
- OGHALAIE, A., SABERI, S., ESMAEILI, M., EBRAHIMZADEH, F., BARKHORDARI, F., GHAMARIAN, A., TASHAKORIPOOR, M., ABDIRAD, A., ESHAGH HOSSEINI, M., KHALAJ, V. & MOHAMMADI, M. 2016. Helicobacter pylori Peptidyl Prolyl Isomerase Expression Is Associated with the Severity of Gastritis. *J Gastrointest Cancer*, 47, 375-380.
- OGIWARA, H., SUGIMOTO, M., OHNO, T., VILAICHONE, R.-K., MAHACHAI, V., GRAHAM, D. Y. & YAMAOKA, Y. 2009. Role of Deletion Located between the Intermediate and Middle Regions of the Helicobacter pylori vacA Gene in Cases of Gastroduodenal Diseases.
- OHYAUCHI, M., IMATANI, A., YONECHI, M., ASANO, N., MIURA, A., IIJIMA, K., KOIKE, T., SEKINE, H., OHARA, S. & SHIMOSEGAWA, T. 2005. The

polymorphism interleukin 8 -251 A/T influences the susceptibility of Helicobacter pylori related gastric diseases in the Japanese population. *Gut*, 54, 330-335.

- OLBE, L., FANDRIKS, L., HAMLET, A. & SVENNERHOLM, A. M. 2000. Conceivable mechanisms by which Helicobacter pylori provokes duodenal ulcer disease. *Baillieres Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol,* 14, 1-12.
- OLEASTRO, M. & MENARD, A. 2013. The Role of Helicobacter pylori Outer Membrane Proteins in Adherence and Pathogenesis. *Biology (Basel)*, 2, 1110-34.
- OVERACRE, A. E. & VIGNALI, D. A. 2016. T(reg) stability: to be or not to be. *Curr Opin Immunol,* 39, 39-43.
- PALFRAMAN, S. L., KWOK, T. & GABRIEL, K. 2012. Vacuolating cytotoxin A (VacA), a key toxin for Helicobacter pylori pathogenesis. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol*, 2, 92.
- PALSSON-MCDERMOTT, E. M. & O'NEILL, L. A. 2004. Signal transduction by the lipopolysaccharide receptor, Toll-like receptor-4. *Immunology*, 113, 153-62.
- PAN, K. F., FORMICHELLA, L., ZHANG, L., ZHANG, Y., MA, J. L., LI, Z. X., LIU, C., WANG, Y. M., GOETTNER, G., ULM, K., CLASSEN, M., YOU, W. C. & GERHARD, M. 2014. Helicobacter pylori antibody responses and evolution of precancerous gastric lesions in a Chinese population. *Int J Cancer*, 134, 2118-25.
- PARKER, H., CHITCHOLTAN, K., HAMPTON, M. B. & KEENAN, J. I. 2010. Uptake of Helicobacter pylori outer membrane vesicles by gastric epithelial cells. *Infect Immun*, 78, 5054-61.
- PARKIN, D. M., BRAY, F., FERLAY, J. & PISANI, P. 2005. Global cancer statistics, 2002. CA Cancer J Clin, 55, 74-108.
- PARSONNET, J., FRIEDMAN, G. D., ORENTREICH, N. & VOGELMAN, H. 1997. Risk for gastric cancer in people with CagA positive or CagA negative Helicobacter pylori infection. *Gut*, 40, 297-301.
- PARSONNET, J., FRIEDMAN, G. D., VANDERSTEEN, D. P., CHANG, Y., VOGELMAN, J. H., ORENTREICH, N. & SIBLEY, R. K. 1991. Helicobacter pylori infection and the risk of gastric carcinoma. *N Engl J Med*, 325, 1127-31.
- PARSY, C. B., CHAPMAN, C. J., BARNES, A. C., ROBERTSON, J. F. & MURRAY, A. 2007. Two-step method to isolate target recombinant protein from co-purified bacterial contaminant SlyD after immobilised metal affinity chromatography. *J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci,* 853, 314-9.
- PASSARDI, F., THEILER, G., ZAMOCKY, M., COSIO, C., ROUHIER, N., TEIXERA, F., MARGIS-PINHEIRO, M., IOANNIDIS, V., PENEL, C., FALQUET, L. & DUNAND, C. 2007. PeroxiBase: the peroxidase database. *Phytochemistry*, 68, 1605-11.
- PATHAK, S. K., BASU, S., BHATTACHARYYA, A., PATHAK, S., BANERJEE, A., BASU, J. & KUNDU, M. 2006. TLR4-dependent NF-kappaB activation and mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase 1-triggered phosphorylation events are central to Helicobacter pylori peptidyl prolyl cis-, trans-isomerase (HP0175)-mediated induction of IL-6 release from macrophages. *J Immunol*, 177, 7950-8.

- PEEK, R. M., FISKE, C. & WILSON, K. T. 2010a. Role of Innate Immunity in Helicobacter pylori-Induced Gastric Malignancy. *Physiol Rev*, 90, 831-58.
- PEEK, R. M., FISKE, C. & WILSON, K. T. 2010b. Role of Innate Immunity in Helicobacter pylori-Induced Gastric Malignancy. *Physiology reviews*, 90, 831-858.
- PEEK, R. M., JR. & CRABTREE, J. E. 2006. Helicobacter infection and gastric neoplasia. *J Pathol*, 208, 233-48.
- PEEK, R. M., JR., MILLER, G. G., THAM, K. T., PEREZ-PEREZ, G. I., ZHAO, X., ATHERTON, J. C. & BLASER, M. J. 1995. Heightened inflammatory response and cytokine expression in vivo to cagA+ Helicobacter pylori strains. *Lab Invest*, 73, 760-70.
- PENNOCK, N. D., WHITE, J. T., CROSS, E. W., CHENEY, E. E., TAMBURINI, B. A. & KEDL, R. M. 2013. T cell responses: naïve to memory and everything in between. 37, 273-283.
- PEREZ-PEREZ, G. I., DWORKIN, B. M., CHODOS, J. E. & BLASER, M. J. 1988. Campylobacter pylori antibodies in humans. *Ann Intern Med*, 109, 11-7.
- PERSON, A. K., CHUDGAR, S. M., NORTON, B. L., TONG, B. C. & STOUT, J. E. 2010. Aspergillus niger: an unusual cause of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis. *J Med Microbiol.*
- PETSCH, D. & ANSPACH, F. B. 2000. Endotoxin removal from protein solutions. J Biotechnol, 76, 97-119.
- PEURA, D. A., LANZA, F. L., GOSTOUT, C. J. & FOUTCH, P. G. 1997. The American College of Gastroenterology Bleeding Registry: preliminary findings. Am J Gastroenterol, 92, 924-8.
- PHADNIS, S. H., PARLOW, M. H., LEVY, M., ILVER, D., CAULKINS, C. M., CONNORS, J. B. & DUNN, B. E. 1996. Surface localization of Helicobacter pylori urease and a heat shock protein homolog requires bacterial autolysis. *Infect Immun*, 64, 905-12.
- PINHO, S. S. & REIS, C. A. 2015. Glycosylation in cancer: mechanisms and clinical implications. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 15, 540-555.
- POLAND, G. A., OVSYANNIKOVA, I. G., JOHNSON, K. L. & NAYLOR, S. 2001. The role of mass spectrometry in vaccine development. *Vaccine*, 19, 2692-700.
- PORTAL-CELHAY, C. 2006. Immune responses to Helicobacter pylori colonization: mechanisms and clinical outcomes. *Clinical science*, 110, 305-314.
- RAD, R., BRENNER, L., BAUER, S., SCHWENDY, S., LAYLAND, L., DA COSTA, C. P., REINDL, W., DOSSUMBEKOVA, A., FRIEDRICH, M., SAUR, D., WAGNER, H., SCHMID, R. M. & PRINZ, C. 2006. CD25+/Foxp3+ T cells regulate gastric inflammation and Helicobacter pylori colonization in vivo. *Gastroenterology*, 131, 525-37.
- RAGHAVAN, S., FREDRIKSSON, M., SVENNERHOLM, A. M., HOLMGREN, J. & SURI-PAYER, E. 2003. Absence of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells is associated with a loss of regulation leading to increased pathology in Helicobacter pylori-infected mice. *Clin Exp Immunol,* 132, 393-400.
- RAHFELD, J. U., SCHIERHORN, A., MANN, K. & FISCHER, G. 1994. A novel peptidylprolyl cis/trans isomerase from Escherichia coli. *FEBS Lett*, 343, 65-9.

- RAJU, D., HUSSEY, S., ANG, M., TEREBIZNIK, M. R., SIBONY, M., GALINDO-MATA, E., GUPTA, V., BLANKE, S. R., DELGADO, A., ROMERO-GALLO, J., RAMJEET, M. S., MASCARENHAS, H., PEEK, R. M., CORREA, P., STREUTKER, C., HOLD, G., KUNSTMANN, E., YOSHIMORI, T., SILVERBERG, M. S., GIRARDIN, S. E., PHILPOTT, D. J., EL OMAR, E. & JONES, N. L. 2012. Vacuolating cytotoxin and variants in Atg16L1 that disrupt autophagy promote Helicobacter pylori infection in humans. *Gastroenterology*, 142, 1160-71.
- RAMARAO, N., GRAY-OWEN, S. D. & MEYER, T. F. 2000. Helicobacter pylori induces but survives the extracellular release of oxygen radicals from professional phagocytes using its catalase activity. *Mol Microbiol*, 38, 103-13.
- RAMM, K. & PLÜCKTHUN, A. 2001. High enzymatic activity and chaperone function are mechanistically related features of the dimeric E. coli peptidyl-prolylisomerase FkpA. J Mol Biol, 310, 485-98.
- RASMUSSEN, L., LABIO, R. D., C NETO, A., SILVA, L., QUEIROZ, V., SMITH, M. & PAYÃO, S. 2012. Detection of Helicobacter pylori in gastric biopsies, saliva and dental plaques of dyspeptic patients from Marília, São Paulo, Brazil: presence of vacA and cagA genes. J. Venom. Anim. Toxins incl. Trop. Dis, 18, 180-187.
- RASSOW, J. & MEINECKE, M. 2012. Helicobacter pylori VacA: a new perspective on an invasive chloride channel. *Microbes Infect*, 14, 1026-33.
- RAUWS, E. A. & TYTGAT, G. N. 1990. Cure of duodenal ulcer associated with eradication of Helicobacter pylori. *Lancet*, 335, 1233-5.
- RAY, A., KHARE, A., KRISHNAMOORTHY, N., QI, Z. & RAY, P. 2010. Regulatory T cells in many flavors control asthma. *Mucosal Immunol*, 3, 216-29.
- RHEAD, J. L., LETLEY, D. P., MOHAMMADI, M., HUSSEIN, N., MOHAGHEGHI, M. A., ESHAGH HOSSEINI, M. & ATHERTON, J. C. 2007. A new Helicobacter pylori vacuolating cytotoxin determinant, the intermediate region, is associated with gastric cancer. *Gastroenterology*, 133, 926-36.
- RICCI, V., GIANNOULI, M., ROMANO, M. & ZARRILLI, R. 2014. Helicobacter pylori gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase and its pathogenic role. *World J Gastroenterol*, 20, 630-8.
- RICHTER, C., MUKHERJEE, O., ERMERT, D., SINGH, B., SU, Y. C., AGARWAL, V., BLOM, A. M. & RIESBECK, K. 2016. Moonlighting of Helicobacter pylori catalase protects against complement-mediated killing by utilising the host molecule vitronectin. *Sci Rep.*
- RIMBARA, E., MORI, S., KIM, H. & SHIBAYAMA, K. 2013. Role of gammaglutamyltranspeptidase in the pathogenesis of Helicobacter pylori infection. *Microbiol Immunol*, 57, 665-73.
- ROBINSON, K., ARGENT, R. H. & ATHERTON, J. C. 2007. The inflammatory and immune response to Helicobacter pylori infection. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol*, 21, 237-59.
- ROBINSON, K., KENEFECK, R., PIDGEON, E. L., SHAKIB, S., PATEL, S., POLSON, R. J., ZAITOUN, A. M. & ATHERTON, J. C. 2008. Helicobacter pylori-induced peptic ulcer disease is associated with inadequate regulatory T cell responses. *Gut*, 57, 1375-85.

- ROBINSON, K., LOUGHLIN, M. F., POTTER, R. & JENKS, P. J. 2005. Host adaptation and immune modulation are mediated by homologous recombination in Helicobacter pylori. *J Infect Dis*, 191, 579-87.
- ROBINSON, W. H., DIGENNARO, C., HUEBER, W., HAAB, B. B., KAMACHI, M., DEAN, E. J., FOURNEL, S., FONG, D., GENOVESE, M. C., DE VEGVAR, H. E., SKRINER, K., HIRSCHBERG, D. L., MORRIS, R. I., MULLER, S., PRUIJN, G. J., VAN VENROOIJ, W. J., SMOLEN, J. S., BROWN, P. O., STEINMAN, L. & UTZ, P. J. 2002. Autoantigen microarrays for multiplex characterization of autoantibody responses. *Nat Med*, 8, 295-301.
- ROEBUCK, K. A. 1999. Oxidant stress regulation of IL-8 and ICAM-1 gene expression: differential activation and binding of the transcription factors AP-1 and NFkappaB (Review). *Int J Mol Med*, 4, 223-230.
- ROKITA, E., MAKRISTATHIS, A., PRESTERL, E., ROTTER, M. L. & HIRSCHL, A. M. 1998. Helicobacter pylori urease significantly reduces opsonization by human complement. *J Infect Dis*, 178, 1521-5.
- ROMERO-ADRIÀN, T. B. & LEAL-MONTIEL, J. 2013. Helicobacter pylori Infection: Regulatory T Cells and Their Participation in the Immune Response. *Jundishapur Journal of Microbiology*, 6.
- ROMERO-GALLO, J., HARRIS, E. J., KRISHNA, U., WASHINGTON, M. K., PEREZ-PEREZ, G. I. & PEEK, R. M., JR. 2008. Effect of Helicobacter pylori eradication on gastric carcinogenesis. *Lab Invest*, 88, 328-36.
- ROSE-JOHN, S. & HEINRICH, P. C. 1994. Soluble receptors for cytokines and growth factors: generation and biological function. *Biochem J*, 300, 281-90.
- ROSE-JOHN, S., WAETZIG, G. H., SCHELLER, J., GROTZINGER, J. & SEEGERT, D. 2007. The IL-6/sIL-6R complex as a novel target for therapeutic approaches. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*, 11, 613-24.
- ROSSOL, M., HEINE, H., MEUSCH, U., QUANDT, D., KLEIN, C., SWEET, M. J. & HAUSCHILDT, S. 2011. LPS-induced cytokine production in human monocytes and macrophages. *Crit Rev Immunol*, 31, 379-446.
- RUSSELL, W. 1890. An Address on a Characteristic Organism of Cancer. *Br Med J*, 2, 1356-60.
- SALAMA, N. R., HARTUNG, M. L. & MÜLLER, A. 2013. Life in the human stomach: persistence strategies of the bacterial pathogen Helicobacter pylori. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 11, 385-99.
- SALAMA, N. R., OTTO, G., TOMPKINS, L. & FALKOW, S. 2001a. Vacuolating cytotoxin of Helicobacter pylori plays a role during colonization in a mouse model of infection. *Infect Immun*, 69, 730-6.
- SALAMA, N. R., OTTO, G., TOMPKINS, L. & FALKOW, S. 2001b. Vacuolating Cytotoxin of Helicobacter pylori Plays a Role during Colonization in a Mouse Model of Infection.
- SCHELLER, J., CHALARIS, A., SCHMIDT-ARRAS, D. & ROSE-JOHN, S. 2011. The pro- and anti-inflammatory properties of the cytokine interleukin-6. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1813, 878-88.
- SCHMEES, C., PRINZ, C., TREPTAU, T., RAD, R., HENGST, L., VOLAND, P., BAUER, S., BRENNER, L., SCHMID, R. M. & GERHARD, M. 2007. Inhibition of T-cell

proliferation by Helicobacter pylori gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase. *Gastroenterology*, 132, 1820-33.

- SCHMITT, E. G. & WILLIAMS, C. B. 2013. Generation and function of induced regulatory T cells. *Front Immunol*, 4, 152.
- SCHRINER, S. E., LINFORD, N. J., MARTIN, G. M., TREUTING, P., OGBURN, C. E., EMOND, M., COSKUN, P. E., LADIGES, W., WOLF, N., VAN REMMEN, H., WALLACE, D. C. & RABINOVITCH, P. S. 2005. Extension of murine life span by overexpression of catalase targeted to mitochondria. *Science*, 308, 1909-11.
- SCHRODER, J. M., MROWIETZ, U., MORITA, E. & CHRISTOPHERS, E. 1987. Purification and partial biochemical characterization of a human monocytederived, neutrophil-activating peptide that lacks interleukin 1 activity. *J Immunol*, 139, 3474-83.
- SEGAL, E. D., LANGE, C., COVACCI, A., TOMPKINS, L. S. & FALKOW, S. 1997. Induction of host signal transduction pathways by Helicobacter pylori. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 94, 7595–7599.
- SEO, J. Y., KIM, H. & KIM, K. H. 2002. Transcriptional regulation by thiol compounds in Helicobacter pylori-induced interleukin-8 production in human gastric epithelial cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 973, 541-5.
- SERRANO, C., WRIGHT, S. W., BIMCZOK, D., SHAFFER, C. L., COVER, T. L., VENEGAS, A., SALAZAR, M. G., SMYTHIES, L. E., HARRIS, P. R. & SMITH, P. D. 2013. Downregulated Th17 responses are associated with reduced gastritis in Helicobacter pylori-infected children. *Mucosal Immunol*, 6, 950-9.
- SEURYNCK-SERVOSS, S. L., BAIRD, C. L., RODLAND, K. D. & ZANGAR, R. C. 2007a. Surface chemistries for antibody microarrays. *Front Biosci*, 12, 3956-64.
- SEURYNCK-SERVOSS, S. L., WHITE, A. M., BAIRD, C. L., RODLAND, K. D. & ZANGAR, R. C. 2007b. Evaluation of surface chemistries for antibody microarrays. *Anal Biochem*, 371, 105-15.
- SEWALD, X., JIMÉNEZ-SOTO, L. & HAAS, R. 2011. PKC-dependent endocytosis of the Helicobacter pylori vacuolating cytotoxin in primary T lymphocytes. *Cell Microbiol*, 13, 482-96.
- SHARMA, S. A., TUMMURU, M. K., BLASER, M. J. & KERR, L. D. 1998. Activation of IL-8 gene expression by Helicobacter pylori is regulated by transcription factor nuclear factor-kappa B in gastric epithelial cells. *J Immunol*, 160, 2401-2407.
- SHARMA, S. A., TUMMURU, M. K., MILLER, G. G. & BLASER, M. J. 1995. Interleukin-8 response of gastric epithelial cell lines to Helicobacter pylori stimulation in vitro. *Infect Immun*, 63, 1681-87.
- SHAW, P. E. 2002. Peptidyl-prolyl isomerases: a new twist to transcription. *EMBO Rep*, 3, 521-6.
- SHEN, L. S., WANG, J., SHEN, D. F., YUAN, X. L., DONG, P., LI, M. X., XUE, J., ZHANG, F. M., GE, H. L. & XU, D. 2009. CD4(+)CD25(+)CD127(low/-) regulatory T cells express Foxp3 and suppress effector T cell proliferation and contribute to gastric cancers progression. *Clin Immunol*, 131, 109-18.
- SHIBAYAMA, K., WACHINO, J., ARAKAWA, Y., SAIDIJAM, M., RUTHERFORD, N. G. & HENDERSON, P. J. 2007. Metabolism of glutamine and glutathione via

gamma-glutamyltranspeptidase and glutamate transport in Helicobacter pylori: possible significance in the pathophysiology of the organism. *Mol Microbiol*, 64, 396-406.

- SHIKATA, K., DOI, Y., YONEMOTO, K., ARIMA, H., NINOMIYA, T., KUBO, M., TANIZAKI, Y., MATSUMOTO, T., IIDA, M. & KIYOHARA, Y. 2008. Populationbased prospective study of the combined influence of cigarette smoking and Helicobacter pylori infection on gastric cancer incidence: the Hisayama Study. *Am J Epidemiol*, 168, 1409-15.
- SHIMODA, A., UEDA, K., NISHIUMI, S., MURATA-KAMIYA, N., MUKAI, S.-A., SAWADA, S.-I., AZUMA, T., HATAKEYAMA, M. & AKIYOSHI, K. 2016. Exosomes as nanocarriers for systemic delivery of the Helicobacter pylori virulence factor CagA. Scientific Reports, Published online: 7 January 2016; | doi:10.1038/srep18346.
- SHIOTA, S., SUZUKI, R. & YAMAOKA, Y. 2013. The significance of virulence factors in Helicobacter pylori. *J Dig Dis*, 14, 341-9.
- SINNETT, C. G., LETLEY, D. P., NARAYANAN, G. L., PATEL, S. R., HUSSEIN, N. R., ZAITOUN, A. M., ROBINSON, K. & ATHERTON, J. C. 2016. Helicobacter pylori vacA transcription is genetically-determined and stratifies the level of human gastric inflammation and atrophy.
- SIWALE, R. C., YEBOAH, G. K., ADDO, R., OETTINGER, C. W. & D'SOUZA, M. J. 2009. The effect of intracellular antioxidant delivery (catalase) on hydrogen peroxide and proinflammatory cytokine synthesis: a new therapeutic horizon. J Drug Target, 17, 710-8.
- SMITH, K. A. 1988. Interleukin-2: inception, impact, and implications. *Science*, 240, 1169-76.
- SOLEIMANI, N., MOHABATI MOBAREZ, A., TAVAKOLI-YARAKI, M. & FARHANGI, B. 2016. Evaluation of nitric oxide production and proliferation activity of recombinant Bacterioferritin of Helicobacter pylori on macrophages. *Microb Pathog*, 100, 149-153.
- SOLNICK, J. V. & SCHAUER, D. B. 2001. Emergence of Diverse Helicobacter Species in the Pathogenesis of Gastric and Enterohepatic Diseases. *Clin Microbiol Rev.*
- SON, H. J., RHEE, J. C., PARK, D. I., KIM, Y. H., RHEE, P. L., KOH, K. C., PAIK, S. W., CHOI, K. W. & KIM, J. J. 2001. Inducible nitric oxide synthase expression in gastroduodenal diseases infected with Helicobacter pylori. *Helicobacter*, 6, 37-43.
- STANNER, S. A., HUGHES, J., KELLY, C. N. & BUTTRISS, J. 2004. A review of the epidemiological evidence for the 'antioxidant hypothesis'. *Public Health Nutr*, 7, 407-22.
- STOLTE, M., BAYERDORFFER, E., MORGNER, A., ALPEN, B., WUNDISCH, T., THIEDE, C. & NEUBAUER, A. 2002. Helicobacter and gastric MALT lymphoma. *Gut*, 50 Suppl 3, lii19-24.
- STRACHAN, D. P. 1989. Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. *Bmj*, 299, 1259-60.
- SUAREZ, G., ROMERO-GALLO, J., PIAZUELO, M. B., WANG, G., MAIER, R. J., FORSBERG, L. S., AZADI, P., GOMEZ, M. A., CORREA, P. & PEEK, R. M., JR. 2015. Modification of Helicobacter pylori Peptidoglycan Enhances NOD1 Activation and Promotes Cancer of the Stomach. *Cancer Res*, 75, 1749-59.

- SUERBAUM, S. & MICHETTI, P. 2002. Helicobacter pylori infection. N Engl J Med, 347, 1175-86.
- SUGIMOTO, M., ZALI, M. R. & YAMAOKA, Y. 2009. The association of vacA genotypes and Helicobacter pylori-related gastroduodenal diseases in the Middle East. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis*, 28, 1227-36.
- SUNDRUD, M. S., TORRES, V. J., UNUTMAZ, D. & COVER, T. L. 2004. Inhibition of primary human T cell proliferation by Helicobacter pylori vacuolating toxin (VacA) is independent of VacA effects on IL-2 secretion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 7727-32.
- SUNG, J. J., KUIPERS, E. J. & EL-SERAG, H. B. 2009. Systematic review: the global incidence and prevalence of peptic ulcer disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 29, 938-46.
- SURIANI, R., COLOZZA, M., CARDESI, E., MAZZUCCO, D., MARINO, M., GROSSO, S., SANSEVERINATI, S., VENTURINI, I., BORGHI, A. & ZENEROLI, M. L. 2008. CagA and VacA Helicobacter pylori antibodies in gastric cancer. *Can J Gastroenterol.*
- SUSANNE J SZABO, S. T. K., GINA L COSTA, XIANKUI ZHANG, C.GARRISON FATHMAN, LAURIE H GLIMCHER 2000. A Novel Transcription Factor, T-bet, Directs Th1 Lineage Commitment. *Cell*, 100, 655-669.
- TAKAHARA, S. 1952. Progressive oral gangrene probably due to lack of catalase in the blood (acatalasaemia); report of nine cases. *Lancet*, 2, 1101-4.
- TAKESHIMA, E., TOMIMORI, K., TAKAMATSU, R., ISHIKAWA, C., KINJO, F., HIRAYAMA, T., FUJITA, J. & MORI, N. 2009. Helicobacter pylori VacA activates NF-kappaB in T cells via the classical but not alternative pathway. *Helicobacter*, 14, 271-9.
- TAN, G. M. Y., LOOI, C. Y., FERNANDEZ, K. C., VADIVELU, J., LOKE, M. F. & WONG, W. F. 2015. Suppression of cell division-associated genes by Helicobacter pylori attenuates proliferation of RAW264.7 monocytic macrophage cells. *Sci Rep.*
- TANAKA, H., YOSHIDA, M., NISHIUMI, S., OHNISHI, N., KOBAYASHI, K., YAMAMOTO, K., FUJITA, T., HATAKEYAMA, M. & AZUMA, T. 2010. The CagA protein of Helicobacter pylori suppresses the functions of dendritic cell in mice. Arch Biochem Biophys, 498, 35-42.
- TAUB, J., LAU, J. F., MA, C., HAHN, J. H., HOQUE, R., ROTHBLATT, J. & CHALFIE, M. 1999. A cytosolic catalase is needed to extend adult lifespan in C. elegans daf-C and clk-1 mutants. *Nature*, 399, 162-6.
- THAM, K. T., PEEK, R. M., JR., ATHERTON, J. C., COVER, T. L., PEREZ-PEREZ, G. I., SHYR, Y. & BLASER, M. J. 2001. Helicobacter pylori genotypes, host factors, and gastric mucosal histopathology in peptic ulcer disease. *Hum Pathol,* 32, 264-73.
- TINNERT, A., MATTSSON, A., BÖLIN, I., DALENBÄCK, J., HAMLET, A. & SVENNERHOLM, A. M. 1997. Local and systemic immune responses in humans against Helicobacter pylori antigens from homologous and heterologous strains. *Microb Pathog*, 23, 285-96.
- TIWARI, S. K., KHAN, A. A., MANOJ, G., AHMED, S., ABID, Z., HABEEB, A. & HABIBULLAH, C. M. 2007. A simple multiplex PCR assay for diagnosing virulent Helicobacter pylori infection in human gastric biopsy specimens from

subjects with gastric carcinoma and other gastro-duodenal diseases. *J Appl Microbiol*, 103, 2353-60.

- TOMB, J. F., WHITE, O., KERLAVAGE, A. R., CLAYTON, R. A., SUTTON, G. G., FLEISCHMANN, R. D., KETCHUM, K. A., KLENK, H. P., GILL, S., DOUGHERTY, B. A., NELSON, K., QUACKENBUSH, J., ZHOU, L., KIRKNESS, E. F., PETERSON, S., LOFTUS, B., RICHARDSON, D., DODSON, R., KHALAK, H. G., GLODEK, A., MCKENNEY, K., FITZEGERALD, L. M., LEE, N., ADAMS, M. D., HICKEY, E. K., BERG, D. E., GOCAYNE, J. D., UTTERBACK, T. R., PETERSON, J. D., KELLEY, J. M., COTTON, M. D., WEIDMAN, J. M., FUJII, C., BOWMAN, C., WATTHEY, L., WALLIN, E., HAYES, W. S., BORODOVSKY, M., KARP, P. D., SMITH, H. O., FRASER, C. M. & VENTER, J. C. 1997. The complete genome sequence of the gastric pathogen Helicobacter pylori. *Nature*, 388, 539-47.
- TORRES, V. J., VANCOMPERNOLLE, S. E., SUNDRUD, M. S., UNUTMAZ, D. & COVER, T. L. 2007. Helicobacter pylori vacuolating cytotoxin inhibits activationinduced proliferation of human T and B lymphocyte subsets. *J Immunol*, 179, 5433-40.
- TRIANTAFILOU, M. & TRIANTAFILOU, K. 2002. Lipopolysaccharide recognition: CD14, TLRs and the LPS-activation cluster. *Trends Immunol*, 23, 301-4.
- TSANG, K. W., LAM, W. K., CHAN, K. N., HU, W., WU, A., KWOK, E., ZHENG, L., WONG, B. C. & LAM, S. K. 2000. Helicobacter pylori sero-prevalence in asthma. *Respir Med*, 94, 756-9.
- UTSCH, C. & HAAS, R. 2016. VacA's Induction of VacA-Containing Vacuoles (VCVs) and Their Immunomodulatory Activities on Human T Cells. *Toxins (Basel)*.
- VAN DOORN, L. J., FIGUEIREDO, C., MEGRAUD, F., PENA, S., MIDOLO, P., QUEIROZ, D. M., CARNEIRO, F., VANDERBORGHT, B., PEGADO, M. D., SANNA, R., DE BOER, W., SCHNEEBERGER, P. M., CORREA, P., NG, E. K., ATHERTON, J., BLASER, M. J. & QUINT, W. G. 1999. Geographic distribution of vacA allelic types of Helicobacter pylori. *Gastroenterology*, 116, 823-30.
- VAN DOORN, L. J., FIGUEIREDO, C., ROSSAU, R., JANNES, G., VAN ASBROEK, M., SOUSA, J. C., CARNEIRO, F. & QUINT, W. G. 1998. Typing of Helicobacter pylori vacA gene and detection of cagA gene by PCR and reverse hybridization. *J Clin Microbiol*, 36, 1271-6.
- VEAL, E. A., DAY, A. M. & MORGAN, B. A. 2007. Hydrogen peroxide sensing and signaling. *Mol Cell*, 26, 1-14.
- VERTES, A. A., INUI, M. & YUKAWA, H. 2012. Postgenomic approaches to using corynebacteria as biocatalysts. *Annu Rev Microbiol,* 66, 521-50.
- VIGNALI, D. A., COLLISON, L. W. & WORKMAN, C. J. 2008. How regulatory T cells work. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 8, 523-32.
- VLAHOPOULOS, S., BOLDOGH, I., CASOLA, A. & .R., B. A. 1999. Nuclear factorkappaB-dependent induction of interleukin-8 gene expression by tumor necrosis factor alpha: evidence for an antioxidant sensitive activating pathway distinct from nuclear translocation. *Blood*, 94, 1878-1889.
- WAKELIN, S. J., SABROE, I., GREGORY, C. D., POXTON, I. R., FORSYTHE, J. L., GARDEN, O. J. & HOWIE, S. E. 2006. "Dirty little secrets"--endotoxin contamination of recombinant proteins. *Immunol Lett*, 106, 1-7.

- WALDENSTROM, J., ON, S. L., OTTVALL, R., HASSELQUIST, D., HARRINGTON, C. S. & OLSEN, B. 2003. Avian reservoirs and zoonotic potential of the emerging human pathogen Helicobacter canadensis. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 69, 7523-6.
- WALZ, A., PEVERI, P., ASCHAUER, H. & BAGGIOLINI, M. 1987. Purification and amino acid sequencing of NAF, a novel neutrophil-activating factor produced by monocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 149, 755-61.
- WANG, C., NISHIYAMA, T., KIKUCHI, S., INOUE, M., SAWADA, N., TSUGANE, S. & LIN, Y. 2017. Changing trends in the prevalence of H. pylori infection in Japan (1908–2003): a systematic review and meta-regression analysis of 170,752 individuals. *Sci Rep.*
- WANG, G., ALAMURI, P. & MAIER, R. J. 2006. The diverse antioxidant systems of Helicobacter pylori. *Mol Microbiol*, 61, 847-60.
- WANG, G., CONOVER, R. C., OLCZAK, A. A., ALAMURI, P., JOHNSON, M. K. & MAIER, R. J. 2005. Oxidative stress defense mechanisms to counter ironpromoted DNA damage in Helicobacter pylori. *Free Radic Res*, 39, 1183-91.
- WANG, H., DANIEL, V., SADEGHI, M. & OPELZ, G. 2013a. Differences in the induction of induced human CD4(+) CD25(+) FoxP3(+) T-regulatory cells and CD3(+) CD8(+) CD28(-) T-suppressor cells subset phenotypes in vitro: comparison of phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate/ionomycin and phytohemagglutinin stimulation. *Transplant Proc*, 45, 1822-31.
- WANG, Q., YU, C. & SUN, Y. 2013b. The association between asthma and Helicobacter pylori: a meta-analysis. *Helicobacter*, 18, 41-53.
- WANG, Y. H., GORVEL, J. P., CHU, Y. T., WU, J. J. & LEI, H. Y. 2010. Helicobacter pylori impairs murine dendritic cell responses to infection. *PLoS One*, 5, e10844.
- WEEKS, D. L., ESKANDARI, S., SCOTT, D. R. & SACHS, G. 2000. A H+-gated urea channel: the link between Helicobacter pylori urease and gastric colonization. *Science*, 287, 482-5.
- WHARY, M. T., MUTHUPALANI, S., GE, Z., FENG, Y., LOFGREN, J., SHI, H. N., TAYLOR, N. S., CORREA, P., VERSALOVIC, J., WANG, T. C. & FOX, J. G. 2014. Helminth co-infection in Helicobacter pylori infected INS-GAS mice attenuates gastric premalignant lesions of epithelial dysplasia and glandular atrophy and preserves colonization resistance of the stomach to lower bowel microbiota. *Microbes Infect*, 16, 345-55.
- WHITNEY, A. E., EMORY, T. S., MARTY, A. M., O'SHEA, P. A., NEWMAN, G. W. & GOLD, B. D. 2000. Increased macrophage infiltration of gastric mucosa in Helicobacter pylori-infected children. *Dig Dis Sci*, 45, 1337-42.
- WILLIAMS, C., BENER AKSAM, E., GUNKEL, K., VEENHUIS, M. & VAN DER KLEI, I. J. 2012. The relevance of the non-canonical PTS1 of peroxisomal catalase. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1823, 1133-41.
- WINTER, J. A., LETLEY, D. P., COOK, K. W., RHEAD, J. L., ZAITOUN, A. A. M., INGRAM, R. J. M., AMILON, K. R., CROXALL, N. J., KAYE, P. V., ROBINSON, K. & ATHERTON, J. C. 2014. A Role for the Vacuolating Cytotoxin, VacA, in Colonization and Helicobacter pylori–Induced Metaplasia in the Stomach. J Infect Dis.
- WROBLEWSKI, L. E. & PEEK, R. M. 2011. "Targeted disruption of the epithelial-barrier by Helicobacter pylori". *Cell Commun Signal.*

- WROBLEWSKI, L. E., PEEK, R. M. & WILSON, K. T. 2010. Helicobacter pylori and Gastric Cancer: Factors That Modulate Disease Risk. *Clin Microbiol Rev.*
- WUSTNER, S., ANDERL, F., WANISCH, A., SACHS, C., STEIGER, K., NERLICH, A., VIETH, M., MEJIAS-LUQUE, R. & GERHARD, M. 2017. Helicobacter pylori gamma-glutamyl transferase contributes to colonization and differential recruitment of T cells during persistence. *Sci Rep,* 7, 13636.
- XIA SUN , M. Z., MOHAMAD EL-ZATAARI, STEPHANIE Y. OWYANG, KATHRYN A. EATON, MAOCHANG LIU, YU-MING CHANG, WEIPING ZOU, JOHN Y. KAO 2016. PLOS ONE: TLR2 Mediates Helicobacter pylori–Induced Tolerogenic Immune Response in Mice. *Plos One*, 8, e74595. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.
- XIANG, Z., CENSINI, S., BAYELI, P. F., TELFORD, J. L., FIGURA, N., RAPPUOLI, R. & COVACCI, A. 1995. Analysis of expression of CagA and VacA virulence factors in 43 strains of Helicobacter pylori reveals that clinical isolates can be divided into two major types and that CagA is not necessary for expression of the vacuolating cytotoxin. *Infect Immun*, 63, 94-8.
- XIONG, L., TENG, J. L. L., BOTELHO, M. G., LO, R. C., LAU, S. K. P. & WOO, P. C. Y. 2016. Arginine Metabolism in Bacterial Pathogenesis and Cancer Therapy. *Int J Mol Sci.*
- YA-HUI WANG, J.-P. G., YEN-TING CHU, JIUNN-JONG WU, HUAN-YAO LEI 2016. PLOS ONE: Helicobacter pylori Impairs Murine Dendritic Cell Responses to Infection. *Plos One*, 5, e10844. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0010844.
- YAMAOKA, Y. 2009. Helicobacter pylori typing as a tool for tracking human migration. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, 15, 829-34.
- YAMAOKA, Y. 2010. Mechanisms of disease: Helicobacter pylori virulence factors. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 7, 629-41.
- YAMAOKA, Y. & GRAHAM, D. Y. 2014. Helicobacter pylori virulence and cancer pathogenesis. *Future Oncol*, 10, 1487-500.
- YAMAOKA, Y., OJO, O., FUJIMOTO, S., ODENBREIT, S., HAAS, R., GUTIERREZ, O., EL-ZIMAITY, H. M., REDDY, R., ARNQVIST, A. & GRAHAM, D. Y. 2006. Helicobacter pylori outer membrane proteins and gastroduodenal disease. *Gut*, 55, 775-81.
- YANG, J. & YANG, S. 2017. Comparative analysis of Corynebacterium glutamicum genomes: a new perspective for the industrial production of amino acids. *BMC Genomics.*
- ZAMOCKY, M., FURTMULLER, P. G. & OBINGER, C. 2008. Evolution of catalases from bacteria to humans. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 10, 1527-48.
- ZAMOCKY, M. & KOLLER, F. 1999. Understanding the structure and function of catalases: clues from molecular evolution and in vitro mutagenesis. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol*, 72, 19-66.
- ZHANG, B., LI, H. L., FAN, Q., GUO, F., REN, X. Y., ZHOU, H. B., ZHU, J. W., ZHAO, Y. S. & TIAN, W. J. 2016. Serum Helicobacter pylori KatA and AhpC antibodies as novel biomarkers for gastric cancer. *World J Gastroenterol*, 22, 5060-7.
- ZHENG, P. Y. & JONES, N. L. 2003. Helicobacter pylori strains expressing the vacuolating cytotoxin interrupt phagosome maturation in macrophages by recruiting and retaining TACO (coronin 1) protein. *Cell Microbiol*, 5, 25-40.

- ZHU, Y., M, C., Y, G., Z, L., A, L., D, K., F, H., J, L. & Y, L. J. A. Y. 2015. Helicobacter pylori FKBP-type PPlase promotes gastric epithelial cell proliferation and anchorage-independent growth through activation of ERK-mediated mitogenic signaling pathway. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 362.
- ZLOTNIK, A. & YOSHIE, O. 2000. Chemokines: a new classification system and their role in immunity. *Immunity*, 12, 121-7.

Appendix

Table 6.1: katA, ggt and ppt primer sequence used in the study

Primer type	Primer sequence					
GGT Primer						
Forward	5' - TGAAAGGAAAACCCATGGGACGGAG -3'					
Reverse	5' - CCAAGGAAAGAATTTGGTACCTTTG -3'					
KatA Primer						
Forward	5' GATCCATATGGTTAATAAAGATGTG -3'					
Reverse	5'CACACAAAAAAGAAAAAGCATCACCATCACCATCACTAATAAGGTACCTG-3'					
PPT Primer						
Forward	5' - TAAGGATCCGCTAGCATGAAAAAAAAATATCTTAAAT -3'					
Reverse	5' - TAGAATTCTTACTTGTTGATAACAATTTTA -3'.					



Figure A. Map of the pET-41b plasmid expression vector (Novagen)

 P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C5ZW34	CATA HELPY CATA HELPJ E7AAY6 HELPC 17H4C3_9HELI Q7WK49 HELHP E7G3S7_9HELI A0A099TYR4_9HELI A0A308TWC8_9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	MVNKDVKC TAF AF WDDNNVITAGPRGPVLG STWFLEKLAAFDRERIPERVHAKGS MVNKDVKC TAF AF WDDNNVITAGPRGPVLG STWFLEKLAAFDRERIPERVHAKGS -MDRUVVIN NAV AF IGNNOVLTAGPRGPVLG STWFLEKLAAFDRERIPERVHAKGS -MANFKSL TTT RCVGDNQNVMSVGPRGPLLQ DTWYLEKLAFDRERIPERVHAKGS MSKKF TAT TFLGDNQNSITAGKGFTLQ DTWLLKLAFDRERIPERVHAKGS MAKEFVQM TTT RFVYDNQNVMSVGPRGPLLQ DTWYLEKLAFDRERIPERVHAKGS MRKL NOF NIVADNOSITAGKGFLLQ DTWLLKLAFDRERIPERVHAKGS MRKL NOF NIVADNOSITAGKGFLLQ DTWLLKLAFDRERIPERVHAKGS MRKL NOF NIVADNOSISAG PKGPLLC DTWLLKLAFDRERIPERVHAKGS MKKL NOF NIVADNOSISAG PKGPLLC DYILLKLAFDRERIPERVHAKGS MKKL NOF NIVADNOSISAG PKGPLLC DYILLKLAFDRERIPERVHAKGS	60 59 57 60 56 56
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C52W34	CATA HELPY CATA_HELPJ E7AA76 HELFC I7H4C3P9HELI Q7VK49_HELHP E7G387_9HELI A0A398INC8_9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	61 60 58 61 57 57	CAYOT FTVTK-DITKYTKAKI FSKV KKTECFTRFSTVAGER SALAVRU FAGFANKYYT CAYOT TVTK-DITKYTKAKI FSKV KKTECFTRFSTVAGER SALAVRU FAGFANKYYT CAYOT TTTN KTTTKYSKAKI FNVVKKTECFTRFSTVAGER SALAVRU FAGFANKYYT CAYOT AL DISKYSKAVTKKOTKI PMITRFTVAGEL SLANAVRU FAGFANKFY AAYOELTIIN-DITYYTKELINKV KKTEL RFSTVAGER SALARER VAGFALKLI CAYOL AL TVSSITTYCK KKI SEVKK PCFL RFSTVAGER SALARER VAGFALKLI CAYOL AL DISYTKAVIK CTKI PMITRFTVAGEL SALAVRE FAGFALKLI CAYOL AL DISYTKAVI CAN FRYVE FLETTVAGER SALARER FAGFALKLI	119 119 117 116 120 118 114 114
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3081WC8 C5ZW34	CATA HELPY CATA-HELPJ E7AA76 HELFC 17H4C3-9HELI Q7WK49-HELH PC3S37-9HELI A0A099TYR4 9HELI A0A3081WC8-9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	120 120 120 118 117 121 119 115 115	E EGNINDL VGNNTFV FFIR AL KFPDFIH CKKLPOTNLPNHDMVNDFWSNVPESLYOVTN E GNINDI VGNNTFV FFIR AL KFPDFIH CKKLPOTNLPNFDMVNDFWSNVPESLYOVTN E GNINDI VGNNTFV FFIR PL KFPDFIH CKKLPKTNLKDATMVNDFWSLVPESLHOITI TCNNDL VGNNTFVFFIR PL KFPDFIH CKKLPKTNLKDATMVNDFWSLPESLHOITI NCCNND VGNNTFVFFIR PL KFPDFIH CKKLPKTNLKSPTAMNDFWSLHFSLHOUTY CGNNDL VGNNTFFIFTIR PL KFPDFIH CKKLPKTNLKSPTAMNDFWSLHFSLHOUTI CGNNDLVGNNTFFIFTIR PL KFPDFIH CKKLPKTNLKSPTAMNDFWSLHFSLHOUTI CGNNDLVGNNTFFIFTIR PL KFPDFIH CKKLPRINLRSNNAANDFWSLHFSLHOUTI CGNNDLVGNNTFFIFTIR PL KFPDFIH CKKLPRINLRSNNAANDFWSLFSSLHOUTI CGNNDLVGNNTFFIFTIR PL KFPDFIH CKKLPRINLRSNNAANDFWSLFSSLHOUTI CGNNDLVGNNTFFIFTIR PL KFPDFIH CKKLPRINLRSNNAANDFWSLFSSLHOUTI CGNNDLVGNNTFFIFTIR PY KFPDFIH CKKLPRINLRSNNAANDFWTLFSSLHOUTI	179 179 179 177 176 180 178 174
 P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C5ZW34	CATA_HELPY CATA_HELPJ E7AAY6 HELFC 17H4C3_9HELI Q7VK49_HELHP E7G3S7_9HELI A0A099TYR4_9HELI A0A308INC8_9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	180 180 178 177 181 179 175 175	VMS DRG I PKST R HELGFCSHTTSLINAKGER FWVKTHFHTM_GVKHLTNEE AAEVRXYDP VMS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSLINAKGER FWVKTHFTMGOVKHUTNE AAEVRXYDP IS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSLINAKGER FWVKTHFTMGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM IMS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSLINDKNG FWVKTHFTMGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM IMS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSEIN NER FWVKTHFVCGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM IMS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSEIN (N CHWVKTHFTUGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM IMS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSEIN (N CHWVKTHFTUGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM IMS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSEIN (N CHWVKTHFTUGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM IMS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSEIN (N CHWVKTHFTUGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM IMS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSEIN (N CHWVKTHFTUGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM IMS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSEIN (N CHWVKTHFTUGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM IMS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSEIN (N CHWVKTHFTUGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM IMS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSEIN (N CHWVKTHFTUGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM IMS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSEIN (N CHWVKTHFTUGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM IMS DRG I PKSTRHEIGFCSHTSEIN (N CHWVKTHFTUGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM IMS DRG I FKSTRHEIGFCSHTSEIN (N CHWVKTHFTUGOT (N TSEE AAK RMHDM) IMS DRG I FKSTRHEIGFCSHTSEIN (N TSEE AAK RMHDM)	239 239 237 236 236 236 236 234 234 234
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 17H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C5ZW34	CATA_HELPY CATA_HELPJ E7AA¥6 HELFC I7H4C3_9HELI Q7VK49_HELHP E7G3S7_9HELI A0A099TYR4_9HELI A0A3D8INC8_9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	240 240 238 237 241 239 235 235	DSNGRDLENA ARGDEFKNKLSIGVNPEEDAKKYREHPFDVTKINYLQDYPLNEVGIVEL DSNGRDLEDA AGGDEFKNKNSIGVNPEEDAKKYREHPFDVTKINYLQDYPLNEVGIVEL DSHGRDLFEA 2KKOYFKRFGIGVNPESDAKNYKEHPFDVTKINSKDYPLIEVGILE DSHGRDLFES 2KGYFKRRYGIGVNPESDAKNYKEHPFDVTKINSKHOPELIEIGINT DSHGRDLFES 2KGYFKRRYGIGVNSLEAZYYRENPFDVTKINSKHOPELIEIGINT DSHGRDLFES 2KGYFKRRYGIGVNSLEAZYYRENPFDVTKINSKHOPELIEIGINT DSHGRDLFES 2KGYFKRRYGIGVNESDAKTYREPFDVTKINSKHOPELIEIGINT DSHGRDLFES 2KGYFKRRYGIGVNESDAKTYREPFDVTKINSKHOPELIEIGINT DSHGRDLYES 2KGYFKRRYGIGVNESDAKTYREPFDVTKINSKHOPELIEIGINT DSHGRDLYES 2KGPFKRRYGIGVNESDAKTYREPFDVTKINSKHOPELIEIGINT DSHGRDLYES 2KGPFKRRYGIGVNESDAKTYREPFDVTKINSKNELISVESI DSHGRDLYES 2KGPFKRRYGIGVNESDAKTYREPFDVTKINSKNELISVESI DSHGRDLYES 2KGPFKRTYGIGVIGEVGGLGNPFDVTKINSKNELISVESII	299 299 297 296 300 298 294
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C5ZW34	CATA HELPY CATA-HELPJ E7AAY6 HELFC 17H4C3 9HELI Q7VK49-HELH E7G387 9HELI A0A099TYR4_9HELI A0A3D8IMC8_9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	300 300 298 297 301 299 295 295	NKN PENYFAEVEQAAFSEANVVPGIGYSPORMLQCRLFSYGDTHRYRLGVNYPQIFVNKP NKN PENYFAEVEQAAFSEANVVPGIGYSPORMLQCRLFSYGDTHRYRLGUNYPQIFVNKP NKN PENYFAEVEQAAFNEANVVPGIGYSPORMLQCRLFAYGDTHRYRLGINHSOLFVNAP NKN PENYFAEVEQAAFNEANIVPGIGYSPORMLQCRLFAYGDTCRYRLGINHSOLFVAP NKN PENYFAEVEQAAFNEANIVPGIGYSPORMLCCRLFAYGDTCRYRLGINHSOLFVAP NKN PENYFAEVEQAAFNEANIVPGIGYSPORMLCCRLFAYGDTCRYRLGINHSOLFVAP NKN PONYFAEVEQAAFSEANIVPGIGYSPORMLCCRLFAYGDTCRYRLGINHSOLFVAP NKN PONYFAEVEQAAFSEANIVPGIGYSPORMLCCRLFAYGDTCRYRLGINHSOLFVAP NKN PONYFAEVESAFNEANIVPGIGFSPORMLCCRLFAYGDTCRYRLFYNDAF NKN PONYFAEVESAFSEANIVPGIGFSPORMLCCRLFAYGDTCRYRLFYNDAF NKN PONYFAEVESAFSEANIVPGIGFSPORMLCCRLFAYGDTCRYRLFYNDAF NKN PONYFAEVESAFSEANIVPGIGFSPORMLCCRLFAYGDTCRYRLFYNDAFN	359 359 357 356 358 358 354 354
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C5ZW34	CATA HELPY CATA HELPJ E7AAX6 HELFC 17H4C3 PHELI Q7VK49 HELHP E7G3S7 9HELI A0A398IWC8 9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	360 360 357 357 355 355 355 355 355 355	RCPFHSSSRDYRQNGYYGSLQN-TTSSL-PGYKIDKSARDPKINLAHIEKEFEVWNWD RCPFHSSSRDYRQNGYYGSLQN-TTSSL-PGYKIDKSARDPKINLAHIEKEFEVWNWD RCPFATSSRDFNNGHOGANKN-ESSL-PGYKIDKSARDPKIDLGKLEDEMAAXAYN KSALNSYNDFYTNGAYGSINN-ESSL-PGYKINWSLKFTIDPLINEESSKLGGWD IVPVNNTHRDFFAQGQFGDRSN-ESSL-GGYKINWSLKFTIDPLINEESSKLGGWD RCPFATSSKDTDGSCLYAIERA-ESSF-NDYVDKNALSPFIPVQEGDWMYKYD RCPFATSSKDTDGSCLYAIERA-ESSL-GGYKIVSLKFTIDPLINEESSKLGAWD RNEVNTYNDFFTNGSGSNN-NESVL-FGYKISWNLKFTIDPLINEESSKLAGWD RNEVNTYNDFFTNGGCAYENSYLGAWF SYLFARANK RNEVNTYNDFFTNGGCAYENSYLGAWF SNEVDADAFKIKKEYLFDIILEGHAQR RSEVNTYNVA ANFDEYKNKSAYENSYDDSFKIDKNYLFDINEGAAQR	417 417 415 411 418 416 407 407
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C5ZW34	CATA HELPY CATA HELPJ E7AAX6 HELFC 17H4C3 PHELI 07VK49 HELHP E7G3S7 9HELI A0A099TK4 9HELI A0A3D8IMC8 9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	418 418 416 412 419 417 408 408	YRAD S DYYT PGDYYRS PADEKERLHDT GESLAHVTHKE VOKCLEH KKADPK AE YRAE S DYYT PGDYYRS PADEKERLYDT GGSLAHVTHKE VOKCLEH KKADPK AE FRDE TDYYT AGDL RL PKDE GERTCON ADA GGVS-ED IKRCLEH KKADPK AA HREYDDYFT AGDLYRL STOKKELCOT ACTIMCTN-EKI IKLC EH KKADSN AA HREYDDYFT AGDLYRL SKELCOT ACTIMCTN-EKI IKLC EH KKADRA KK FRELKDYTT AGDLYRL SKELCOT VOS GGVP-ECIVKRCLEH KKADRA KK FRELKDYTT AGDLYRL SKELCORTCON VOS GGVP-ECIVKRCLEH KKADRA KK YAPLE DYFS PRALFTL SKELCOT ACTIMCTO-SRIIKIC EH KKADRA KK YAPLE DYFS PRALFTL SKELCOT ACTIMCTO-SRIIKIC EH KKADRA KK YAPLE DYFS PRALFTL SKELCOT ACTIMCTO-SRIIKIC EH KKADPA KK YAPLE DYFS PRALFTL SKELCOT ACTIMCTO-SRIIKIC EH KKADPA KK YAPLE DYFS PRALFTL SKELCOT AS MEGVE-EKIN KAD FRANCK	477 476 476 474 470 477 475 466 466
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C52W34	CATA HELPY CATA HELPJ E7AA76 HELFC 17H4C39HELI Q7VK49 HELHP E7G387 9HELI A0A999TYR4 9HELI A0A3D81WC8 9HELI C5ZW34 9HELI	478 478 477 475 471 478 476 467 467	GUKKALEKHQKMMKDMHGKDMHHTKKKK GVKKALEKHQKMMKDMHAKDMHHMKKKK RIQELLKYY RIAQILK RVAELLGL	505 485 481 478 494 475 474

Figure B

 P77872 Q9ZKX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3081WC8 C5ZW34	CATA HELPY CATA HELPJ E7AA76 HELFC 17H4C3 9HELI Q7VK49 HELHP E7G3S7 9HELI A0A999T7K4 9HELI A0A3D8IWC8 9HELI C5ZW34 9HELI		MVMKDVKQTTAFGAFVWDDNNVITAGPRGPVLLQSTWFLEKLAAFDREH FERVVHAKGS MVMKDVKQTTAFGAFVWDDNNVITAGPRGPVLLQSTWFLEKLAAFDREH FERVVHAKGS -MDKDVVLTNAVGAFIGNNQDNVITAGPRGPVLLQSTWFLEKLAAFDREH FERVVHAKGS -MANFKSLTTTGRQVGDNQNVMSVGPRGPLLQDTWLLKLAAFDREH FERVVHAKGS MLMKDRDLTNAVGAFVGNNQDLLTAGFKGPALLQDTWLLKLAAFDREH FERVVHAKGS MLKDRDLTNAVGAFVGNNQDLLTAGFKGPALLQDTWLLKLAAFDREH FERVVHAKGS MKKLTNDFGNIVADNQNSITAGAKGPLLLQDTVILLKLAAFDREH FERVVHAKGS MKKLTNDFGNIVADNQNSITAGAKGPKDLLQDTVILLKLAMRNREH FERVVHAKGS MKKLTNDFGNIVADNQNSITAGAKGPKDLLQDTVILLKLAMRNREH FERVVHAKGS	6 6 5 5 5 6 5 5 5 6 5 5
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C52W34	CATA_HELPY CATA_HELPJ E7AA76 HELPC 17H4C3_9HELI Q7WK49_HELAP E7G3S7_9HELI A0A099TYR4_9HELI A0A3081WC8_9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	61 60 60 58 61 57 57	GAYGTFTVTK-DITKYTKAKIFSKVGKKTECFRFSTVAGERGSADAVRDPRGFAMKYYT GAYGTFTVTK-DITKYTKAKIFSKVGKKTECFRFSTVAGERGSADAVRDPRGFAMKYYT GAYGTLTITNTITKYSKAKIFNGVGKKTPCFLAFSTVAGERGSADAERDPRGFALKLYT GAHGVFEATA-DISKYSKAAVFKK-GTKTPMFIRFSTVAPELGSADAKDPRGFALKLYT GAYGLITUTSSITKYCKAKIFSEVGKKTPCFLAFSTVAGERGSADAERDPRGFALKLYT GAYGLITTA-DISKYSKAVFVK-GTKTPMFIRFSTVAPERGSADAERDPRGFALKLYT GAYGLEAVTA-DISKYSKAVFUK-GTKTPMFIRFSTVAPERGSADAVRDPRGFALKLYT GAYGLEAVTA-DISGYTKAQULQK-GEVTPLFLRFSTVAGELGADAERDPRGFALKFYT AAYGELIKTA-DISGYTKAQULQK-GEVTPLFLRFSTVAGELGADAERDPRGFAIKFYT AAYGELKTA-DISGYTKAQULQK-GEVTPLFLRFSTVAGELGADAERDPRGFAIKFYT AAYGELKTA-DISGYTKAQULQK-GEVTPLFLRFSTVAGELGADAERDPRGFAIKFYT	111 111 111 111 111 112 111 111
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C5ZW34	CATA HELPY CATA-HELPJ E7AA¥6_HELFC I7H4C3_9HELI Q7VK49_HELHP E7G3S7_9HELI A0A999YR4_9HELI A0A308IWC8_9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	120 120 118 117 121 119 115 115	EEGNMDLVGNNTFVFFIRDÄIKFPDFIHTOKRDPOTNLPNHDMVNDFWSNVFESLVOVTW EEGNMDLVGNNTFVFFIRDÄIKFPDFIHTOKRDPOTNLPNEDMVDFWSNVFESLVOVTM EEGNMDLVGNNTFVFFIRDPLKFDFIHTOKRHFVTNLKDATMVDFWSLVFESLHOVTI TEGNMDLVGNNTFVFFIRDPLKFDFIHTOKRDFVTNLKDATMVDFFSLHFSLHOVTI EEGNMDLVGNNTFVFFIRDPLKFDFIHTOKRDFVTNKSFTAMNDFWSLFSLHOVTI EEGNMDLVGNNTFVFFIRDPLKFDFIHTOKRDFVTNKSFTAMNOFWSLFSLHOVTI EEGNMDLVGNNTFVFFIRDPLKFDFIHTOKRDFVTNKSFTAMNDFWSLFSLHOVTI KEGNMDLVGNNTFVFFIRDPLKFDFIHSOKRDFVRHPOTNLKDATMVNDFFSLHFSLHOVTI KEGNMDLVGNNTFVFFIRDPLKFDFIHSOKRDFRNNLRSNNAANDFWTLSFESLHOVTI KEGNMDLVGNNTFVFFFIRDPLKFPDFIHSOKRDFRNLRSNNAANDFWTLSFESLHOVTI	17: 17: 17: 17: 17: 18: 17: 18: 17: 17:
 P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3081WC8 C52W34	CATA HELPY CATA_HELPJ E7AA76_HELFC I7H4C3_9HELI Q7VK49_HELHP E7G3S7_9HELI A0A099TYR4_9HELI A0A3D81WC8_9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	180 180 178 177 181 179 175 175	VMSDRGIPKSFRHMDGFGSHTFSLINAKGERFWVKFHFHTWQGVKHLTWEEAAEVRKYDP VMSDRGIPKSFRHMDGFGSHTFSLINAKGERFWVKFHFETWQGVKHLTWEEAAEVRKYDP LNSDRGIPKSYRHMDGYGSHTFSLINDKNQFFWVKFHFKTLQGIQNLTSEEAAEIRAVDM LMSDRGIPKSYRHMNGYGSHTFSLINDKNQFFWVKFHFHTTQGIKNLTWEEAAAIRAVDM LMSDRGIPKSYRHMNGYGSHTFSLINDKNQFFWVKFHFHTTQGIKNLTWEEAAAIRAVDM LMSDRGIPKSYRHMNGYGSHTFSLINDKNQFFWVKFHFHTTQGIKNLTWEEAAAIRAVDM LMSDRGIPKSYRHMNGYGSHTFSLINDKNQFFWVKFHFHTQGIKNLTWEEAAAIRAVDM LMSDRGIPKSYRHMNGYGSHTFSLINDKNQFFWVKFHFHTQGIKNLTWEEAAAIRANDM LMSDRGIPKSYRHMNGYGSHTFSLINDKNQFFWVKFHFHTQGIKNLTWEEAAAIRANDM LMSDRGIPKSYRHMNGYGSHTFSLINAKNQFFWVKFHFHTQGIKNLTWEEAAAIRANDM	23 23 23 23 23 23 24 23 23 23
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3081WC8 C5ZW34	CATA_HELPY CATA_HELPJ E7AA76 HELPC 17H4C3_9HELI Q7WK49_HELHP E7G3S7_9HELI A0A099TYR4_9HELI A0A3081WC8_9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	240 240 238 237 241 239 235 235	DENORDLENAIARDFFKNKLSIQVMPEEDAKKYRFHFDUTKINYLQDYPLMEVGIVEL DSNQRDLFDAIAGGFFKNKKSIQVMPEEDAKKYRFHFDUTKINYLQDYPLMEVGIVEL DSNQRDLFEAIEKKDYFKNRFCQUMPESDAKNYKFHFDUTKWSKKDYPLEVGILEL DSNQRDLFESIEKGDYFKNRFCIQVMPESDAKNYKFHFDUTKWSKKDYPLEUGILEL DSNQRDLFRAIEQKDYFKNRFCIQVMPESDAKNYKFHFDUTKWSKKDYPLEVGILEL DSNQRDLFRAIEQKDYFKNRFCIQVMPESDAKNYKFHFDUTKWSKKDYPLEUGILEL DSNQRDLFRAIEQKDYFKNRFCIQVMPESDAKNYKFHFDUTKWSKKDYPLEUGILEL SSNQRDLFRAIEQKDYFKNRFYQULMPESDAKNYKFHFDUTKWSKKDYPLEIGINTL SSNQRDLFRAIEQKDYFKNFYQULGEEVQDLGFNFPDUTKWSKKVAPLIEUGILL SSNQRDLFSIEKRDFFKNFYUQULGEEVQDLGFNFPDUTKWSSKVAPLIEUGILIL SSNQRDLYSIEKRDFFKNFYUQULGEEVQDLGFNFPDUTKWSSKVAPLIEUGILIL SSNQRLYSIEKRDFFKNFYUQULGEEVQDLGFNFPDUTKWSSKVAPLIEUGILIL	29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C52W34	CATA HELPY CATA-HELPJ E7AAY6_HELFC I7H4C3_9HELI Q7VK49_HELHP E7G387_9HELI A0A099TYR4_9HELI A0A3D8IWC8_9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	300 300 298 297 301 299 295 295	NKNPENYFAEVEQAAFSPANVVPGIGYSPDRMLQGRLFSYGDTHRYRLGVNYFQIFVNRP NKNPENYFAEVEQAAFTPANVVPGIGYSPDRMLQGRLFSYGDTHRYRLGVNYFQIFVNRP NKNPENYFAEVEQAAFTPANVVPGIGYSPDRMLQGRLFAYGDTNRYRLGINHGJFFINAP NKNPENYFAEVEQAAFNPASVVPGIGYSPDRLLQGRLFAYGDTDRYRLGINHGJFFINAP NKNPENYFAEVEQAAFNPANIVPGIGYSPDRLLQGRLFSYGDTDRYRLGINHGJFFVNAP NKNPENYFAEVEQAAFNPANIVPGIGSPDRLLQGRLFSYGDTDRYRLGINHGJFFVNAP NKNPENYFAEVEQAAFNPANIVPGIGSPDRLLQGRLFSYGDTDRYRLGINHGJFFVNAP NKNPENYFAEVEQAAFSPANIVPGIGSPDRLQGRLFSYGDTDRYRLGINHGJFFVNAP NKNPENYFAEVEQAAFSPANIVPGIGFSPDRLLQGRLFSYGDTDRYRLGINHGJFFVNAP NKNPENYFAEVEQAAFSPANIVPGIGFSPDRLNGRLFSYGDTDRYRLGINHGJFFVNAP	35: 35: 35: 35: 35: 36: 35: 35:
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C5ZW34	CATA HELPY CATA-HELPJ E7AAY6 HELFC 1744C3-9HELI Q7VK49-HELHP E7G3S7-9HELI A0A398TWC8-9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	360 360 357 357 355 355 355 355 355 355 355 355	RCPFHSSSRDGYMQNGYYGSLQN-YTPSSL-PGYKEDKSARDPKFNLAH IEKEFEVWNWD RCPFHSSSRDGYMQNGYYGSLQN-YTPSSL-PGYKEDKSARDPKFNLAH IEKEFEVWNWD RCPFATSSRDGFMNNGHDGANKN-YEPSSL-PGYKEAPHAREPKLDLGKLEDEMAAYAY KSLLNSSYRDGYMTNGAYGSIRN-YEPSIL-DGYKENWSLKEPILDPLWFESSKLGGWD IVPVNNTHRGFMQGQCFGDRRN-YEPSYL-NDYVEDKNALEPPLFVQEGDVMYKYD RCPFATSSKDGIMQSGLYAIERA-YEPSSL-GGYKEVSHARENKLDLSKLEEFFSAYAYD KVAIINTYRDGFMTNGSYGSMEN-YNPSVL-PGYKDGWNLKEPILDPSTFEKETRLAXWD RNEVNTYNVAGAMNFDTYNNGCAYYEPNSYDAPKEHKEYLEPDLILEGHAQR RSEVNTYNVAGAMNFDEYKNKSAYYEPNSYDSPKEDKWLLEPDLNLEGAAQR	41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 40 40
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G3S7 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C5ZW34	CATA HELPY CATA-HELPJ E7AA76 HELFC 17H4C3 PHELI Q7VK49 HELHP E7G387 9HELI A0A099THELI A0A3D8IMC8 9HELI C5ZW34_9HELI	418 418 416 412 419 417 408 408	YRADDSDYYTOPGDYYRSLPADEKERLHDTIGESLAHVTHKEIVDKQLEHFKKAD FXYAE YRAEDSDYYTOPGDYYRSLPADEKERLYDTIGGSLAHVTHKEIVDKQLEHFKKADFXYAE FRDHDTDYYTOGADLYRLMPKDEGERTCONIADAMGGVS-EDIIKRQLEHFKKADFXYAA YREDDDYYTOGADLYRLMSSDEKERLCOTIATGWKGIN-EKIKLQLEHFKKADFXYAK FRELDKDYYTOGADLYRLMTAEQKERLCONIXESMEGVP-DEIKKRQLEHFKKADFXYGK FRELDKDYYTOGADLYRLMKFEQERTCONIVDSMQGVP-EQIVKRQLEHFKKADFXYGK YREDKDYYTOFGDLYRLMKFEQERTCONIADSLCGVE-ERIIGKALDLFEGISAEYAQ YAPLDRDYFGCFALFTLMSKEQKQULFNNIADSLCGVE-ERIIGKALDLFEGISAEYAQ YAPLDRDYFGCFALFTLMSKEQKGULFNNIADSLCGVE-ERIIGKALDLFEGISAEYAQ YAPLDRDYFGCFALFTLMSKEQKGULFNNIADSLCGVE-ERIIGKALDFFGISAEYAQ	47 47 47 47 47 47 47 47 47 47 46
P77872 Q92KX5 E7AAY6 I7H4C3 Q7VK49 E7G357 A0A099TYR4 A0A3D8IWC8 C52W34	CATA HELPY CATA HELPJ C7AA HELPJ C7AA 6 HELPC 17H4C3 9HELI Q7VK49 HELHP C70537 9HELI A0A099TYR4 9HELI C52W34 9HELI	478 478 477 475 471 478 476 467 467	GVKKALEKHGKMMKDMHGKDMHHTKKKK GVKKALEKHGKMMKDMHAKDMHHMKKKK RIGELLKKY	50: 48: 48: 49: 49: 49: 49: 49: 49: 49: 49: 49: 49

Figure C

CDZW34	C22W34_9HELI	CP1	6VRKAL0Q	010
VOV2DRINCE	MUNADSINCS SHELT	001		101
A0A099TYR4	AUA099TYR4 9HELI	4.10	RVADLLR	483
E7G357	E7G3S7 9HELI	478	RVKELMINACKIGLKDS	494
Q7VK49	Q7VK49_HELHP	471	RVAELLGL	478
I7H4C3	I7H4C3 9HELI	475	RIAQLLK	481
E7AAY6	E7AAY6 HELFC	477	RIQELLKKY	485
09ZKX5	CATA HELPJ	478	CVKKALERHOKMMKDMHAKDMHHMKKKK	505
P77872	CATA HELPY	478	GVERALERHORMWEDMHGEDMHHTEEKE	505
			·	
C5ZW34	C5ZW34_9HELI	408	YAPLDNDFYTQPKALFDIMNASQKEQLFKNIASSMEGVE-QKIINKALMHFEKISKEYAE	466
A0A3D8IWC8	A0A3D8IWC8 9HELI	408	YAPLDEDYFSQPRALFTLMSKEQKQQLFNNIADSLDGVE-ERIIQKALDLFEQISAEYAQ	466
AOA099TYR4	A0A099TYR4 9HELI	417	YREEDNDYYTQPGDLYRLMKPDEKERLCQTIAGTMKGID-SRIIKIQLEHFRKADPAYGK	475
E7G3S7	E7G3S7 9HELI	419	FRELDRDYYTÖAGDLFNLMSKEEGERTCÖNIVDSM0GVP-EQIVKRÖLEHFNKANAYYGA	433
07VK49	O7VK49_HELHP	412	HREYEDDYFVOAGDLYRLMTAEOKEALCONIKESMEGVP-DEIKKROLEHFKKADKAYGK	470
124403	TJUACS GUELT	316	ABEDUDDAABOVCDIABIWCCDEREBICOSIVCLARCIN-ERIIRIOIEDEWAVDONAVV	474
QUZKXS	CATA HELPJ	418	TRAEDSDYYTQPGDYTKSLPADEKERLYDTIGGSLAHVTHKEIVDKQLEHFKKADPKYAE	4.14
P77872	CATA HELPY	418	YRADDSDYYTQPGDYYRSLPADEKERLHDTIGESLAHVTHKEIVDKOLEHFKKADPKYAE	433
052834	C52W34 9HELT	322	REFUNDANT ANALONAL DE LANGONE DE REFUNDATIONE DE DESTRECTIONES	403
A0A0991184	AUAUSSINCE GHELT	323	WATTMLARDONNUOSIOSWEW-INESAT-BOINDSWUTWEETTDESIERVEIKTWWD	402
E76357	E/G3S/ SHELI	361	RCPPATSSKDGLMQSGLYAIERA-TEPSSL-GGYKEVSHAREAKLDLSKLEEEFSAYAYD	dis
Q7VK49	Q7VK49_HELHP	357	IVPVNNTHRDGFMQQQQFGDRRN-YEPSYE-NDYVEDKNALEPPLFVQEGDVNYKYD	411
I7H4C3	I7H4C3_9HELI	358	KSALNSSVRDGYMTNGAYGSIRN-YEPSIL-DGYKDNWSLKEPILDPLMFESESKLGQMD	415
E7AAY6	E7AAY6 HELFC	360	RCPFATSSRDGFMNNGHDGAMRN-YEPSSL-PGYKEAPHAREPKLDLGKLEDEMAAYAYN	417
09ZKX5	CATA HELPJ	360	RCPFH353RDGYMONGYYGSLON-YTP55L-PGYKEDKSARDPKFNLAHIEKEFEVWWWD	417
P77872	CATA HELPY	360	RCPFHSSSRDGYMONGYYGSLON-YTPSSL-PGYKEDKSARDPKFNLAHIEKEFEUWNWD	417
C52W34	C5ZW34_9HELI	295	NEMPONYFNEVEQAAFSPENIVPGIGFSPDEMLQGRIFSYPDAHRYRIGTNYHLLPVNEA	354
A0A3D8IWC8	A0A3D8IWC8 9HELI	295	NONVONYFNEVEOAAFCPANIVPGISFSPDKMLOARIFSYADAORYRVGTNYHLLPVNRA	354
AOA099TYR4	A0A099TYR4 9HELI	299	NRNPENYFAEVEQSALNPANIVPGIGFSPDRLLQGRLFSYGDTQRYRLGVNHHQLPINAS	358
E7G3S7	E7G3S7_9HELI	301	NKNPONYFAEVEOSAFNPAHIVPGIGYSPDRMLOGRLFAYGDTORYRLGINHSOLPVNAP	360
Q7VK49	Q7VK49 ^{HELHP}	297	NEMPENYPAEVEQAAFNPANIVPGVGYSPDEVLQGRLFSYGDTQRYRLGINHTQLPVNAP	356
I7H4C3	I7H4C3_9HELI	298	NEMPENYFAEVEOAAFNPASVVPGIGYSPDRLLOGRLFAYGDTORYRLGINHHOIPINAP	357
E7AAY6	EJAAV6 HELEC	300	NAMERATEAR STANDARD CONTRACTOR DRAW CORLECTOR TAXANG TO TAXANG	360
P77872	CATA HELPY	300	NENPENYFAEVEQAAFSPANVVPGIGYSPDRMLQGRLFSYGDTHRYRLGVNYPQIPVNKP	359
	-		feleleel a fleve fleft will alexales a flevelie fle	
C5ZW34	C5ZW34 9HELI	235	ESHQRDLYNSIEKGDFPKWTFQVQILPENEVDKLGFWPFDLTKVWSHSVVPLMDIGEIIL	294
A0A3D81MC8	AOA3DSIMCS GHELT	235	ESHORDIAESIOKODEKKEESITÄNKEEDENVIIVELEEDETKIKÖKEITTII ESHORDIAESIOKODEKKEESITÄNTENTÖPPONVIIVELEEDETKIKÖKEITTII	294
2020697794	E 0351 SHELI	230	DEROBUTARETERBUARABAGTUARBERDVALABERDEDALKAMERKDADI TETETAT	300
0.17849	Q/VK49 HELHP	237	ESHQKDLFENIEKGNFFKWRFCIQVMSEKEAENYRFWPFDLTKVWSHKDYPLIEVGILEL	296
I 7H4C3	I7H4C3 9HELI	238	DSHQRDLFESIEKGDYPKWRVSIQVMPESEAKTYRFHPFDVTKTWSHKDYPLIEIGIMTL	293
E7AAY6	E7AAY6 HELFC	240	DSHQRDLFEAIEKKDYPKWRFCVQVMPESDAKNYKFHPFDVTKVWSHKDYPLIEVGILEL	299
Q92KX5	CATA HELPJ	240	DSNQRDLFDAIAGGDFPKWKMSIQVMPEEDAKKYRFHPFDVTKIWYLQDYPLMEVGIVEL	299
P77872	CATA HELPY	240	DSNORDLFNAIARGDFPRWKLSIQVMPEEDAKKYRFHPFDVTKIWYLQDYPLMEVGIVEL	295
			1. *	
C52W34	C52W34_9HELI	175	LMSDRGIPASYRHMHGFGSHTYSLLNDKGERFWYKFHFKTQQGIKNLTNKEAEEIIAKDR	234
 A0A3D8IWC8	A0A3D8IWC8_9HELI	175	LMSDRGIPKTYRHMNGYGSHTYSLINKDNQRFWVKFHFKTQQGIQTLSNQEAGELIAKDR	234
AOA099TYR4	A0A099TYR4 9HELI	179	LMGDRGIPATYRHMNGYGSHTFSLINAKNQRFWVKFHFHTLQGIKNLTNEEAAAVRAKDM	238
E7G3S7	E7G3S7 9HELI	181	LMSDRGIPKSYRHMNGYASHTFSLINQKEERFWYKFHFKTLQGIENLSSEEAARIRMHDM	240
071849	O7VK49_HELHP	177	IMSDRGTPRSYRFMEDISHTYSFINDANGER FWYKFHFYCLOGIHNLTWKRSEAUIAED	234
178403	TJHAC3 GHELT	179	I WOUDUIDY CADWANGACCHARGET INDANOUS BARARDARACCERNESS I VER DANAK TUMUNA NACHDUIDY CADWANGACCHARGET INDANOUS BARARDARACCERNESS I VER DANAK TUMUNA	232
GAZKXP	CATA HELPJ	180	VMSDRGIPKSFRHNDGFGSHTFSLINAKGERFWYKFHFFINGGVKHLINEEAAEVRYDP	235
P77872	CATA HELPY	180	VMSDRGIPKSFRHMDGFGSHTFSLINAKGERFWVKFHFHTMQGVKHLTMEEAAEVRKYDP	239
			avaalvaassa aalla voorassiaasisii Lii aasi selalais	
PSZW34	LEAMST CHEFT	115	KEGNEDI WOMADALEAS SAMPHINE EDST HOÖMMDENNERVONDOMDENI FOR BORDALE	174
A0A0991184	AOA09911KG SHELI	112	KECKREMUCHNEENEETEETEEDETHOOKEDEBURTBONDERUNDEMOOTEETEORET ÖRGUNDTAGUNTETEETEETEEDETHOOKEDEBURTBONDERUNDEMOOTEETEORET	172
E76357	EVG3SV SHELI	121	EEGNNDIVGNNTPVFFIRDPLKFPDFIHTQKRHPQINLKDATNVNDFF5LMPE5LHQITI	180
Q7VK49	Q7VK49 HELHP	117	NEGNNDIVGNNTPVFFIKDAIKFPDFIHTQKRDPKTNNKSPTAMNDFWSLHPESLHQVTI	176
I7H4C3	I7H4C3 9HELI	118	TEGNWDLVGNNTPIFFIRDPYKFPDFIHSQKRDPKTHIQNPERWWDFWCQTPEALHQITY	177
E7AAY6	E7AAY6 HELFC	120	EEGNWDIVGNNTPVFFIRDPLKFPDFIHTQKRHPRTNLKDATMVWDFWSLVPESLHQITI	179
092KX5	CATA HELPJ	120	EEGNWDLVGWNTPVFFIRDAIKFPDFIHTQKRDPQINLPNPDWVWDFWSNVFESLYQVIW	175
P77672	CATA HELDY	120	FECHEN VONTOVETIDDATEDDET PROED DOTWI DUDWONDENCHURE CLYOPTH	170
	_		tale i a faill an if i a la aireatan a airea an annais an	
C5ZW34	C5ZW34 9HELI	57	AAYGELKITA-DISQFTKAKVLQK-GEVTPLFLRFSTVAGESGAADAERDVRGFAIKFYT	114
A0A3D8IWC8	A0A3D8IWC8 9HELI	57	GAYGELRVIA-DISOYIKAOVLOK-GEVIPLFLRESIVAGELGAADAERDPRGFAIKFYI	114
A0A099TYR4	AOA099TYR4 9HELI	61	CARLAND A 1992 INTCOMME SEVERAL FOR THE STANDARD AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AN	118
010845 030363	UNK43 HEART	29	WYLGEDLIN DI LÖLLVYEDI MYAGYYLYYEDYS GAAMGEWGMUMENDAWDI MUUDI D	150
I THRUS	CONVAG NELL	60	GARGYFEATA DISKTSKAAVFKK-UTKT2KFIKESTVAPELASALAVKUPROFAVAFT	448
ETAAY6	E7AAY6 HELFC	èŏ	GAYGTLTITNTEITKYSKAKLFNQVGKKTPCFLRFSTVAGEKGSADAERDPRGFALKLYT	112
Q9ZKX5	CATA HELPJ	61	GAYGTFTVTK-DITKYTKAKIFSKVGKKTECFFRFSTVAGEKGSADAVRDPRGFAMKYYT	119
P77872	CATA HELPY	61	GAYGTFIVTK-DITKYTKAKIFSKVGKKTECFFRFSTVAGERGSADAVRDPRGFAMKYYT	119
			at a 1 1111 111 las and annual former to the	
C52W34	C52W34_9HELI	Т	WKKLTNDFCNKVADNQNSLSAGPKGPLLLQDYILLEKLAHQNRERIPENVHAAAS	24
A0A3D8IWC8	A0A3D8IWC8 9HELI	1	MRKLTNDFGNIVADNQNSLTAGAKGPLLLQDYILLEKLAHQNRERIPERTVHAKGS	26
AOA099TYR4	A0A099TYR4 9HELI	1	MAKEFVQMTTTTGRPYYDNQNVMSVGPRGPLLLQDVWYLEKLAAFDRERIPERVVHAHGS	60
E7G3S7	E7G3S7_9HELI	1	MLMKDRDLTNAVGAPYGNNQDLLTAGPKGPALLQNTWFLEKLAHFDRERIPERVYHAKGS	ec
07VK49	07VK49 HELHP	1	MSKKFTTAATGTPLCDNONSITTAGKKGPTLLODTWLLEKLAHFDRERIPERVVHAKGS	57
T7H4C3	TORACS GHELI	1	-WOWDAAD I NWAGNE I GUNGDAD I WOLWOL ADDOD I NE DEVIDUE DVDVI I SVAANDVOO	55
09ZKX5	CATA HELPJ	1	WYNKDYKQTIAFGAPUWDDNNVITAGPRGPULLQSTWFLEKLAAFDRERIPERVVHAKGS	60
 E77872	CATA HELPY	Ĵ	MVNKDVKQTTAFGAPVWDDNNVITAGPRGPVLLQSTWFLEKLAAFDRERIPERVHAKGS	ec

Figure D


Figure E Secondary structure and disorder prediction of Human (Homo

sapian) erothrocyte catalase



Figure F. Secondary structure and disorder prediction of *H. pylori* catalase (KatA)



Figure G Secondary structure and disorder prediction of C. glutamicum



Figure H Secondary structure and disorder prediction of A. niger